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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED
(THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate
small and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment
risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock
Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential
risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision
to invest only after due and careful consideration. The greater risk
profile and other characteristics of GEM mean that it is a market
more suited to professional and other sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of the companies listed on GEM and
the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized
companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be
more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given
that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no responsibility for the
contents of this report, make no representation as to its accuracy
or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for
any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or
any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Shi Shi
Services Limited (the “Company”) collectively and individually
accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance
with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM (the
“GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with
regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable
enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the
information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all
material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are
no other matters the omission of which would make any statement
herein or this report misleading.
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GROUP STRUCTURE
S 2275

As at 31 March 2022: 72202243 A31 H :
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Place of
Name: Incorporations:
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Shi Shi Services Limited Cayman Islands
B R BRA A HEeHS
Kong Shum Property Management Group Limited British Virgin Islands
BRBEMEEREEBR AR EEBELES
Shi Shi Health Limited British Virgin Islands
R @EREBR AR RERELES
Shi Shi Living Limited British Virgin Islands
R EEBR AR RERZES
Shi Shi Wealth Limited British Virgin Islands
R ERR AR RERLES
Kong Shum Union Property Management Company Limited Hong Kong
BRBAMEETIEERAA aBE
Q & V Security Company Limited Hong Kong
SEEHERAF BB
K-King Cleaning Services Limited Hong Kong
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Yorkshire Property Management Company Limited Hong Kong
MR EYHXERRBERDA 6
Fortune Trend Investment Limited Hong Kong
FEREGRRAR aBE

Shi Shi Services Limited
BEREERQT

Investment holding

wEERK

Investment holding
REZR

Investment holding
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Investment holding
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Investment holding

REEK

Provision of property management services
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Provision of security services
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Provision of cleaning services by subcontracting
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Property investment

MERE



GROUP STRUCTURE
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People’s Republic of China
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board”) of Shi Shi
Services Limited (the “Company”), | hereby present the annual
report of the Company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”)
for the year ended 31 March 2022.

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group’s principal
activities were provision of property management services,
properties investment and money lending business.

During the year under review, the Group continued its
development efforts to stay competitive in the property
management market. Under our property management portfolio,
we have been awarded 25 Hong Kong management contracts in
residential and non-residential projects mainly including Block B,
C and D of I-Feng Mansions with 650 units, Harbour View Garden
with 248 units and Technology Plaza with 221 units.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, revenue of the Group
was approximately HK$525.0 million (2021: HK$511.1 million),
representing an increase of 2.7% as compared with last year.
The gross profit of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022
was approximately HK$100.3 million (2021: HK$108.6 million),
representing a decrease of approximately 7.6% as compared with
last year. The gross profit margin decreased by approximately
2.2% from approximately 21.3% for the year ended 31 March
2021 to approximately 19.1% for year ended 31 March 2022.

The earnings (loss) per share for the year ended 31 March 2022
was HK$(0.025) (2021: earnings per share HK$0.015).

The Group would like to share more details of the Group’s
performance, financial position and operation in the year
2021/2022 with shareholders in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis”.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ETRBE

FUTURE PROSPECTS

The number of property in Hong Kong market is expanding.
Public opinion voices concern over housing stock production
and the speeding up of the issue of housing completion in the
near future is expected to solve the issue of heavy demand on
housing. It is envisaged that the property management business
will expand simultaneously. Meanwhile, we will continue to
expand our management portfolio by capturing the continuing
outsourcing activities implemented by private residential owners,
corporations and government institutions. Since we started
property management business in 1984, giving our customers the
best service has always been our goal. Over the years, we have
grown into one of the largest property management companies in
Hong Kong. Leveraging on our experience and scale of business,
we will continue to seek for opportunities to expand the current
property management business through self-development
and/or investment(s) in suitable targets/assets, and/or through
co-operation by way of joint venture(s) with other parties. In order
to increase the profitability of this segment, we consider the cost
control is as important as expanding the management portfolio.
We are reviewing the operating performance of the property
management business and appropriate cost controls will be
implemented in the forthcoming financial year, if necessary.

The Group has recorded growth in its revenue since its listing on
the GEM of the Stock Exchange which mainly attributable to its
property management services in Hong Kong and the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”) markets during the year under
review and recorded revenue of approximately HK$519.8 million
(2021: HK$509.0 million) from this segment.
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Looking into the future, Shi Shi Group is committed to the
development of big consumption and general healthcare sector.
The business lines of the Group will be divided into five segments,
namely Shi Shi Life, Shi Shi Doctor, Shi Shi Property, Shi Shi
Finance and Shi Shi Network. Among which, Shi Shi Life provides
clothing, food, housing, transportation, entertainment, education
and health services through its online platform and localization
service for 7X24 hours; Shi Shi Doctor provides home care, home
rehabilitation, home treatment, outpatient (clinic) treatment and
rehabilitation, local hospital-based two-way referral (green pass),
domestic and international two-way referral and other five-level
treatment system through its online platform and specialised
outpatient clinic. We are pleased to tell you that both brands of
Shi Shi Life and Shi Shi Doctor have been approved by the State
Intellectual Property Office as registered trademarks. What makes
us more excited is that Shi Shi Life, Shi Shi Doctor, life services
and health management have commenced operation on a trial
basis with good results so far. Shi Shi Property continues to tap into
household consumption and expand the GFA under management
with its digital platform. Shi Shi Finance has been launched to
consumer finance, service insurance and asset insurance market
with its online platform. The technology team of Shi Shi network
provides platform and intelligent scenario development, which
empowers the business of the Group and provides development
services to more peers in the life, health, property, consumer
finance and service insurance, property insurance industry at the
same time.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my warmest
gratitude to the management and our staff for their significant
contributions. | would like to extend my sincere gratitude to all our
shareholders and investors for their endless support. With the solid
business base and the effort of all our staff, the Group will endeavor
to open a new chapter in the future.

Huang Liming
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 June 2022
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFNWR DM

OVERVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of property
management services primarily targeting residential properties,
properties investment and money lending business. The Group
operates under the brand name of “Kong Shum” in Hong Kong
and provides a range of management services in Hong Kong and
the PRC including security, repair and maintenance, cleaning,
financial management, administrative and legal support. Under
an established functional structure with various departments,
the Group has dedicated teams to carry out the aforementioned
management services. The Group also employs a team of security
staff to provide security services as part of the services provided
under property management contracts or under stand-alone
security services contracts. For the year ended 31 March 2022,
the Group provided property security services for 14 properties
under stand-alone security services contracts in Hong Kong.
The operating arm of the Group’s security services is mainly Q &
V Security Company Limited (“Q&V”). The Group hires its own
security staff to provide property security services. The Group
also employs registered technicians to provide basic repair and
maintenance services to its customers if required. In relation to the
cleaning services, the Group subcontracts substantially all of its
cleaning services to third-party contractors.

In relation to the provision of money lending business, the Group
recorded loan interest income of approximately HK$3.8 million
for the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: HK$0.9 million). As at
31 March 2022, the Company has loan receivable with a carrying
amount of approximately HK$24 million (31 March 2021: HK$18
million).

The maturity date of the loan receivable of approximately
HK$24,000,000 was 20 April 2022, and was subsequently
renewed to approximately HK$21,000,000 on 3 May 2022 at an
interest rate of 10% per annum. The renewed loan will be matured
on 20 April 2023.

G
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Principal
Borrowers Drawdown date amount Interest rate Terms Notes
BERA R BEH KEEE = HABR B &£
A 21 April 2021 HK$24 million 10% per annum 1 year (i)
A 20214 A 21 H 240088 7T FF10% 14 (i
Note: Fiat -

(i) Details of the above are set out in the Company’s announcements dated
25 February 2021, 12 March 2021, 26 March 2021, 16 April 2021,3
May 2022, 23 May 2022 and 9 June 2022. The borrower has settled the
principal and accrued interest of approximately HK$21 million on 13 June
2022.

For the properties investment business, the Group recorded rental
income from an investment property of approximately HK$1.4
million for the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: HK$1.2 million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWE D
FINANCIAL REVIEW B 7% [B]
Summary Financial Performance MBRRBE
2022 2021
2022 2021 F
HK$’000 HK$'000 Change
FET FAT HEH)
Revenue Uy &= 524,951 511,116 2.7%
Cost of services PR 75 A A< (424,665) (402,478) 5.5%
Gross Profit FEH 100,286 108,638 -7.7%
Gross profit margin ERZE 19.10% 213% nla TEMA
Interest revenue A B U = 458 1,006 -57.1%
Other income and expenses, net  EfbUg A K 52 H %8 3,280 20,519 -83.9%
Share of loss of an associate FE1E—MEEE A REE (8,133) (5,130) 58.5%
Administrative expenses TR (70,377) (62,287) 13%
Other operating expenses HMgEmz (32,437) (22,377) 45%
Impairment of Investment in R—HEEERRZ
an associate "ERE (4,428) (16,500) n/a TiEH
Impairment of property, plantand #1% - W= & & ERE
equipment (7,049) -  nlat@EA
Impairment of goodwill EESNERED (2,132) - nlaT@EM
Impairment of trade receivables & 5 & W F B R E (2,197) - nlaTEA
Listing expenses EFHRAX (941) (2,893) n/a TEMH
Finance costs B & K AN (664) (581) 14.2%
(Loss)/profit before tax BREAT (B18) m (24,334) 20,395 -219.3%
Income tax expense Frigfif X (1,615) (4,541) -64.4%
(Loss)/profit attributable to owners 2~ X T B A EL (FE)
of the Company & Al (25,949) 15,854 -263.7%
Net (loss)/profit margin T (BB BRRIE -4.9% 31% nlaTEA
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFNWR DM

REVENUE

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group’s revenue was
derived from its operations in Hong Kong and the PRC of
approximately HK$487.6 million (2021: HK$471.6 million) and
HK$37.4 million (2021: HK$39.5 million), respectively.

The Group derived revenue of approximately HK$32.6 million
and HK$31.0 million respectively from stand-alone security
services contracts for the year ended 31 March 2021 and 2022
respectively, representing approximately 6.4% and 5.9%% of its
total revenue.

The following table sets out the Group’s revenue by contract type
for the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021 respectively:

W =

HZE202243A31BILFE  AEEKA
HEBBRFPBENEKSREDFINE
4876187 L (20214 : 47161878 T) &
3,740 & %8 7T (2021 4F : 3,950 & & 7T) °

HZE2021 FK2022F3 A31 HIFFE » &
EEREBIREZREE LD BILY
A32608 8T N3,1008E T HRlEE
U EEH)6.4% 2 5.9% ©

TREGHEBEREIAEESHINBE
2022 % 2021 F3 A 31 B I F & 2 H5 -

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 F
HK$ million  Percentage HK$ million  Percentage

BEBT FEESH

BEBT FMIGEDL

Property management services MEEBRBEE L
contracts 488.8 93.1% 471.4 92.2%
Stand-alone security services BIRZREEH
contracts 31.0 5.9% 32.6 6.4%
Property management consultancy ¥ ¥EEER RIS S 4
services contract 5.0 1.0%
Rental services contracts HERBE L 14 0.3% 1.2 0.2%
Money lending services RUE R 3.8 0.7% 0.9 0.2%
525.0 100.0% 511.1 100.0%

The Group’s revenue improved by approximately 2.7% from
approximately HK$511.1 million for the year ended 31 March
2021 to approximately HK$525.0 million for the year ended
31 March 2022. The increase was primarily attributable to the
growth of its property management service in Hong Kong for
the year ended 31 March 2022. During the year, the number of
management service contracts obtained by Hong Kong increased
by 6 from 442 during the year ended 31 March 2021 to 448
for the year ended 31 March 2022. Revenue generated from
property management services contracts recorded an increase of
approximately 3.7% to approximately HK$488.8 million for the
year ended 31 March 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVENUE (continued)

The following graph sets out the revenue for the years ended 31
March 2020, 2021, 2022.
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The total cost of services amounted to approximately HK$402.5
million and HK$424.7 million for the years ended 31 March 2021
and 2022 respectively, representing approximately 78.7% and
80.9% respectively of the Group’s revenue. Increase in the cost of
services during the year of approximately 5.5% was mainly due to
the increase in the wages of the front line staff of the Group.

GROSS PROFIT

The gross profit of the Group decreased by approximately 7.6%
from approximately HK$108.6 million for the year ended 31
March 2021 to approximately HK$100.3 million for the year
ended 31 March 2022. The gross profit margin was approximately
21.3% and 19.1% for the year ended 31 March 2021 and 2022
respectively.

The following graph sets out the gross profit for the years ended 31
March 2020, 2021 and 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFNWR DM

PROFIT/(LOSS) ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF
THE COMPANY

The profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the Company was
significant decreased by approximately 263.7% from profit of
approximately HK$15.9 million for the year ended 31 March 2021
to loss of approximately HK$25.9 million for the year ended 31
March 2022. The net profit margin decreased by approximately
8% from approximately 3.1% to -4.9% for the years ended 31
March 2021 and 2022 respectively.

The Group recorded net loss during the year ended 31 March
2022 mainly due to:

(i)  No other income arising from government subsidies for
the year ended 31 march 2022 regarding the Employment
Support Scheme under the Government’s Anti-epidemic
Fund (2021: HK$19.9 million);

(i) Increase in the share of loss of an associate, namely
Dakin Holdings Inc. from approximately HK$5.1 million to
approximately HK$8.1 million for the year ended 31 March
2022;

(iii) Increase in administrative expenses of approximately HK$8
million as a result of increase in staff cost; and

(iv) Increase in other operating expenses of approximately
HK$10 million due to increase in (a) depreciation and
amortization; and (b) share-based payment expenses.

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

The Group’s administrative expenses for the year ended 31 March
2022 were approximately HK$70.4 million (2021: HK$62.3
million), representing an increase of approximately 13% as
compared to the corresponding year in 2021 as a result of increase
in staff salaries and bonus incurred for the year ended 31 March
2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

The Group’s other operating expenses for the year ended 31
March 2022 were approximately HK$32.4 million (2021: HK$22.4
million), representing an increase of approximately 44.6% as
compared to the corresponding year in 2021 as a result of increase
in depreciation of property, plant and equipment and share-based
payment expenses during the year.

The following table sets out other operating expenses by nature for
the years indicated.
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Hi &R

HZE2022F3A31BILFE  AEEHH
fth 48 & B S 49 /53,240 8 7 7T (2021 4F -
2,240 8 B T) - 82021 F [ HY 15 Hn 49
44.6% TR FAYE - BERZETE
KA B ERE 2 MR T INFTER -

TRZUEEHII N AR FENE L ER
i o

For the years ended 31 March
BEZ3A31HLEE

2022 2021

2022 F 2021 4F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHETT

Auditors’ remuneration 2% A BN & 750 750
Consultancy fee BB 886 994
Depreciation and amortisation & N 5 10,675 6,324
Exchange difference ME N ZE%R (89) 139
Insurance fee Rz & 4,994 4,763
Legal and professional fee FREREEE 2,945 2,973
Office expenses NN 3,642 2,221
Others H 2,519 600
Registration, licence and subscription fee i BRBLAREE 170 153
Travelling and entertainment expenses EZiREBEFERAX 5,945 3,460
32,437 22377
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFNWR DM

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

MBERREREE

For the year ended/
as at 31 March
BE3ANALEE S

M3A31H
2022 2021
2022 & 2021 ¢
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
Financial position B AR R
Current assets MENEE 236,109 257,578
Current liabilities mEaE 91,808 94,495
Net current assets MEEEFE 144,301 163,083
Total assets BERE 397,785 422,644
Bank borrowings and lease liabilities RITEEMEERE 19,111 18,676
Bank balances and cash RITEHEBREIRE 67,697 105,328
Total equity 4B 298,389 318,971
Key ratios FERER
Return on equity (1) REAS B3R & (1) -8.4% 5.1%
Return on assets (2) BERFRE(2) -6.3% 3.9%
Current ratio (3) MENEL 2 (3) 2.57 timesf&  2.73 times &
Gearing ratio (4) BEEAGBELREAG) 6.4% 5.9%
Net Debt to equity ratio (5) BEFEYEREEOB) 0% 0%
Debtors turnover day (6) JE YRR SR E 82 H 2(6) 65.5daysH  61.8days A
Creditors turnover day (7) FERTER A= HE(7) 34.8daysH  40.2 days H
Notes: B &
1. Return on equity is calculated as the profit for the year divided by average 1.

total equity.

2. Return on assets is calculated as the profit for the year divided by average
total assets.

3. Current ratio is calculated as the current assets divided by current liabilities.

4. Gearing ratio is calculated as the total debt divided by total equity. For
the avoidance of doubt, total debt represents bank borrowings, and lease
liabilities.

b. Net debt to equity ratio is calculated as the total debt net of cash and bank
balances and divided by total equity. For the avoidance of doubt, total debt
represents bank borrowings, and lease liabilities.

6. Debtors’ turnover day is calculated as average trade receivables divided by
revenue times number of days in the period.

7.

Creditors’ turnover day is calculated as average trade payables divided by
cost of services times number of days in the period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE (continued)

The Group maintained sufficient working capital as at 31 March
2022 with bank balances and cash of approximately HK$67.7
million (2021: HK$105.3 million).

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had bank borrowings, obligations
under finance lease and lease liabilities of approximately HK$19.1
million (2021: HK$18.7 million).

As at 31 March 2022, the Group’s net current assets amounted to
approximately HK$144.3 million (2021: HK$163.1 million). The
Group’s operations are financed principally by revenue generated
from its business operations, available cash and bank balances.

RETURN ON EQUITY

The return on equity decreased from approximately 5.1% for the
year ended 31 March 2021 to approximately -8.4% for the year
ended 31 March 2022, mainly due to the increase in expenses for
the year.

RETURN ON ASSETS

The return on assets decreased from approximately 3.9% for the
year ended 31 March 2021 to approximately -6.3% for the year
ended 31 March 2022, mainly due to the increase in expenses for
the year.

CURRENT RATIO

The Group’s current ratio slightly decrease from approximately
2.73 times as at 31 March 2021 to approximately 2.57 times as at
31 March 2022.

GEARING RATIO

The Group’s gearing ratio, defined as the total debt (i.e. bank
borrowings and lease liabilities) divided by total equity, as at 31
March 2022 is approximately 6.4% (2021: 5.9%).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFNWR DM

DEBTORS’ TURNOVER DAY

The debtors’ turnover day increased from approximately 61.8 days
for the year ended 31 March 2021 to approximately 65.5 days for
the year ended 31 March 2022 due to increased collecting time on
trade debtors.

CREDITORS’ TURNOVER DAY

The creditors’ turnover day decreased by 5.4 days from
approximately 40.2 days for the year ended 31 March 2021 to
approximately 34.8 days for the year ended 31 March 2022. The
decrease was due to the early settlement of some creditors.

DIVIDEND

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: Nil).

DIVIDEND POLICY

Under the Dividend Policy, the declaration and payment of
dividends shall be determined by the Board and subject to all
the applicable requirements under, including but not limited to,
the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and the articles of
association of the Company.

The Company do not have any pre-determined dividend
payout ratio. In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in
determining an appropriate basis for dividend distribution, the
Board will take into account, inter alia, results of operations,
financial condition, the payment by the Group’s subsidiaries of
cash dividends to the Company, future prospects, legal and tax
considerations and other factors the Board deems appropriate.
Our Directors will consider that if there is material adverse impact
on our Group’s financial and liquidity position arising out of the
dividend payments. Dividends may be paid out by way of cash or
by other means that our Group considers appropriate.

The Company will continually review the Dividend Policy from
time to time. There is no guarantee that any particular amount of
dividends will be distributed for any specific periods.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OPERATION REVIEW
Outlook

The property market in Hong Kong is expanding. Public opinion
voices concern over the housing stock production and the
speeding up of the completion of construction of properties in the
near future is expected to solve the heavy demand on housing.
It is envisaged that the property management business will
expand simultaneously. On the other hand, even though strong
competition and soaring cost resulting from statutory minimum
wage revision and inflation are unavoidable, the Directors are
confident that the Group is now on an appropriate stage to increase
its market share.

During the year, the Group has recorded revenue of approximately
HK$525.0 million (2021: HK$511.1 million) from its property
management services in Hong Kong and the PRC. Looking
forward, the provision of property management services in Hong
Kong and the PRC will continue to be the core business of the
Group while the management will continue to explore other
investment opportunities in order to increase the Group’s income
source and will therefore be in the interest of the Company and the
shareholders of the Company as a whole.

Human Resources

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had a total of 1,801 employees
(2021: 1,857 employees). The Group’s staff costs for year ended
31 March 2022 amounted to approximately HK$432.4 million
(2021: HK$409.6 million). To ensure that the Group is able to
attract and retain staff capable of attaining the best performance
levels, remuneration packages are reviewed on a regular basis. In
addition, discretionary bonus is offered to eligible employees by
reference to the Group’s results and individual performance.

Services Contracts

Due to well-established team and project planning, 25 property
management contracts were awarded to the Group in Hong Kong
during the year ended 31 March 2022.

For the year ended 31 March 2022, there were in total 448 service
contracts (covering around 67,984 households) comprising 423
property management service contracts, 11 stand-alone security
service contracts and 14 facility management service contracts in
Hong Kong.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFNWR DM

OPERATION REVIEW (continued)

Contract Renewal Complying with Procedural Requirements

A service contract which does not comply with the procedural
requirements for contract renewal as stipulated in section 20A of
the Building Management Ordinance (Chapter 344 of the Laws
of Hong Kong) may be cancelled by the owners’ corporation.
Included in 448 contracts in force as at 31 March 2022, 236
service contracts are not in strict compliance with the said contract
renewal requirements, hence, termination notices were served
on clients involving in these contracts. All of the remaining 228
valid contracts as at 31 March 2022 are in compliance with the
said procedural requirements or not applicable under the Building
Management Ordinance. Senior management adopts a tight
control system to monitor the full compliance of the procedural
requirements. All newly signed contracts during the year ended 31
March 2022 included the mandatory term requiring the client to
follow the said procedural requirements, if applicable.

Client Accounts

As at 31 March 2022, the Group held 63 (31 March 2021: 68)
client accounts amounting to approximately HK$50.8 million
(31 March 2021: HK$46.8 million) on trust for and on behalf of
customers. These client accounts are opened in the names of the
Group and the relevant properties. The management fees received
from the tenants or owners of the properties were deposited into
these client accounts and the expenditure of these customers was
paid from these client accounts.

Performance Bond

As at 31 March 2022, a bank and an insurance company
issued 11 (31 March 2021: 10) bond certificates amounting to
approximately HK$16.4 million (31 March 2021: HK$15.7 million)
on behalf of the Group to the clients as required in the service
contracts.

Capital Expenditure

The Group purchased property, plant and equipment amounting
to approximately HK$65.5 million (approximately HK$57.2
million for direct additions and approximately HK$8.2 million
for construction in progress) for the year ended 31 March 2022
(2021: HK$29.5 million).

Capital Commitments
Details of capital commitments of the Group are set out in note 39

to the consolidated financial statements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OPERATION REVIEW (continued)
Contingent Liabilities

Details of contingent liabilities of the Group are set out in note 38
to the consolidated financial statements.

Foreign Currency Risk

The Group has certain exposure to foreign currency risk as
the Group’s deposits placed for life insurance policies are
denominated in United States dollar (“US$”).

The Group considers the risk exposure to foreign currency
fluctuation is limited as long as the HK$ remains pegged to the
USS$.

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency risk as most
of its business transactions, assets and liabilities are principally
denominated in the functional currencies of the group entities. The
Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy
in respect of foreign currency assets and liabilities. The Group will
monitor its foreign currency exposure closely and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need
arise.

Significant Investments Held, Material Acquisitions and
Disposals of Subsidiaries, Associates, Joint Ventures and
Future Plans for Material Investments or Capital Asset

Disclosable and Connected Transaction in relation to an
Acaquisition of Property

On 28 December 2020, Shishi Network Technology Co., Ltd
(“Shishi Network”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
(the “Purchaser”), entered into the Property Sale Agreement with
Mr. Huang Liming (“Mr. Huang”), the chairman of the Board
and an executive director of the Company pursuant to which
Mr. Huang has conditionally agreed to sell and Shishi Network
has conditionally agreed to acquire five office units 222105 to
222109 on level 18 in Block 6 (Unit 2) on No.1 Futong East
Street, Chaoyang District, Beijing, the PRC (the “Property”) at the
consideration of RMB42 million which will be settled by cash (the
“Acquisition”).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFNWR DM

OPERATION REVIEW (continued)

Significant Investments Held, Material Acquisitions and
Disposals of Subsidiaries, Associates, Joint Ventures and
Future Plans for Material Investments or Capital Asset
(continued)

Disclosable and Connected Transaction in relation to an
Acaquisition of Property (continued)

The Property will serve the purposes of the Company as a
headquarter office in the PRC and the Shi Shi Living Service Centre
for conference with potential clients and demonstration of its
concept on property management in the PRC aided by information
and technology with a view to reduce labour costs and optimize
efficiency.

As at 28 December 2020, Mr. Huang indirectly holds
approximately 61.00% equity interest in the Company through
Heng Sheng Capital Limited. Thus, Mr. Huang is a connected
person of the Company as defined under the Chapter 20 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock
Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”). As such, the entering into of
the Property Sale Agreement constitute connected transaction of
the Company.

As the consideration is more than HK$10.00 million, according
to GEM Listing Rules, the Property Sale Agreement and the
transactions contemplated thereunder are subject to reporting,
announcement, circular (including independent financial advice)
and independent shareholders’ approval requirements under
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

As all the applicable ratios under Rule 19.07 of the GEM Listing
Rules are more than 5% but less than 25%, the Property Sale
Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereunder also
constitute disclosable transaction for the Company under Chapter
19 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Completion of the Acquisition is subject to the fulfilment of various
conditions precedent and therefore the Acquisition together
with the transactions contemplated thereunder may or may not
proceed. Shareholders and potential investors are advised to
exercise caution when dealing in the securities of the Company.

The Acquisition was approved at the extraordinary general meeting
of the Company held on 29 January 2021 and completed on 4
June 2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OPERATION REVIEW (continued)

Significant Investments Held, Material Acquisitions and
Disposals of Subsidiaries, Associates, Joint Ventures and
Future Plans for Material Investments or Capital Asset
(continued)

Disclosable and Connected Transaction in relation to an
Acaquisition of Property (continued)

Details of this transaction are disclosed in the Company’s
announcements dated 28 December 2020, 14 January 2021, 29
January 2021 and 4 June 2021.

Major Shareholders

Heng Sheng Capital Limited is an investment holding company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands on 4 August 2011 with
limited liability and is beneficially and wholly owned by Mr. Huang
Liming. Mr. Huang Liming is the sole director of Heng Sheng
Capital Limited.

As at 31 March 2022, Heng Sheng Capital Limited owns an
aggregate of 626,071,950 shares of the Company, representing
55.45% of the issued share capital of the Company.

Charges over Assets of the Group

As at 31 March 2022, certain bank deposits of approximately
HK$0.6 million (2021: HK$0.6 million) and the deposits placed
for life insurance policies of approximately HK$9.2 million (2021:
HK$9.0 million) were pledged to a bank to secure banking
facilities granted to the Group. In addition, the Group’s leasehold
land building and investment property with carrying value of
approximately HK$7,978,000 and HK$30,300,000 respectively
were pledged to secured bank facilities granted to the Group.
Besides, the Group had certain motor vehicles acquired under
lease. Carrying values of the right-of-use assets (motor vehicles)
amounted to approximately HK$1.0 million and HK$1.0 million
were under lease liabilities as at 31 March 2022 and 31 March
2021 respectively.

The deposits placed for life insurance policies are denominated
in United States dollars, a currency other than the functional
currency of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFNWR DM

OPERATION REVIEW (continued)
Use of Proceeds from the Listing

The actual net proceeds from the issue of new shares of the
Company under the Placing as set out in the Prospectus were
approximately HK$17.5 million, which was different from the
estimated net proceeds of approximately HK$24.4 million
(estimated on the assumption that the placing price would be the
mid-point of the stated range as stated in the Prospectus). For the
period from 20 September 2013 until 31 March 2022, the Group
has applied the net proceeds as follows:

RE o ()
EHZAERARR

BEBREEZMASBLEERNRRZFITHRSD
MBS FELNALTO0EET A
RIPAEET TS FIRF R4 2,440 8 8 T (1%
BREMEEBABREREMIEZEZHEN
A8 hEr) c M2013FE9 20 EER
20223 A31 HILEAE  AEBEZEOT
FAERATS AT

Net proceeds (HK$ million)
FEREFRHE(BEET)

Available Utilised Unutilised

Al A e2E8A e R B B

Repayment of bank loans EERITENR 7.5 7.5 -
Implementation of old district ERERYEEETE

property management scheme 43 - 4.3

Expansion of the property MEMEEEES
management portfolio 5.7 5.7 -
17.5 13.2 4.3

The unutilised balance of the net proceeds will be applied in the
manner consistent with that mentioned in the Prospectus.

The Group expect the remaining proceed of HK$4.3 million will be
fully utilised by the year ending 31 March 2026.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OPERATION REVIEW (continued)
Fund raising activity

The company has no fund raising activities during the year ended
31 March 2022 and fund raising activities in the prior years were
fully utilised of intended during the year ended 31 March 2021, as
detailed below:

BEEENWRTN
KemeE(FE)
EEEH

HE2022F3 A31BILFE » AR A&
HETEMNEEETHENBEFE2EEE
FESECE® EA@izozlissHleut
FERBRTHRREGE  FloT

Date of initial Actual use of proceeds as
announcement Fund raising activities Net proceeds Intended use of proceeds at the date of this report
BN LN L3901 )] FrieERE frEnERTERR REARERBREREERAR
31 October 2018 Placing of 171,000,000 new  Approximately HK$40.4 Intended to be used (i) Approximately HK$40.4 million has
(completed on 20 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 ~ million (net proceeds raised ~ approximately HK$32.3 been utilised as intended of which
November 2018) gach under general per Share was approximately — million for expansion approximately HK$32.3 million
2018%10A31H mandate at the placing price~ HK$0.236 per Share) of the Group's property was utilised for expansion of the
(BER2018%11 of HK$0.24 per Share tonot - £74,0408 8 7L (BEM S management business in Group's property management
A20B%H) less than six places whoare  IRIAFTEHIEFELAE  the PRC and provision of business in the PRC and provision
independent professional, Bfif70.2367% ) living value-added services  of living value-added services in
institutional or other in community; and (ii) community; and approximately
investors (closing price of approximately HK$8.1 HK$8.1 million was utilised for

the Share as quoted on the
Stock Exchange on the date
of the placing agreement is
HK$0.28)
BE-REERIIRA
ZEBUEE HEAH
ik EE AEARE
171,000,000/ &R E1E
0OLETHFLER BE
ERERRMH024ET (Hx
NI ERE B RERR
FrETmimER0.28%TT)

RISKS RELATING TO THE GROUP AND ITS
BUSINESS

#

The Group faces intense competition which may adversely affect
its market share and profitability. The property management
industry in Hong Kong is competitive and the competition may
exert some pressure on the service fees of property management
companies. The Group may therefore be required to reduce its
fees or maintain low service fees in view of the market pressure so
as to retain customers or pursue new business opportunities. The
Group’s revenue stream and profitability may also be adversely
affected if the customers terminate the service contracts with
the Group, whether by serving written notice or for the reason of
breach or material breach of the terms or conditions thereunder,
prior to the expiry date.

million for the general working capital of the Group.
working capital of the Group ~ #14,040 B8 T E iRkt AR ER -
REEREFRNL3230  ERA330EETRIERERS

Fk
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFNWR DM

RISKS RELATING TO THE GROUP AND ITS
BUSINESS (continued)

Events after the Reporting Period

Disclosable and Connected Transaction in relation to an
Provision of the loan

On 25 February 2021 and 12 March 2021, Lucky Stone Finance
Limited (“Lucky Stone”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into the Loan Agreement and the Supplemental
Agreement, respectively with Mr. Ho Ying Choi (“Mr. Ho"),
pursuant to which Lucky Stone has conditionally agreed to provide
the Loan in the principal amount of not more than HK$24 million
to Mr. Ho, as borrower, for a period of one year commencing from
the date of drawdown of the Loan at an interest rate of 10% per
annum.

Lucky Stone is principally engaged in money lending business as
licensed under the MLO. Therefore, the Provision of the Loan is
part of the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group.

As at 12 March 2021, Mr. Ho is an executive Director and
therefore is a connected person of the Company as defined under
the Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. As such, the entering into
of the Loan Agreement constitutes a connected transaction of the
Company.

The Loan was approved at the extraordinary general meeting (the
“EGM”) of the Company held on 16 April 2021 and the HK$24
million loan has been drawn by Mr. Ho Ying Choi on 21 April 2021.

Details of this transaction are disclosed in the Company’s
announcements dated 25 February 2021, 12 March 2021, 26
March 2021 and 16 April 2021.

As the principal amount of the Loan is more than HK$10 million,
according to the GEM Listing Rules, the Loan Agreement and the
transactions contemplated thereunder are subject to reporting,
announcement, circular (including independent financial advice)
and independent shareholders’ approval requirements under
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

As all the applicable ratios under Rule 19.07 of the GEM Listing
Rules are more than 5% but less than 25%, the Loan Agreement
and the transactions contemplated thereunder also constitute a
disclosable transaction of the Company under Chapter 19 of the
GEM Listing Rules.

As the principal amount of the Loan exceeds 8% under the assets
ratio of the Group defined under Rule 19.07(1) of the GEM Listing
Rules and therefore the Loan may also constitute advance to an
entity under Rule 17.15 of the GEM Listing Rules and subject to
the general disclosure obligations under Rules 17.15 and 17.17 of
the GEM Listing Rules.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

RISKS RELATING TO THE GROUP AND ITS
BUSINESS (continued)

Events after the Reporting Period (continued)

Disclosable and Connected Transaction Provision of the loan
(Continued)

Completion of the Provision of the Loan is subject to the fulfilment
of various conditions precedent and therefore the Provision of
the Loan may or may not proceed. Shareholders and potential
investors are advised to exercise caution when dealing in the
securities of the Company.

On 3 May 2022, Lucky Stone has conditionally agreed to provide
the Loan in the principal amount of not more than HK$21 million
to Mr. Ho for a period of one year commencing from the drawdown
date of the Loan at the interest rate of 10% per annum.

The Loan was approved at the extraordinary general meeting (the
“EGM”) of the Company held on 9 June 2022 and the HK$21
million loan has been drawn by Mr. Ho Ying Choi.

Mr. Ho Ying Choi has settled the principal and accrued interest of
approximately HK$21 million on 13 June 2022.

Details of this transaction are disclosed in the Company’s
announcements dated 3 May 2022, 23 May 2022 and 9 June
2022.

Impact of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19)

After the outbreak of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (“COVID-19
outbreak”) in early 2020, a series of precautionary and control
measures have been and continued to be implemented across the
world. It has brought about additional uncertainties in the Group’s
operating environment and may impact the Group’s operations
and financial position. The Group has been closely monitoring
the impact from COVID-19 on the Group’s businesses and has
commenced to put in place various measures. Based on the
information currently available, the directors confirm that there has
been no material adverse change in the financial and operating
position of the Group up to the date of this report.

The Group will pay close attention to the development of the
COVID-19 outbreak and perform further assessment of its impact
and take relevant measures.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEAREEERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Huang Liming (“Mr. Huang”) is an executive Director and the
chairman of the Board.

Mr. Huang, aged 46, is an entrepreneur with 20 years of
experience in property development and property management
business in the PRC. He is currently the chairman of Heng Sheng
Real Estate Co., Ltd, a company that is principally engaged in
property development and residential property management
business in the PRC.

Mr. Huang, the ultimate beneficial owner of Heng Sheng Capital
Limited (“Heng Sheng”), which is the controlling shareholder of
the Company. Mr. Huang, through Heng Sheng, is interested in
626,071,950 share of the Company (the “Shares”) (representing
approximately 55.45% of the total number of Shares in issue as at
the date of this report).

Mr. Ho Ying Choi (“Mr. Ho"), aged 62, is an executive Director. He
is responsible for business operation, finance management and
sales and marketing. He is also a member of the remuneration
committee and the nomination committee of the Company.

Mr. Ho holds a Bachelor’'s degree of science from the Memorial
University of Newfoundland, Canada.

Mr. Ho is the brother of Mr. Ho Ying Cheung, member of the
Group’s senior management. Mr. Lau Ping Kwai, a member
of the Group’s senior management, is the spouse of Mr. Ho's
cousin. Save as disclosed, Mr. Ho is not connected with any
other Directors, member of the senior management, Substantial
Shareholders or controlling shareholders of the Company.

Mr. Lee Chin Ching, Cyrix (“Mr. Lee”) has been appointed as an
executive Director with effect from 20 December 2016.

Mr. Lee, aged 37, holds a Bachelor’s degree in business
administration from Washington State University in the United
States of America. Mr. Lee has extensive experience in the real
estate investments, acquisition, valuation and assets management.
Prior to his appointment as an executive Director, Mr. Lee had
been a business consultant of the Company since 1 May 2016.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lin Dongming (“Mr. Lin”) has been appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director, a member of each of the
audit committee and the remuneration committee of the Company
and the chairman of the nomination committee of the Company
with effect from 1 June 2021.

Mr. Lin, aged 50, has extensive experience in corporate
management and has been working in the PRC government
departments and sizable state-owned enterprise for 20 years
before joining us as an Independent Non-executive director. From
2004 to 2018, Mr. Lin served as the managing director of Sinotruk
(Hong Kong) International Investment Limited, responsible for
its international business and investment and corporate finance
activities. Mr. Lin obtained an executive master degree in business
administration from Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business.

Mr. Lin currently also serves as the chairman of the Jinan
Association of Hong Kong; the vice chairman of the supervisory
board of the Shandong CPPCC Members Association in Hong
Kong; the honorary chairman of the Hong Kong Shandong
Chamber of Commerce and the natives general associations of
Qingdao, Weihai, Yantai and Linyi; the vice president of overseas
friendship associations of Jinan and Yantai; and the honorary
president of Jinan Chamber of Commerce in Guangdong Province
etc. Mr. Lin is currently an non-executive director of Finet Group
Limited (“Finet”) (stock code: 8317) since October 2021.

He was an executive director of Finet from August 2020 to October
2021, the securities of this company are listed on the GEM of the
Stock Exchange.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEAREEERE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(continued)

Mr. Lam Kai Yeung (“Mr. Lam”) has been appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director, chairman of the audit
committee and the remuneration committee of the Company, and
a member of the nomination committee of the Company.

Mr. Lam, aged 52, is a fellow of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Lam obtained a bachelor
degree in accounting from the Xiamen University in July 1990
and a master degree in business administration from the Oxford
Brookes University in the United Kingdom in July 2010. Mr. Lam
is a licensed person for type 4 (advising on securities) and type 9
(asset management) regulated activities under the SFO.

Mr. Lam is currently an executive director and chief executive
officer of Hang Pin Living Technology Company Limited (“Hang
Pin”) (stock code: 1682), an independent non-executive director
of A Metaverse Company (formerly known as Starrise Media
Holdings Limited) (stock code: 1616) and Kin Shing Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1630). The securities of these companies are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Lam was an independent non-executive director of Hang Pin
from August 2014 to May 2017. Mr. Lam was an independent
non-executive director of Holly Futures Co., Ltd (stock code: 3678)
from June 2015 to December 2021. Mr. Lam was a director of
Sunway International Holdings Limited (“Sunway”) (stock code:
58) from May 2015 to June 2019 and an executive director
of Sunway from August 2021 to January 2022. The securities
of these companies are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. Mr. Lam was also an independent non-executive
director of Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited (stock
code: 8018) from June 2015 to June 2020 whose securities are
listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(continued)

Mr. Lo Chi Ho, Richard (“Mr. Lo”) has been appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director, a member of each of
the audit committee, remuneration committee and nomination
committee of the Company.

Mr. Lo, aged 54, has over 30 years of experience in the investment
and real estate industry. He is currently the chief executive
officer of Fulldiamond Limited, an investment and consulting
company specializing in real estate, finance, securities, project and
fundraising.

Mr. Lo is the vice president and chairman of commercial liaison of
The Hong Kong Real Property Federation. He is also a committee
member of Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference —
Jiangxi.

Mr. Lo obtained his Bachelor of Arts degree in Economics from the
University of California, Los Angeles in the United States, Master
of Business Administration (Investment and Finance) degree from
Hull University in the United Kingdom and an executive program
certificate from Stanford University in the United States.

Mr. Lo is currently an independent non-executive director of
Chinney Investments, Limited (stock code: 216) whose securities
are listed on Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Ho Ying Cheung, aged 69, one of the founders of the Group.
He was appointed as a director of Kong Shum Union Property
Management Company Limited (The “KSU”) since August 1984.
He had been appointed as an Executive Director from 15 August
2012 to February 2015 and was responsible for the Group’s overall
business development.

Mr. Ho Ying Cheung is the brother of Mr. Ho Ying Choi, an
Executive Director. Mr. Lau Ping Kwai, a member of the Group’s
senior management, is the spouse of Mr. Ho Ying Cheung’s
cousin. Save as disclosed, Mr. Ho Ying Cheung is not connected
with any other Directors or member of senior management,
Substantial Shareholders or Controlling Shareholders of the
Company.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEAREEERE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Mr. Lau Ping Kwai (“Mr. Lau”), aged 71, is an associate director of
KSU (note). He has been working in KSU for more than 25 years.
He joined KSU as a property management officer in September
1996 and was promoted to this position in April 2008. He is
responsible for supervising property managers and advising
on the improvement of the Group’s overall standard. He is also
responsible for marketing in the private sector.

Mr. Lau obtained a Certificate in Housing Practice at the School of
Professional and Continuing Education of The University of Hong
Kong (“HKUSPACE”) in August 2000 and was awarded a Diploma
in Housing Management by the same institute in September 2002.
He was elected a corporate member of the Chartered Institute
of Housing (“CIH") in October 2002 and a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Housing in November 2002. In April 2003, he
registered as a Professional Housing Manager at the Housing
Managers Registration Board.

Note: The position “associate director” is a corporate title only and not a “director”
within the meaning of the Companies Ordinance and the GEM Listing Rules.
An associate director named herein is principally responsible for (i) the
supervision of property management of the Group or its staff; (i) supervision
of the Group’s administration or overall standard; and (iii) the Group’s
customer relations.

Mr. Lau is the spouse of the cousin of Mr. Ho Ying Cheung,
a director of KSU, and Mr. Ho, an executive Director. Save as
disclosed, Mr. Lau is not connected with any other Directors,
member of the senior management, Substantial Shareholders or
controlling shareholders of the Company.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Mr. Fong Shek Hung (“Mr. Fong”), aged 63, is an associate director
of KSU (note). He is mainly responsible for supervision of property
management, customer relations and administration.

Mr. Fong worked for the Hong Kong Government from 1978 to
2001. He joined the Housing Department in October 1987 and
was promoted to the position of housing officer in October 1989.
He resigned in August 2001 and subsequently served as property
manager in Synergis Management Services Limited. He was the
district general manager before he left the company in February
2011 and joined KSU in May 2011 as senior property manager. He
was promoted to the position of associate director of KSU (note) in
February 2012.

Mr. Fong has awarded a Diploma in Housing Management by
HKUSPACE in September 1997. He was elected as a corporate
member of the CIH in June 1999 and a member of The Hong Kong
Institute of Housing in June 2001. In May 2001, he registered
as a Professional Housing Manager at the Housing Managers
Registration Board.

Note: The position “associate director” is a corporate title only and not a “director”
within the meaning of the Companies Ordinance and the GEM Listing Rules.
An associate director named herein is principally responsible for (i) the
supervision of property management of the Group or its staff; (i) supervision
of the Group’s administration or overall standard; and (iii) the Group’s
customer relations.

Mr. Lai Chun Ho (“Mr. Lai”), aged 50, is senior property manager
of KSU. He has already worked in KSU more than 15 years. He is
mainly assigned to supervise the general operation of the buildings
in New Territories.

From December 1990 to February 1995, Mr. Lai worked in JLW
Management Limited. For the period from June 1997 to May
2006, he worked in Urban Property Management Limited. He
joined KSU as assistant property manager in August 2006.

He was awarded a Certification in Estate Management of Hong
Kong Management Association in 1992, and was awarded a
Diploma in Property Management of City University of Hong Kong
in 2002.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Mr. Chan Ka Kit Kanly (“Mr. Chan”), aged 44, is a senior accounting
manager of KSU. He has been working in KSU for about 16
years and was promoted to the current position in April 2018. He
is responsible for management of accounting department and
financial management of the clients.

Mr. Chan was appointed as the head of accounting department
of the New Impact Printing Company Limited in 2002. He was
responsible for financial management of mainland and Hong
Kong. Since August 2004, he joined KSU and was responsibilities
for financial management of comparative estates. He hereafter
promoted to the position of senior accounting manager.

Mr. Fu Wai Yick (“Mr. Fu”), aged 65, is senior property manager
of KSU. He has already worked in KSU more than 8 years. He is
mainly assigned to supervise the site in charge of Public Housing
and private sector such as Healthy Garden, Yue Tin Court and Tak
Bo Garden for daily property management and assist the business
development for Government projects.

Mr. Fu worked for the Hong Kong Government from 1980-2001
and he was assistant housing manager before he left the Housing
Department in Feb 2001. For the period from March 2001 to
March 2003, he worked in Eastpoint Property Management
Company as property manager and subsequently served as
property manager in Synergis Management Services Limited from
April 2003 to September 2010.

Mr. Fu joined KSU as area property manager in May 2013 and
further promoted to senior property manager in March 2018.

Mr. Fu obtained a bachelor of science degree in statistics from
the University of Calgary in September 1978 and he has awarded
a Certificate in Housing Management by University of Hong Kong
in August 1987. He was elected as a member of the Institute of
Housing in April 1989.

Ms. So Ka Man (“Ms. So”), aged 38, joined the Group as the
finance manager in 2021 and is responsible for accounting and
financial management. She holds a bachelor degree of accounting
from Curtin University, Australia. She has more than 10 years’
experience in finance and accounting.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Pursuant to Rule 18.44 of the GEM Listing Rules, the Board is
pleased to present this corporate governance report for the year
ended 31 March 2022.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board and the management of the Group are committed to
upholding high standards of corporate governance. The Board
considers that enhanced public accountability and corporate
governance are beneficial for the healthy growth of the Group,
improving customer and supplier confidence and safeguarding the
interests of shareholders of the Company.

The Company has adopted the Corporate Governance Code (the
“CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules.
The principles adopted by the Company emphasise a quality
Board, sound internal controls, transparency and accountability to
all shareholders of the Company. The Company engaged a third-
party professional firm to conduct an internal control review for the
year ended 31 March 2022.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Company has
complied with all CG Code except for the following deviation:

CG Code provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and
chief executive should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. The division of responsibilities between the
chairman and chief executive should be clearly established and set
out in writing.

The Company did not officially have a chief executive officer
since 8 September 2015. Daily operation and management of the
Company is monitored by the executive Directors as well as the
senior management. The Board is of the view that although there
is no chief executive officer of the Company, the balance of power
and authority is ensured by the operation of the Board, which
comprises experienced individuals who meet from time to time
to discuss issues affecting the operations of the Company. The
Board believes that the present arrangement is adequate to ensure
an effective management and control of the Company’s business
operations. The Board will continue to review the effectiveness
of the Company’s structure as business continues to grow and
develop in order to assess whether any changes, including the
appointment of a chief executive officer, is necessary.

Code provision A.2.7 of the CG Code requires that the chairman of
the Board shall at least annually hold meetings with non-executive
Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) without
the executive Directors present.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERHRE

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE (continued)

As Mr. Huang Liming serves as the Chairman and executive
Director concurrently, the code provision does not apply and the
Company deviates from such code provision. In addition, the
Chairman of the Board is of the view that, the independent non-
executive Directors can express their opinions to all executive
Directors more directly and effectively at the Board meetings,
hence the Board is of the view that the deviation from the code
provision does not have material impact on the operation of the
Board.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Group adopted the required standard of dealings set out
in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules as the code of
conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions in securities of
the Company. The Company also had made specific enquiry of all
Directors and the Company was not aware of any non-compliance
with the required standard of dealings and its code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by Directors during the year
ended 31 March 2022.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD COMPOSITION AND DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted the board diversity policy since 11
October 2013. The policy sets out the approach to achieve
diversity in the Board that should have a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
requirements of the Group’s business and compliance with
policies. The composition and diversity policies of the Board are
reviewed annually and regularly. The Board should ensure that its
changes in composition will not result in any undue interference.
The Board members should possess appropriate professionalism,
experience and trustworthiness in performing duties and
functions. The Board would diversify its members according
to the Company’s situations and needs. While participating in
nomination and recommendation of director candidates during the
year, each member of the Board may consider a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, or professional experience in achieving
diversity for the benefit of the Company’s various business
development and management. The Board is to review the policy
concerning diversity of Board members, and to disclose the policy
or a summary of the policy in the corporate governance report,
including any quantitative targets and standards and its progress
with policy implementation.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Board had reviewed
the diversity of the Board and considered the Board composition
and diversity policy appropriate.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Responsibilities

The Board delegates the day-to-day management, administration
and operation of the Group to the management. The delegated
functions are reviewed by the Board periodically to ensure they
remain appropriate to the needs of the Group. The Board gives
clear directions to the management as to the matters that must
be approved by the Board before discussions are made on behalf
of the Group by the management. All the Directors carry out their
duties in good faith and in compliance with applicable laws and
regulations, taking decisions objectively and acting in the interests
of the Company and its shareholders at all times.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERHRE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Composition

The Board currently comprises 6 Directors, including 3 executive
Directors and 3 independent non-executive Directors.

Executive Directors

Mr. Huang Liming (Chairman)
Mr. Ho Ying Choi
Mr. Lee Chin Ching, Cyrix

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lin Dongming

(appointed with effect from 1 June 2021)
Mr. Lam Kai Yeung
Mr. Lo Chi Ho, Richard

Details of the backgrounds and qualifications of all Directors
are set out in the section headed “Biographies of Directors and
Senior Management” in this annual report. All Directors have
given sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Group.
Each executive Director has sufficient experience, knowledge and
execution ability to hold the position so as to carry out his duties
effectively and efficiently.

Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors

The Board has assumed the responsibility to consider the
appointment, re-election and removal of the directors of the
Company. The Board has set up a Nomination Committee to
recommend the appointment, re-election and removal of the
Directors.

All executive Directors, namely, Mr. Huang Liming, Mr. Ho Ying
Choi and Mr. Lee Chin Ching, Cyrix, have respectively entered
into a service contract with the Company for a term of 1 to 3 years
unless terminated by not less than 1 to 3 months’ notice in writing
served by either party on the other. Executive Directors are subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general
meeting (“AGM”) in accordance with articles of association of the
Company (the “Articles”).
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors
(continued)

All the independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Lam
Kai Yeung, Mr. Lo Chi Ho, Richard and Mr. Lin Dongming, have
respectively entered into a letter of appointment with the Company
for a term of 1 to 3 years unless terminated by not less than 1 to 2
months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other. The
independent non-executive Directors are subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election at the AGM in accordance with the
Articles.

At each following AGM, one-third of the Directors are required to
retire from office. Each Director shall retire from office once every 3
years. The Directors to retire in every year shall be those appointed
by the Board during the year and those who have been longest
in office since their last election or re-election. New Directors
appointed by the Board during the year shall retire and may submit
themselves for re-election at the AGM immediately following their
appointments.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has made an
annual confirmation in writing of his independence pursuant to
Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and the Company considers
that all the independent non-executive Directors were independent
during the year ended 31 March 2022.

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Biographies of Directors
and Senior Management” in this annual report, there is no
financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationship
among the members of the Board.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERHRE

MANAGEMENT

The daily management, administration and operation of the
Company are delegated to the Chairman, the executive Directors
and senior management (the “Management”). The delegated
functions and assignments are periodically reviewed. Approval has
to be obtained from the Board prior to any significant transactions
entered into by the above mentioned officers.

The overall responsibilities of the Management include considering
and making decisions on implementing the Group’s policy and
strategies as set by the Board; strategic planning of different
business and functions; closely monitoring operational and
financial results in accordance with plans and budgets; putting
adequate operational, planning and financial control systems in
place; and managing the Group’s day-to-day business.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Board fulfilled the requirement of appointing at least three
independent non-executive Directors and they represented at least
one-third of the Board as stipulated by the GEM Listing Rules. It
met requirement of having at least one of the independent non-
executive Directors with appropriate professional qualifications
or accounting or related financial management expertise. The
independent non-executive Directors have appropriate and
sufficient experience and qualification to carry out their duties
so as to fully represent the interests of the shareholders of the
Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD MEETING, GENERAL MEETING AND
PROCEDURES

Directors’ attendance record of the Board, Committee and General
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Meetings during the year ended 31 March 2022 are as follows: 2 LZEGRRERGZEHOT
Meetings attended/eligible to attend
HE/AERERESE
Annual  Extraordinary
Audit ~ Remuneration Nomination General General
Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting Meeting
Directors: Ex:. EZEe ENZEE §MZEE REZEE RREFAE RRHBAHAS
Executive Directors: BTESE:
Huang Liming BHH 8/8 n/a nla n/a 1 171
TER TEm TER
Ho Ying Choi Bl 8/8 n/a 212 212 1/1 11
TER
Lee Chin Ching, Cyrix ZER 8/8 nla nla nla 11 11
TER Tam TER
Independent Non-executive ~ BUFHTEES
Directors:
Lin Dongming (appointed with 7R BA (2021 & 8/8 4/4 212 11 1 111
effect from 1 June 2021) 6A1HEZM)
Lam Kai Yeung &R 8/8 414 212 212 1 171
Lo Chi Ho, Richard EEx 8/8 444 212 212 111 !
Tso Siu Lun, Alan (resigned ~ E%is (R 2021 F n/a n/a nia o1 nla nla
with effect from 1 June 6A1BE) TER TER TER TER TER

2021)

Board members were provided with complete, adequate and
timely information to allow them to fulfill their duties properly.

Draft agenda of each Board meeting is sent to all Directors in
advance. Notice of at least fourteen days is given for a regular
Board meeting. For other Board and committees meetings,
reasonable notice is generally given. Board papers together with all
appropriate, complete and reliable information are dispatched to
all Directors at least three days before each regular Board meeting
to ensure that the Directors have sufficient time to review the
related documents and be adequately prepared for the meeting.

The company secretary of the Company is responsible to keep
minutes of all Board meetings and committees meetings. Draft
minutes are normally circulated to all Directors for comments
within a reasonable time after each meeting and the final versions
are opened for Director’s inspection.

%%@WEZET%L\ﬁ%E& * 3
B UEREREEBITAERE -

FEFEERNERTREELER R
EX-EFRMAGRINKLTIAER
wrBEM- -pEMEFTENZESSEM
B oRETAERBAN - EFEXTER
FIBEE TERASNEHNRINEE

EERRGIN-_RFETERES U
HMREZATHARHEEHEREXY  "BE
aETE 2 -

ARBZARAWERERFMAEES S
ENZEEEENTHLL - R CERY)
RBEFREERR - BRAERFRARZE
E=EMUHREER  MEKERAA
FHEEER -

Annual Report 2021/22
2021/22F &



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERHRE

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME

All Directors, including non-executive Director and independent
non-executive Directors, should keep abreast of their collective
responsibilities as Directors and of the business and activities of
the Group.

All Directors confirmed that they had complied with code provision
A.6.5 of the Code during the year ended 31 March 2022, that all
Directors had participated in continuous professional development
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.

A summary of training received by the Directors for the year ended
31 March 2022 according to the records provided by the Directors
as follows:

EERAEXRBRETE

2REF (BREFMTESZ B IFNTE
F)HEBEREFER/ESNRARARBE - A
RAEBH RS MR

PREFERMENEE2022F3A31H
I E B &S ST R ST RMESCE AB5 15
RECSEFBEFXEERR  UFRHMILE
1505 B RN 58 B X BE ©

RESEFRM 2 LE EFNEE2022
FIA3 ALFEMEZ ZEIGEAT

Reading newspapers,

to obtain update Reading materials

Attending seminars, relating to economy, relevant to

conferences or accounting, rules, directors’ duties

forums  law or regulation, etc. and responsibilities

BEEE DEEE- REEESH

SMAHE - et Rl EE BEREEER

Directors: Ex: BRIUWE DEREEFNER w8
Executive Directors: TES:

Huang Liming g v v/ v

Ho Ying Choi fa € &1 v/ v/ 4

Lee Chin Ching, Cyrix FRE v/ v/ v/

Independent Non-executive Directors: BYFHTEE
Lin Dongming (appointed with effect  #RE AR (72021 F

from 1 June 2021) 6 1BEZT)
Lam Kai Yeung %A
Lo Chi Ho, Richard BEXR
Tso Siu Lun, Alan (resigned with EEim(R2021F
effect from 1 June 2021) 6 A 1BET)

v/ v/ v/

v v/ v/

v v/ v/

n/a n/a n/a
NER TER TER
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”) with written terms of reference, available on the
Company’s website, in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules.
The Audit Committee is currently composed of all the independent
non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Lam Kai Yeung (chairman),
Mr. Lin Dongming and Mr. Lo Chi Ho, Richard.

The Audit Committee held four meetings during the year ended 31
March 2022 and reviewed the Company’s audited annual results
for the year ended 31 March 2022 and the unaudited quarterly
and interim results during the year ended 31 March 2022.

The function of the Audit Committee includes the following:
(i)  Relationship with the Company’s auditors:

(@) to be primarily responsible for make recommendation
to the Board on the appointment, reappointment and
removal of the external auditor and to approve the
remuneration and terms of engagement of the external
auditor, and any questions of resignation or dismissal;

(b) to review and monitor the external auditor’s
independence and objectively and the effectiveness
of the audit process in accordance with applicable
standards. The Audit Committee should discuss with
the auditors the nature and scope of the audit and
reporting obligations before the audit commences; and

(c) to develop and implement policy on engaging and
external auditor to supply non-audit services. For this
purpose, “external auditor” includes any entity that is
under common control, ownership or management
with the audit firm or any entity that a reasonable and
informed third party knowing all relevant information
would reasonably conclude to be part of the audit
firm nationally or internationally. The Audit Committee
should report to the Board, identifying and making
recommendations on any matters where action or
improvement is needed.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)
(i) Review of the Company'’s financial information:

(a) to monitor the integrity of the Company’s financial
statements and annual report and accounts, half-year
report and/or quarterly reports, and to review significant
financial reporting judgments contained in them before
submission to the Board, focusing particularly on:

- any changes in accounting policies and practices;

—  major judgmental areas;
— significant adjustments resulting from the audit;

— the going concern assumptions and any
qualifications;

—  compliance with accounting standards; and

- compliance with the GEM Listing Rules and legal
requirements in relation to financial reporting.

(iii) Oversight of the Company’s financial reporting system, risk
management and internal control procedures:

(a) to review the Company’s financial controls, internal
control and risk management systems.

There was no disagreement between the Board and the Audit
Committee on the selection and appointment of the external
auditors for the year ended 31 March 2022. The Audit Committee
has reviewed the audited financial statements of the Group for the
year and recommended approval to the Board.

Shi Shi Services Limited
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) with written terms of reference,
available on the Company’s website, in compliance with GEM
Listing Rules. The Remuneration Committee is currently
composed of 1 executive Directors, namely, Mr. Ho Ying Choi
and 3 independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Lam Kai
Yeung (chairman), Mr. Lin Dongming and Mr. Lo Chi Ho, Richard.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, two Remuneration
Committee meetings were held to review the remuneration
package of the Directors and senior management of the Group.

The Remuneration Committee’s principal duties are the
determination of specific remuneration packages of all
executive Directors, including benefits in kind, pension rights
and compensation payments, any compensation payable for
loss or termination of their office or appointment, and making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-
executive Directors. The Remuneration Committee should
consider factors such as salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment and responsibilities.

The Remuneration Committee meets regularly to determine
the policy for the remuneration of Directors and assess
the performance of Executive Directors and certain senior
management of the Group.

Remuneration of Directors

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up
by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit,
qualification and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors of the Company are decided by
the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company’s
operating results, individual performance and comparable market
statistics.

The Directors’ fees and all other emoluments paid or payable to the
Directors during the year are set out on an individual and named
basis in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (continued)

Remuneration of Senior Management

Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, the remuneration
of the senior management by band for the year ended 31 March
2022 is set out below:

FHEEE ()

= A ST B 1Y 5
RECZEEATRSFANEXEB.1.51E &
ZE2022F3A31HILFE o EEBEY
HNEEE Y T

Number of individual

In the band of EiE A
Nil - HK$1,000,000 Z % 1,000,000 7% 7T 4
Over HK$1,000,000 1,000,0007% 7T £ 2

Further details of the remuneration of the Directors and the 5
highest paid employees are set out in note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company set up a nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) with written terms of reference, available on the
Company’s website, in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules. At
the date of this annual report, the Nomination Committee consists
of 4 members, of which the majority are Independent Non-
executive Directors, namely, Mr. Lin Dongming (chairman), Mr.
Lam Kai Yeung, Mr. Lo Chi Ho, Richard and an Executive Director,
namely, Mr. Ho Ying Choi.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, two meetings of the
Nomination Committee was held.

The duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the
structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge,
experience and diversity of perspectives) of the Board at least
annually; making recommendations on any proposed changes
to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;
identifying individuals suitably qualified to become the Board
members and select or make recommendations to the Board
on selection of individuals nominated for directorships of
the Company; assessing the independence of independent
non-executive Directors; reviewing and recommending the
appointment of new Directors; identifying the competences
required to enable the Board to fulfill its responsibilities; and
reviewing the Board Diversity Policy established for implementing
diversity on the Board periodically.
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COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE

The Company set up a compliance committee (the “Compliance
Committee”) which is a committee under the Company’s Audit
Committee and is chaired by Mr. Ho Ying Choi, an executive
Director, and comprises Mr. Lau Ping Kwai, the associate director
(note) of the Company, Mr. Fong Shek Hung, the associate director
(note) of the Company. The Group’s legal adviser, Y.C. Lee, Pang,
Kwok & Ip Solicitors, is procured to provide legal advices and to
attend the committee meeting on a needed basis. For the year
ended 31 March 2022, 12 meetings were held and the Group’s
legal adviser had participated in 1 meeting. The minutes of the
meetings were distributed to the Group’s legal adviser, Y.C. Lee,
Pang, Kwok & Ip Solicitors, and the Audit Committee members
for scrutiny and comment. The Compliance Committee addresses
the matters concerning the compliance of law and regulations,
contract terms and litigation cases of the Group.

Note: The position “associate director” is a corporate title only and not a “director”
within the meaning of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) and the GEM Listing Rules. An associate director named herein
is principally responsible for (i) the supervision of property management of
the Group or its staff; (i) supervision of the Group’s administration or overall
standard; and (iii) the Group’s customer relations.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the remuneration for audit
and non-audit services are summarised below:
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HK$000

FHET

Audit services EIZIRTE 750

Non-audit services IEE RS

Fee for performing review on the interim and REFAARFPHLRETETKER

quarter financial information of the Company ZEBH 200

Fee for filing on (RIA(N)) R RIAN)FHEZ B 3

953
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation
of the financial statements of the Group and ensure that the
financial statements are prepared in accordance with statutory
requirements and applicable accounting standards. The Directors
also ensure the timely publication of the financial statements of the
Group.

The Directors confirm that, to the best of their knowledge,
information and belief, having made all reasonable enquiries,
they are not aware of any matters uncertainly relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibilities for the Group’s
internal control system and its effectiveness to ensure that the
internal control measures are in place to safeguard the Group’s
assets and to comply with relevant regulations and best practices.

RISK MANAGEMENT

The Company improves its business and operational activities
by identifying the areas of significant business risks via a
regular review and taking appropriate measures to control and
mitigate these risks. The management of the Company reviews
all significant control policies and procedures and highlights all
significant matters to the Board and Audit Committee.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company engages Mr. Sheung Kwong Cho (“Mr. Sheung”),
representative of JPG Secretarial Services Limited, as its company
secretary. His primary corporate contact person at the Company is
Mr. Lee Chin Ching, Cyrix, an executive Director.

In compliance with Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules, Mr.
Sheung has undertaken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training during the year ended 31 March 2022.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT TO CONVENE
EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles, the Board may, whenever
it thinks fit, convene an extraordinary general meeting (“EGM").
EGM shall also be convened on the requisition of one or more
Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not
less than one tenth of the paid up capital of the Company having
the right of voting at general meetings. Such requisition shall be
made in writing to the Board or the secretary for the purpose of
requiring an EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction of
any business specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall be
held within 2 months after the deposit of such requisition. If within
21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene
such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do
so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

PROCEDURES FOR DIRECTING
SHAREHOLDERS’ ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

Shareholders and other stakeholders can make any enquiry in
respect of the Company in writing to our head office at Unit 903,
9th Floor, Haleson Building, 1 Jubilee Street, Central, Hong Kong.

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO PUT
FORWARD PROPOSALS AT SHAREHOLDERS’
MEETINGS

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to move new
resolutions at the general meetings under the Companies Law
(Revised) of Cayman Islands. However, pursuant to the Articles,
Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may by means of
requisition convene an EGM following the procedures set out
above.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2022, there is no significant change
in its constitutional documents.

CONTINUOUS CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
ENHANCEMENT

The Board is committed to continuous corporate governance
enhancement including giving closer attention to any regulatory
changes with a view to maintaining a corporate culture built on
ethics and integrity and increasing the Shareholders value as a
whole.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESEHRS

The Directors present their annual report and the audited financial
statements of Shi Shi Services Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31
March 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND ANALYSIS OF
OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details
of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in
note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance and its financial position
are provided in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” in this annual report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year end 31 March 2022 and the
state of affairs of the Group as at 31 March 2022 are set out on
pages 93 to 190.

The state of affairs of the Company is set out in note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2022.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Charitable donations made by the Group during the year amounted
to approximately HK$1,000 (2021: HK$3,000).

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

The summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the past five financial years, as extracted from the
audited financial statements, is set out on pages 191 and 192 of
this annual report. This summary does not form part of the audited
financial statements.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2022 and a review of its future development is set out in the
section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” in this
annual report.

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group have been
addressed in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” of this annual report.

In addition, various financial risks have been disclosed in the notes
to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

AN ANALYSIS USING FINANCIAL KEY
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

The relevant financial key performance indicators relating to
the business of the Group are set out under the paragraphs
headed “Financial Review” in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” and the consolidated financial
statements in this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group recognises its responsibility to protect the environment
from its business activities. The Group continually seeks to identify
and manage environmental impacts attributable to its operational
activities in order to minimise these impacts if possible. The Group
aims to maximise energy conservation in its offices by promoting
efficient use of resources and adopting green technologies. For
instance, the Group seeks to upgrade equipment such as lighting
and air-conditioning systems in order to increase overall operating
efficiency. To identify energy efficiency opportunities, the Group
measures and records the energy consumption intensity from
time to time. Information on the environmental policies and
performance of the Company is set out in the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Report” on pages 65 to 86 of this Annual
Report.
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS,
SUPPLIERS AND OTHER STAKEHOLDERS

The Group ensures all staff is reasonably remunerated and
regularly reviews the employment policies on remuneration and
other benefits.

The Group maintains a good relationship with its customers and
suppliers. The Group maintains close contacts with the customers
and has regular review of requirements of customers and
complaints. The Group will conduct appraisal of the performance
of suppliers on regular basis.

The Board believes effective communication and accurate
and timely information disclosure builds the Shareholders’ and
investors’ confidence, and also facilities the flow of constructive
feedback and ideas that are beneficial for investor relations and
future corporate development. For details, please refer to the
Corporate Governance Report on page 51.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with
regulatory requirements and risks of non-compliance with such
requirements. The Group has on-going review the newly enacted
laws and regulations affecting the operations of the Group. The
Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with the laws
and regulations that have significant impact on the business of the
Group.

SHARES ISSUED FOR THE YEAR

Details of the shares issued for the year ended 31 March 2022 are
set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

FUND RAISING ACTIVITY

The Company has no fund raising activity during the year ended
31 March 2022. Details of the fund raising activity of the Group
during the prior years are set out in the paragraphs under “Fund
raising activity” in the section headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis” of this annual report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Articles or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to
existing shareholders.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the
year ended 31 March 2022.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year ended 31 March 2022 are set out on
page 184 and in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 March 2022,
calculated under the Cayman Islands Companies Law,
amounted to HK$143,459,284 (2021: HK$151,261,537)
including share premium of HK$179,975,057, accumulated
losses of HK$40,239,530, other reserve of HK$ 1,026,352, and
contributed surplus of HK$4,750,108.

EQUITY LINKED AGREEMENTS
Share options
No share options were granted, exercised, expired or lapsed and

there is no outstanding share option under Share Option Scheme
during the year ended 31 March 2022.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31 March
2022 and up to date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Huang Liming (Chairman)
Mr. Ho Ying Choi
Mr. Lee Chin Ching Cyrix

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lin Dongming (appointed with effect from 1 June 2021)
Mr. Lam Kai Yeung

Mr. Lo Chi Ho, Richard

Mr. Tso Siu Lun, Alan (resigned with effect from 1 June 2021)
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DIRECTORS (continued)

In accordance with the article 83 of the Articles, any Director
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy hall hold office only
until the next following annual general meeting of the Company
and shall then be eligible for re-election. Accordingly, Mr. Lin
Dongming will retire from office and being eligible, he will offer
himself for re-election in the forthcoming AGM.

In accordance with article 84 of the Articles, one-third of the
Directors will retire and being eligible offer themselves for re-
election at the forthcoming AGM. Accordingly, Mr. Lee Chin Ching
Cyrix and Mr. Ho Ying Choi shall hold office until the next following
AGM of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors of the Company and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 30 to 36 of the
annual report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of the Company, a permitted indemnity
provision for the benefit of the Directors is currently in force and
was in force throughout the year ended 31 March 2022. The
Company has purchased the Directors’ and Officers’ Liability
Insurance to provide protection against claims arising from the
lawful discharge of duties by the Directors.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the independent non-executive Directors is appointed
for an initial term of one to three years commencing from their
respective dates of appointment and shall continue thereafter
from year to year until terminated by two month’s notice in writing
served by either party on the other party.

The non-executive Director is appointed for a term of one year
commencing from the date of his appointment. Such appointment
can be terminated by one month’s notice in writing served by either
party on the other party.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors who are proposed
for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has a service contract with
the Company which is not determinable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENT AND
CONTRACTS

Save for the respective director service contracts with each of the
executive Directors, no transactions, arrangements and contracts
of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the
Company'’s subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries or its parent company
was a party in which a Director of the Company and the Director’s
connected party had a material interest whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year ended 31 March 2022 under review.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees are subject to Shareholders’ approval at general
meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the Board with
reference to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance
and the results of the Group as well as the recommendation of
the Remuneration Committee. Further details of the Company’s
Remuneration Committee are set out in the corporate governance
report on page 47 of this annual report.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument of the employees of the Group is determined
by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit,
qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors of the Company are decided by
the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company’s
operating results, individual performance and comparable market
statistics.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

The Group participates in a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the “MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for all qualifying employees employed.
The MPF scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan
administered by independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme,
the Group and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income,
subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000.
Contributions to the MPF scheme vest immediately.

The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of
the Group, in fund under the control of trustees. During the year
ended 31 March 2022, total contributions paid or payable to the
MPF scheme by the Group amounted to approximately HK$12.1
million (2021: HK$11.2 million) which had been recognised as
expenses and included in staff costs in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Group adopted the required standard of dealings set out
in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules as the code
of conduct regarding the Directors’ securities transactions in
securities of the Company. The Company also had made specific
enquiry of all Directors and the Company was not aware of any
non-compliance with the required standard of dealings and its
code of conduct regarding securities transactions by the Directors
during the year ended 31 March 2022.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF
THE COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED
CORPORATION

As at date of this annual report, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and their associates in the shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company and its associated corporations, as
recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing
Rules, were as follows:

Long positions in the ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each of the
Company

EERHERS

AEBEEHRMGEM E R AIZE 548 E5.67
RTHEERTCE ERREESET
ARNBBEHFERZINTRESTE - XATITNE
MEREEIENETEN B E2022F3
A31BIEFE  ARRETMBEEME
REFETBEHFISNEBRELERRIT
ASFRIRIEMR o

EERRSTRAERAQTRE
B EZERG - HERO R EE
HNERRE

RAFHREH EEREBEARAKIRF
REBESEBEAR G - BERMD K EEE
F o EETEERERARRREE S K
BigpEI2KFENZEMA WEB@
GEMimﬁﬁlJ%MM%%ﬁ HMARD
BRFTR R AR T ¢

RALREBREENI BT ZEBRZH
B

Approximate
percentage of

interests in
the issued
Name of Shareholders Capacity and nature of interest Number of shares share capital
HERTREZ
IRER & BOREEMEE ROBE #EHBABEIHL
Huang Liming (note 1) Interest in controlled corporation 626,071,950 (L) 55.45%
(note 2)
=R (M 1) RiEAEER 626,071,950 (L) 55.45%
(HtzE2)
Notes: B
1. Mr. Huang Liming is interested in the said shares through his wholly owned 1. EHBAALLEBBREZENGELEEARER AR

company, Heng Sheng Capital Limited, which is the beneficial owner of
626,071,950 shares of the Company.

2. The Letter “L” denotes long position in the shares.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors nor their associates
had any interests or short positions in any shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations as at date of this annual report.
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ARRANGEMENT TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year ended 31 March 2022 was the
Company, its subsidiaries, its fellow subsidiaries, its parent
company or its other associated corporations a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors and chief executive of the
Company (including their spouse and children under 18 years
of age) to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares
or underlying shares in, or debentures of, the Company or its
specified undertakings or other associated corporation.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

As at date of this annual report, the following persons/entities
(other than a Director or chief executive of the Company) had or
were deemed or taken to have interests and short positions in the
Shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the
register of interests and short positions of substantial shareholders
(the “Register of Substantial Shareholders”) required to be kept by
the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO:

Long Positions in the ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each of the
Company
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interests in
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Name of Shareholders Capacity and nature of interest  Number of shares share capital

HEBITREZ

RERERB SO RERMEE ROEBE #HEHAEI

Heng Sheng Capital Limited (note 1) Beneficial Owner 626,071,950 (L) 55.45%
(note 2)

BEEARBRAR (Hat1) ExnEAA 626,071,950 (L) 55.45%
(K1at2)

Li Mengya (note 1) Interest of Spouse 626,071,950 (L) 55.45%
(note 2)

T2 (T Ao = 626,071,950 (L) 55.45%
(K1at2)
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY (continued)

Notes:

1. Heng Sheng Capital Limited is a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands whose entire issued share capital is owned by Mr. Huang Liming, and
accordingly under the SFO, Mr. Huang Liming is deemed to be interested in
the Shares held by Heng Sheng Capital Limited. Ms. Li Mengya is the spouse
of Mr. Huang Liming and, accordingly under the SFO, she is deemed to
be interested in the same number of Shares in which Mr. Huang Liming is
interested.

2. The letter “L” denotes long position in the Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at date of this report, the Directors
were not aware of any persons/entities (other than a Director or
chief executive of the Company) who/which had or were deemed
or taken to have any other interests or short positions in Shares
or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the Register
of Substantial Shareholders required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to under section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 19 September 2013, the Company has adopted a share option
scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) under which the Board
is authorised to grant share options to any employee, adviser,
consultant, service provider, agent, customer, partner or joint-
venture partner of the Company or any subsidiary (including any
director of the Company or any subsidiary) who is in fulltime or
part-time employment with or otherwise engaged by the Company
or any subsidiary at the time when an option is granted to such
employee, adviser, consultant, service provider, agent, customer,
partner or joint-venture partner or any person who, in the absolute
discretion of the board, has contributed or may contribute to the
Group as incentive or reward for their contribution to the Group.

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective commencing
from the adoption date of the Share Option Scheme (i.e. 19
September 2013) until the termination date as provided therein
which being the close of business of the Company on the date
which falls ten years from the date of the adoption of the Share
Option Scheme (i.e. 18 September 2023). The principal terms of
the Share Option Scheme are summarised in the section headed
“Share Option Scheme” in Appendix IV to the Prospectus of the
Company dated 30 September 2013.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2022, no share option was granted,
exercised, expired or lapsed and there is no outstanding share
option under the Share Option Scheme.

SHARE AWARD PLAN

On 6 August 2021, the Company has adopted the share aware
plan (the “Plan”) to recognise and reward the contribution
of selected participant (the “Selected Participant(s)”) to the
growth and development of the Group and to give incentives
thereto in order to motivate them for the continual operation and
development of the Group and to attract suitable personnel for
further development of the Group. The Plan is a discretionary
share plan of the Company and does not constitute a share option
scheme within the meaning of Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing
Rules. Movements in the number of awarded shares during the
year ended 31 March 2022 are set out below:
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Number of

Number of awarded shares

awarded Vested and at 31 March

shares at Granted exercised during 2022

Grantee 1 April 2021 Date of allotment  during the Year the Year (Note ii)

2021 F 20225

4R1H FR 3HA31H

RBRGH ERER RBRONEE

3 JN BE EWHAM FRERU 7 (Btatii)

The Selected — 24 February 2022 102,635,150 - 102,635,150

Participants (Note i)

EEREE 2022% 2 A 248 (Hii)
Notes: Biat -

(i) 10,263,515 awarded shares were granted to each of ten Selected
Participant under the Plan.

(i) Subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan and the fulfilment of relevant
conditions, the awarded shares granted to the Selected Participants shall
vest on 11 January 2023.

Details of the Plan are set out in the Company’s announcements
dated 6 August 2021 and 11 January 2022 and note 35 of
consolidated financial statements.

()  1R#EZETE - 10,263,515 BN (D B ER T
THREEREE -
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BT - B TEE 2 ERE QSRR B 2023
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ZatBIF RN A AR B HR2021 68
A6HK20224 1 A11 BN AMIARLES
B R P EE 35
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION

So far as the Directors and chief executive are aware, no non-
exempt connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions were entered into by the Group during the year ended
31 March 2022.

A summary of the related party transactions entered into by the
Group during the year ended 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2022
respectively is contained in note 41 to the consolidated financial
statements. The related party transactions disclosed in note 40 to
the consolidated financial statements are connected transactions
or continuing connected transactions that were fully exempt
from reporting, announcement, independent shareholders’
approval and/or annual review pursuant to the GEM Listing
Rules. The Company has complied with the applicable disclosure
requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules in
respect of such connected transactions.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the Group’s revenue and purchases
attributable to the major customers and suppliers respectively
during the year are as follows:

BEXS

BEENESTHRABNSE  KNEBRE
22022F3 A3l HILFEWELEITTER
GRAERZFHFEFERS -

KEB D RIREZE 2021 43 A 31 H & 2022
FIA3IBUEFEETNBEB AR S 2H
EH NI BREM L] - 4526 B KR
R FEA0 P BB MY REESE 75 22 5 B AR IR GEM
TR ERPETHERE  2E &
UREHER,NFEEZBENBER
SEFEBER S - NAFEEFGEM
MRAE0EFFZEHERHNERH
BERE -

TEFFRHER

AEENEERR REEED BIBIEANE
BRaMRBENERDT

Purchases

and cleaning

Revenue subcontracting

Wz REBRBERER

HK$ HK$

BT BT

The largest customer S PNES 16,275,986 N/A 71 3@
Five largest customers in aggregate AREFP&R 66,032,324 N/A A3 FA
The largest supplier A ER N/A 7T~ FA 8,440,447
Five largest suppliers in aggregate AREEEE N/A T~ 3 FB 20,993,850
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
(continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the aggregate percentage
of purchase attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers is
approximately 40.3% of the total purchases of the Group and
the largest supplier included therein amounted to approximately
16.2%.

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the aggregate percentage
of sales attributable to the Group’s five largest customers is
approximately 12.6% of the total sales of the Group and the largest
customer included therein amounted to approximately 3.1%.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any shareholders
(which to the knowledge of the Directors owned more than 5% of
the Company’s issued shares) had any interest in the Group’s five
largest customers or suppliers.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part the business of the Company
were entered into or existed during the year ended 31 March
2022.

COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the controlling Shareholders or Directors and their
respective close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) is
interested in any business apart from the business operated by the
Group which competes or is likely to compete, directly or indirectly,
with the Group’s business.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, it is confirmed that there
is sufficient public float of at least 25% of the Company’s issued
share as at the latest practicable date prior to the issue of this
annual report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company’s corporate governance report is set out on pages 37
to 51 of this annual report.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by
ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited who retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Lee Chin Ching, Cyrix
Executive Director

Hong Kong

28 June 2022
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

REPORTING SCOPE

As a company based and operating in Hong Kong, the Shi Shi
Services Limited (thereafter “Group” or “We”) is fully committed
to environment protection, and being socially responsible by
equipping ourselves with the strictest corporate governance.
In pursuant to the requirement of the Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting guide (“Environmental, Social and
Governance Guide”) in Appendix 20 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “GEM Listing Rules”) from the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, we have prepared the 2021-
2022 Environmental Social and Governance Report (thereafter
“ESG Report™”), covering the Group’s various business segments,
including financial management, property management services
(including cleaning, repair and maintenance), and property
security service.

The scope of this report covers the Group’s initiatives on
introducing the ESG concept to key stakeholders to our operations,
including our employees and clients. The report summarizes our
experiences in putting our ESG strategy into practice as part of our
daily operations. The results of our ESG performance is presented
in this report as a year-end summary. It is also the intention of our
management to provide an overview of our Group’s direction in
managing ESG related issues, driving for ESG initiatives throughout
the group, and communicating our ESG performance with our
stakeholders.

About the Group

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of property
management services, primarily targeting residential properties,
property investment and money lending business. The Group
operates in Hong Kong under the brand name of “Kong Shum”,
providing a range of property management services including
cleaning, security, repair & maintenance, administrative and
legal support, as well as financial management. A total of 75,808
property units are managed by the Group.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RiIR  HERERBRES

REPORTING SCOPE (continued)

Boundary and Reporting Period

The reporting boundary shall cover our operation activities
throughout the Group as listed above, and the reporting period of
this report shall cover the period from 1 April 2021 to 31 March
2022.

Stakeholder Engagement

We engage our stakeholders on an ongoing basis to gather their
views and expectations on our ESG performance and disclosures.
In response to the interests and concerns of our stakeholders, we
regularly review our ESG performance using the strictest corporate
governance principles, with respect to environmental protection,
employee development and community investment.

The Group has consulted both its internal and external
stakeholders regarding its impact on the environment and society
as a result of its business operations. The Group values its
relationship with its customers and local communities and thus
have included both parties as our consultation targets. The table
below presents key stakeholders of the Group along with their
main expectations as well as the various engagement channels the
Group employed during the year to communicate with them.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RS -HEREBHRES

REPORTING SCOPE (continued) WEEHE (&)
Stakeholder Engagement (continued) BHiESHE(E)
Stakeholders Expectations and Concerns Engagement Channels
BHE MEREY SHRE
Customers *  Quality of products and services e After-sales services
®F EmMRGEE ERR
° Feedback email box
B RREEME
Employees ° Staff salary and benefits ° Training
(== 12 8 Fr B K 12 A b=l
o Health and safety of working ° Performance Review and Interviews
environment =B RE#
TEREMREREZ S e Internal announcements and
° Training and development publications
Bl RER NERE R
e  Suggestion Boxes
B R

Shareholders

PR

Community
o

° Corporate governance
JL% B /EI

° Return on investments
& E B

° Community involvement
e

o Environmental protection awareness

RBREEH

° Annual General Meetings

BRRBF RS

° Annual and Interim Reports
FERFPHRS

° Press Releases and Announcements
HEREAE

° Community activities
fti@)EE

° Subsidies and Charitable donations
EBRESHEN
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RiIR  HERERBRES

REPORTING SCOPE (continued) WEEHE (&)
Materiality Assessment BEEMTML

With the objective of identifying the key concerns and interests AMEERNEB AL LI HENENTEM
of the Group’s internal and external stakeholders, a materiality £ & FJ2%5 - HFIET T EE M TE - BE
assessment was performed, covering a variety of topics related EIEftE - EEMRBEXRBREBENSE
to our social, operational and environmental performance. The #%78 o I EERKEDHFEANT A TXFiIRE
results of the assessment have been consolidated and presented E 4 4EEHF K27 :

in the form of a materiality matrix, as shown below:

Xa R o W N Dk = B O B BE

UEmhEMs BRI

Shi Shi Services Limited
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

REPORTING SCOPE (continued)

Materiality Assessment (continued)

El Air Emission 01  Anti-competitive behaviour
Management management
REHMER REFITRE R

E2 Energy Management 02  Anti-Corruption
BEIRE 2 R&F

E3  Greenhouse Gases 03  Anti-discrimination
Management RIEAR
BERRBER 04  Company profitability

E4  Waste Management NI R
REZ W) E 12 05  Customer Satisfaction

BEFEmEE

06  Data Security and Customer
Privacy Management
B2 REPLEER

RS -HEREBHRES

HEHE ()
BEMNME ()

S1 Child Labour and Forced Labour
Management
BT RAGHSTIER

S2  Community Relations

R ER

S3  Diversity and Equal Opportunity
LTt R FEEHE

S4 Employee communication
=3=bz i}

S5 Human Right Protection
AR E

S6  Social and Economic
Compliance

HEREBEAR

07  Occupational Safety and Health S7  Talent Management

BEZEREE
08  Supplier Management
HrEmER

Stakeholder Feedback

We consider feedback from stakeholders to be of high importance
as it can guide us towards making continuous improvements with
respect to environmental, social and governance aspects. If you
have any questions or comments regarding the contents of this
report or the Group’s ESG strategy, please contact us through of
our communication channels.

AT EE
S8  Training and Development
Bl K B

FERE

BABREOHENREDNDEREZ  BA
Hee ol MMNEE - we RERBHIF
ﬁ?ii“E&L i ETHARENARL
AREBRIRE 48 MEAREA TR
FgBER FEBRBAREBERMBE -
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RiIR  HERERBRES

ENVIRONMENT

It has always been one of our guiding principles to make
contributions to the local environment and community while
providing the best service to our clients and generate revenue
for our shareholders. We recognize the importance of adopting
the highest standards in our operations towards environmental
protection, and to set examples to demonstrate our care for the
community and its development. Our environmental management
system is certified to ISO 14001:2004 standards.

Our Consideration for Climate Change

The Group understands that the threat of climate change may
potentially have a financial impact on our operations, such as the
gradual tightening of regulations with respect to waste generation
and greenhouse gas emissions, which will increase operation
costs. The Group took effort in identifying its environmental
impacts attributable to its business activities and carefully
managed our operation in order to minimize these impacts
where possible. The intention is not only to promote environment
protection internally, but also to encourage and motivate the same
to our clients and mutually improve in a continuous manner.

Shi Shi Services Limited
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ENVIRONMENT (continued)
Use of Resources

As an environmentally-friendly company, the Group promotes
a “Smart Usage” culture, encouraging our employees towards
the cautious use of natural resources, particularly on electricity,
operational materials, and water consumption.

The Environmental Policy adopted by the Group puts emphasis
on energy conservation and efficiency, while implementing green
practices and green technologies as much as possible in all
of our premises. Our lighting and air-conditioning systems are
maintained with the objective of further energy reduction, and
our operation team periodically analyses energy consumption
records in an attempt to identify opportunities for improving energy
efficiency.

In addition, the concept of “Smart Usage” has been incorporated
in different parts of our business and various action plans have
been proposed and implemented. We have designed marketing
campaigns, taking into account of demand and supply estimates,
cost effectiveness, energy saving, and equipment. The marketing
campaigns were used as promotional strategies to attract potential
carpark clients.

Electricity

As discussed, resource management is an important aspect
in the Group’s operation, especially in managing buildings and
properties.

Our Group understands that even though electricity is generally
considered to be a “clean” energy source, generation of electricity
in our areas of operation still involves the combustion of fossil
fuels, which can lead to a significant impact to the environment as
a result of associated emissions of air pollutants and greenhouse
gases. Thus, the Group reminds employees to be cautious about
our electricity consumption to minimize our impacts.

RIE - HERELRRES
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RiIR  HERERBRES

ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Electricity (continued)

The Group worked with its staff member by promoting the “Smart
Usage” culture, and reminded them to take action throughout
their daily operation to minimize resource and energy usage. For
example, notices were posted at various locations around our
offices to remind our staff about turning off lights and photocopiers
after use. Staff were also reminded to maintain good power-saving
practices when utilizing other electronics devices, this includes:

° Maintaining average indoor temperatures at 25.5C
maintaining a comfortable working environment

° Switch to all electrical appliances when they are not in use
° Use lighting with high energy efficiency, such as LED lamps
e  Select electrical appliances with “Grade 1” energy level

Initiatives such as adopting to an Energy Conservation and
Efficiency Policy and practices in offices, along with the utilization
of green technologies, were successfully implemented throughout
the year. Devices associated with significant overall energy
consumption were regularly checked and upgraded as necessary
(ie: lighting and air conditioning) to ensure they operate at proper
efficiency levels.

The Group has set a reduction target for electricity consumption in
daily operations, targeting to reduce 3% in 5 years (on an intensity
basis, per square feet)

Water

Due to the nature of the Group’s business, consumption of water
at from our operations is not very significant and is of limited
materiality. Nevertheless, our staff are encouraged to adopt water
conservation practices during daily operations.

Shi Shi Services Limited
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ENVIRONMENT (continued)
Other Resources

To reduce the consumption of paper, we encourage our employees
to print documents double-sided where appropriate. This includes:

o Application of computer technology where applicable
to substitute the use of hard-copy documents, such as
communication by email and use of computer for document
handling

° Place recycling boxes near office photocopiers to collect
paper that can be reused (i.e. those printed on only one side)

° Encourage staff to reuse stationary items (e.g. used
envelopes and document folders)

The Group has set a target to reduce paper consumption by 3% in
b5 years.

We also encourage our staff to donate Waste Electrical and
Electronic Equipment (WEEE) to charitable organisations when the
equipment are removed from service, or send them to recyclers for
processing.

Due to the nature of the Group’s business, no material
consumption of packaging materials was recorded during the
reporting period.

Our Group will continue monitoring and improving our resource-
conservation performance as opportunities arise.

Air Emission

The Group took the initiative to assess the level of air emission
associated with our operations. Due to our business nature, the
only main source of direct atmospheric air emission from our
operations is related to the use of vehicles which use petrol as fuel
source. As a result of the Group’s fossil fuel consumption during
the reporting period, 15.0 kg of nitrogen oxides (NOx), 0.2 kg
of sulphur oxides (SOx) and 1.11 kg of particulate matter (PM)
were generated and emitted to the atmosphere. We will continue
monitoring our operation and ensuring our air emissions are
minimized where possible, and regularly report our progress.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RiIR  HERERBRES

ENVIRONMENT (continued)
Greenhouse Gas Emission

In addition to our efforts in minimizing air pollutant emission,
emissions of carbon dioxide and other greenhouse gases of
concern are also closely monitored by the Group. Greenhouse
gases are gaseous substances which have the ability to
absorb and re-emit infrared radiation when released into the
atmosphere, which intensifies the greenhouse effect. Examples
of greenhouse gases include carbon dioxide, methane, nitrous
oxide, hydrochlorofluorocarbons (HCFCs), perfluorocarbons and
sulphur hexafluoride. Greenhouse gas emissions, also referred to
as carbon footprints, are commonly evaluated in the form of metric
tons of equivalent carbon dioxide (CO,e), which takes into account
the aggregate contribution from the emissions of the various
greenhouse gases.

We have estimated our greenhouse gas emissions based on our
consumption of energy sources, including petrol and electricity
(identified to be the most significant indirect carbon emitting
source). Based on the energy consumption data, emission factors
associated with each form of energy consumption, obtained
from reliable sources such as literature and sustainability reports
published by electricity providers, were used to determine our
overall carbon footprint during the reporting period. In addition, the
CO,e corresponding to emissions of other greenhouse gases such
as methane and nitrous oxide is obtained using Global Warming
Potential (GWP) figures associated with the respective substances.

Where applicable, the management has proposed mitigation
measures for implementation by our operations team to limit our
overall carbon footprint. As a summary, the Carbon Footprint for
our Group in this reporting year (1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022)
was 170 tCO.e.

With this information available to us, we intend to further
investigate and work with our employees, along with external
stakeholders, on enhancing our overall performance and
minimizing our carbon footprint.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Waste Management

After careful investigation of the types of waste generated by
our operations, it was concluded that no significant amount of
hazardous waste was generated by the Group’s operation during
the reporting period.

For non-hazardous waste, the Group has been promoting waste
reduction internally, and adopted the same principle while working
with our partners and communities that we served. We spend most
of our waste reduction efforts on the recycling of paper, metal and
plastic, which worked in parallel with the promotional campaign
of the government. Appropriate use of recycled paper was
encouraged in our workplaces, and our employees are reminded to
dispose waste in respective collection bins. In addition, the Group
adopted a paper-less working procedure, which encourage the
communication through emails and e-format documents instead
of hard copies. The effort was well received and was supported by
our staff.

During the reporting period, the amount of non-hazardous waste
generated from our operations was estimated to be 15.9 tonnes.

The Group aims to reduce non-hazardous waste generation
intensity (per square feet) by 3% in 5 years.

Summary
The consolidated data with respect to key performance indicators
(KPIs) regarding emissions and resource consumption during this

reporting period is summarized below:

Environmental KPls

RIE - HERELRRES
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RIEBRENER
Category Unit
HHl B 2020-2021 2021-2022
Energy Consumption
BEFE
Total Energy Consumption GJ 1,417 1,258
Y e TIEE
Petrol Consumption GJ (L) 430 (12,437) 424 (12,263)
FURHREE FIKEE (FT)
Electricity Consumption GJ (KWh) 987 (274,217) 834 (231,704)
BHEREE FHREH (TRE)
Total Consumption Intensity GJ/square feet 0.09 0.06
HOHREBRE FTREETFAHR
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RiIR  HERERBRES

ENVIRONMENT (continued) RE (&)
Summary (continued) RHE (&)
Environmental KPls
RIBEARENIER
Category Unit
5l B 2020-2021 2021-2022
Greenhouse Gas Emissions
= R
Total Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Emissions tCOe 182 170
mEREBHRAE ﬂ@ﬁ”‘ AR
Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Emissions Intensity tCO e/square feet 0.013 0.012
mERBBEINER WEE-aik/FHR
Scope 1 — Direct Emissions tormes CO.e 37 36
81— EE R Ry S
Carbon Dioxide (CO,) Emissions t 33 32
— AL (CO) BER 1
Methane (CH,) Emissions t 0.003 0.003
FRBT (CH,) BERR Mg
Nitrous Oxide (N,O) Emissions t 0.014 0.014
— a1 =R (N0) HE A
Scope 2 — Energy Indirect Emissions tCOe 101 89
#[E2— LR EZE P TR = 74
Scope 3 — Other Indirect Emissions tCOe 43.7 439
#HE3-HMEZEYER WEE 2 Atk
Paper Waste Disposed at Landfills tCO e 43.1 435
IR R BRI B B AR WiE & | (bhx
Fresh Water Processing t CO e 0.4 0.2
KK B I8 WaE = — |
Sewage Processing tCO e 0.2 0.1
yaIKER IR WEE 2 AR
Employee Business Travel tCO e 0.0 0.0
EEHZE WEE & — | bk
Air Emissions
REB R
Nitrogen Oxides (NOx) Emissions kg 144 15.0
A ALY (NOX) BER T
Sulphur Oxides (SOx) Emissions kg 0.2 0.2
Wi &1k (SOx) HE X F5
Particulate Matter Emissions kg 1.06 1.11
FERL Y HE IR Fr
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ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Summary (continued)

Environmental KPls
RIEFARENEEZ

RIE - HERELRRES

BiE% (&)

BE (&

Category Unit

5l B 2020-2021 2021-2022

Waste Management

FEEMER
Total Hazardous Waste Produced t 0 0
FEANEEREMEE Mg
Total Non-Hazardous Waste Produced t 15.2 159
FTEANBEREEMES L7
Total Non-Hazardous Waste Intensity kg/square feet 1.06 0.74
BEERYRERE TR/ AR

Use of Resources

BIREMA
Water Consumption m?3 985 607
FAKE K
Water Consumption Intensity ms/square feet 0.07 0.03
K& & SFKSERR
Total Paper Consumption kg 8,988 9,073
MREFRMEE T

Table 1. Use of Resources as of 31 March, 2022

SOCIAL

The Group’s business spreads across several industry sectors and
our staff consists of a large number of talented individuals. Offering
competitive compensation to our staff, while treating them equally
and fairly, and complying to laws and regulations have always been
one of the Group’s guiding principles. Our Group will monitor and
improve in areas as needed, and continue to grow sustainably and
in a socially responsible manner.

Employment

Employees are our internal stakeholders and are pivotal to
our success. As a socially responsible company, our Group
understands that success depends largely on the People that
works with us. The Group recognizes the contribution from our
People and the success that they bring, and considers them as
the greatest asset. Our Group believe works of excellence must be
well compensated, and thus offer a competitive remuneration and
benefits scheme to retain and attract qualified employees.
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RiIR  HERERBRES

SOCIAL (continued)
Employment

We valued talent and employ those who are the best fit for
each position, regardless of their genders. Public recruitment
is conducted annually with priority on equal opportunity. The
following charts provide an overview of our staff demographics
during this reporting period:

At the year ended in 31 March 2022, the majority of our staff
were employed under a full-time arrangement. Total number of
staff members employed by the Group is 1,765 (2021: 1,852),
including 297 management & general staff and 1,468 security
guard staff. The annual turnover rate of Management & General
Staff of our operations in Hong Kong and Security Guards were
46% (Male: 58%, Female: 38%) and 76% (<65 y/0: 68%, 65 y/o
or above: 85%) respectively.

Management & General Staff Gender Distribution
EER-REIHRSMH

Male 55
41%

Female %
59%

Chart 1. Management and General Staff Gender Composition
(as of 31 March 2022)
B 1. ERR—KE T IR (#Z220220F3 31 H)
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Chart 2. Security Guard gender distribution
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Management & General Staff Age Distribution
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Chart 3. Management and General Staff Age Distribution (as of 31 March 2022)
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

SOCIAL (continued)
Internal Policies

The Group has a policy in place to cover employee compensation
and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest
periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other
benefits and welfare.

A comprehensive staff handbook, which serves as the basis for our
human resources management approach, is issued to all of our
employees upon employment, which details:

o employment policy;

e welfare and benefits;

° leave and rest days;

o conduct and discipline;

° occupational health and safety;
e personal data (privacy); and

o equal opportunity.

Updates and revisions to the employee handbook are
communicated to our staff and the latest version of the handbook
is readily available for staff access for easy reference.

Employee Emolument

The emolument of the employees of our Group is also determined
by the remuneration Committee, assessed based on merit,
qualifications and competence. The emoluments of the Directors
of the Company are decided by the Remuneration Committee,
having regard to the Company’s operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics.

Employee salaries are reviewed and adjusted regularly based on
performance appraisals, and according to the guidelines defined
under our remuneration and incentive system. At the end of
the term, rewards are handed to those who made significant
contributions in daily work, based on the reward & punishment
measures for employees. Outstanding employees are given priority
on potential promotion or development opportunities during
annual employee appraisals.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RiIR  HERERBRES

SOCIAL (continued)

Remuneration Committee

To ensure our remuneration scheme remains competitive, the
Group has established a Remuneration Committee, with the
principal duties of determining specific remuneration packages
of all Executive Directors, including benefits in kind, pension
rights and compensation payments, any compensation payable
for loss or termination of their office or appointment, and
making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
of non-executive Directors. The Remuneration Committee
also incorporates factors such as salaries paid by comparable
companies, time commitment and responsibilities into the decision
process.

The Remuneration Committee meets regularly to determine on
policies for Directors’ remuneration, and assess the performance
of Executive Directors and certain senior management of the
Group.

Retirement Benefit Scheme

The Group participates in the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(“the MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for all qualifying employees employed.
The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of
the Group, in funds under the control of independent trustees.
Both the Group and the employees contribute to the MPF Scheme
based on a fixed percentage of the staffs’ monthly salary in
accordance with government regulations.

During the reporting period, total contributions paid or payable
to the MPF scheme by the Group amounted to approximately
HK$12.1 million (approximately HK$11.2 million in the previous
year), which had been recognized as expenses and included in
staff costs in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Shi Shi Services Limited
B B AR 35 5 PR 2 7

e (&)
FHEES

RERFMASET S LREHEFS K
SEERUFMEES JHETERAEMN
ETE2RUTESNABTINIR  B%R
B - RIRSEF R ER - BER
SR RENTARERE - LRI
TEENFMRAEFTSREEBES - &
ES=E-WIN S ESEPSESCH LR ey ¥
PRATEOERBN - B I AGE R B R M AREK B

2 o

RN Z B & R H G DA T E S 0 H
BREMFEARBNTESRETRRE
BERNKR -

RIKEF TS

AEERMBAEREESLEAREETER
PR ERAIRZABHIE RS
rEl (TR atrEl]) - BREFTEINEE
HEAKBNEEDFRITA - BRBIET
NS - RBEFRO - ~EEREER
BAFH D RIZEE P mRTE e A B

AEERHEHAMBRES TSI KHE
M EFEENRL210E8E T (ZFOR
L120EBTT) » 252 BOER A R
Wi REkEMEERERTIIA/EL
PR o



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

SOCIAL (continued)
Occupational Health and Safety

The Group considers the topic of occupational health and safety
as one of its top priorities, and enforces highest standards
on maintaining a safe and comfortable working environment
for employees. The Group’s occupational health and safety
management system achieved ISO 45001:2018 certification.

The Group provides employees with a spacious working place
and with abundant ancillary resources, including a dining room,
resting area, and basic household appliances. All equipment,
such as drinking facilities, air-conditioning system and associated
wiring, are under regular inspection to maintain availability. Safety
and emergency equipment such as fire extinguishers, fire escape
masks and safety helmets at construction sites, are placed in
prominent locations in offices, and are made easily accessible to
all employees. In addition, safety guidance documents on aspects
such as fire drills or safety tips are constantly circulated to remind
our staff to pay extra attention to public safety.

Security guards hired by the Group are trained on the proper usage
of emergency response equipment such as fire extinguishers and
hoses, as well as being familiar with evacuation routes and muster
points to provide assistance to tenants in case of emergency.

In summary, the following measures were adopted during the
reporting period to strengthen our staff's awareness on Health and
Safety issues:

o Health and safety trainings was conducted for new
employees to strengthen their overall health and safety
awareness;

° Monthly work safety and health meeting to fulfil employees’
daily health and first-aid needs; and

o Regular workshop was conducted on enhancing our security
staff knowledge on emergency scenario management (ie: gas
leak, riot and etc).

During the reporting period from 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022,
our Group had no material non-compliance breach with relevant
standards, rules and regulations, and no major accidents were
encountered during operation. Our Group did not have any work-
related fatalities in the past three years, including the reporting
year. Also, a total of 24 loss-time injuries incidents were recorded
for our staff (including security guards) during the reporting period.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RiIR  HERERBRES

SOCIAL (continued)
COVID-19 Response

The COVID-19 continued during the reporting period, and we
adopted a set of contingency procedures, whereby our staff and
contractors shall take all practicable steps to maintain a hygienic
environment in properties under our management, in the interest
of all personnel who may be present at our managed properties,
including owners, tenants, visitors, as well as our staff. Our staff are
instructed to perform the following operations as part of their daily
routine:

° Regular hand sanitizing
o Regular disinfection of common areas
° Request staff and visitors to wear surgical face mask

Equal Opportunities, Workforce Diversity and Anti-
Discrimination

The Group emphasizes on equal opportunity, as our employment
and training and promotion practices do allow any sort of
discrimination on grounds of gender, disability, pregnancy, family
status, race, colour, religion, age, sexual orientation, national
origin, trade union membership or other conditions recognized in
law.

Our Corporate Policy includes provisions on handling
discrimination, harassment is not tolerated job duty assignment
or career advancement and victimization in the workplace. In
addition, the Group examines the identification documents of
applicants as well as their QAS certificates and security personnel
permits, in accordance with the Security and Guarding Services
Ordinance (Chapter 460), in order to verify the identity and
qualification of our security guard applicant.

To the Group’s best knowledge, the Group was not aware of any
non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations during the
reporting period.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

SOCIAL (continued)

Development and Training

To encourage and motivate career development, the Group
provided different training programs, including training
programmes for security guards on working attitude and security
knowledge. Our management and staff were also provided with
case studies, based on incidents that have occurred in the
past, to enhance their management skills and risk management
knowledge. In addition, effect and updates on relevant regulations,
customer feedback, and new company policy in operations and
accounting were regularly debriefed to our staff to maintain
transparency and consistency throughout our operation.

During the reporting period, our Management & Staff and Security
Guards received 1,114 hours and 17,592 hours of training
respectively. The Group’s routine training program provides
coverage to all of our employees during the year. The average
training hours for Management Staff and Security Guards are 3.8
and 12.0 hours respectively.

Labour Standards

The Group’s operations comply with all applicable regulations, laws
and standards in Hong Kong associated with labour, including but
not limited to the Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57 of the Laws of
Hong Kong).

We are strongly against the use of child and forced labour.
Our management works closely with our Human Resources
department to ensure suitable working environments are provided
to our employees and prevent the hiring of underage personnel. In
the remote scenario of child labour/forced labour, the employment
with the concerned personnel will be terminated the employment
immediately.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RiIR  HERERBRES

SOCIAL (continued)

Employees, Customers, And Other Stakeholders

Our Group values positive relationships with our customers
and suppliers, and consider it to be an important aspect of our
business. An open engagement channel with our customers is
maintained through customer feedback revision meetings, which
brings valuable insights to our operation performance and it was
proven to be effective in allowing us to understand latest industry
trends and to better our services.

QOur effective communication strategy features a timely and
accurate disclosure of information, which not only brings
confidence to our shareholders’ and investors’ and being beneficial
for investor relations, it also invited constructive feedback for
perfecting our operation.

We will continue the success of our open communication, and the
interactions will be sustained for a successful working relationship
with our stakeholders in the future.

Customer Complaints

The Group has established a set of procedures to review
complaints received associated with our services to ensure the
delivery of top quality service is maintained. Complaints are
thoroughly investigated and recommendations are made, where
appropriate, to help improve the quality our service. During the
reporting period, the Group received 241 complaints associated
with our services, for which internal reviews have been performed
and appropriate actions have been taken where required.

Supply Chain Management

Due to the nature of the Group’s business, procurement activities
associated with the Group’s business operations is generally
limited to purchases of day-to-day office supplies. In any case,
the Group is committed to limit the environmental impacts
associated with its day-to-day resource consumption, through
raising employee awareness regarding resource consumption
incorporating this awareness to procurement decisions. Where
feasible, our staff are encouraged to prioritize the purchase of
products that have less environmental impacts.

The Group is also dedicated to build a close working relationship
with our suppliers, and by conducting regular performance
revision and appraisal to form a closer working relationship.

The Group engages a total of 22 suppliers for its day-to-day
operations. All of our suppliers are located in Hong Kong SAR.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

SOCIAL (continued)

Intellectual Property Rights and Privacy Protection

The Group’s business activities in property management have
limited relevance to issues related to intellectual property rights.
However, the Group will remain alert of situations which may
have potential concerns over intellectual property rights and is
committed to ensure that no violations will take place.

The Group has strict policies in place to protect all personal
data handled by our staff during our daily operations. During the
reporting period, the Group has operated in compliance with
The Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance, and did not identify any
violation cases.

Anti-Corruption

Our Group is strictly complying to all law requirements and is fully
committed in restricting all illegal activities, including corruption,
without exception. The Group requested our staff to understand
and work with us to safeguard our Group throughout the daily
operation to prohibit any form of corruption, and also prevent
money laundering activities. A whistleblowing channel has been
established for reporting inappropriate conduct and other any
suspicious activities which may be conflict with our relevant
policies and guidelines. In order to strengthen our employee’s
understanding on the topic, regular internal trainings were
organized during the reporting period, featuring real-life cases and
recommended countermeasures to avoid non-compliance activity.
A working guideline on “Anti-Corruption Measures on Account,
Security, Construction, Property Management” is issued to our
staff for reference and is publicly available and fully accessible to
all our employees.

During the period from 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022, our Group
was unaware of any action that non-compliance to legal regulation,
and related to corruption, bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RiIR  HERERBRES

COMMUNITY

Our Group understands that it is important for our business to both
generate profit to our shareholders, and being socially responsible
to care, serve and give back to our community wherever is needed.
Community Investment

Since 2005, our Group has been receiving the recognition as a
“Caring Company”, awarded annually under the Caring Company
Scheme by The Hong Kong Council of Social Service (HKCSS). We,
and together with our staff, were dedicated and committed to fully
support local charity organizations, NGOs and their volunteering
activities by allocating a portion of our revenue to build a better
local community. During the reporting period, the Group donated
HKD 1,000 to Saint Barnaba’'s Society and Home, a charity
organization that aims at providing help and care for the homeless
and unfortunate in Hong Kong.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

th

ZHONGHUI

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF SHI SHI SERVICES LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Shi Shi
Services Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 93 to 190, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 31 March 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B B R

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional

judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the

consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

(i) Property, plant and equipment
Refer to Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group tested the amount of property, plant and
equipment for impairment. This impairment test is significant
to our audit because the balance of property, plant and
equipment of approximately HK$97,510,000 as at 31 March
2022 is material to the consolidated financial statements. In
addition, the Group’s impairment test involves application of
judgement and is based on assumptions and estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:
- Evaluating the Group’s impairment assessment;

— Assessing the identification of the related cash
generating units;

—  Assessing the arithmetical accuracy of the value-in-use
calculations;

—  Comparing the actual cash flows with the cash flow
projections;

—  Assessing the reasonableness of the key assumptions
(including revenue growth, profit margins, terminal
growth rate and discount rates);

—  Checking input data to supporting evidence;

—  Assessing the competence, independence and integrity
of the external valuer engaged by client;
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

@

(ii)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

—  Obtaining the external valuation report and meeting
with the external valuer to discuss and challenge the
valuation process, methodologies used and market
evidence to support significant judgments and
assumptions applied in the valuation model; and

—  Checking key assumptions and input data in the
valuation model to supporting evidences.

We consider that the Group’s impairment test for property,
plant and equipment is supported by the available evidence.

Investment property
Refer to Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group measured its investment property at fair value
with the changes in fair value recognised in the consolidated
profit or loss. This fair value measurement is significant to
our audit because the balance of investment property of
HK$30,300,000 as at 31 March 2022 is material to the
consolidated financial statements. In addition, the Group’s
fair value measurement involves application of judgement
and is based on assumptions and estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

—  Assessing the competence, independence and integrity
of the external valuer engaged by client;

—  Obtaining the external valuation report and meeting
with the external valuer to discuss and challenge the
valuation process, methodologies used and market
evidence to support significant judgments and
assumptions applied in the valuation model;

—  Checking key assumptions and input data in the
valuation model to supporting evidence;

—  Checking arithmetical accuracy of the valuation model;
and

—  Assessing the disclosure of the fair value measurement
in the consolidated financial statements.

We consider that the Group’s fair value measurement of the
investment property is supported by the available evidence.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B B R

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

(iii) Trade receivables
Refer to Note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.
The Group tested the amount of trade receivables for
impairment. This impairment test is significant to our audit
because the balance of trade receivables of approximately
HK$102,766,000 as at 31 March 2022 is material to the
consolidated financial statements. In addition, the Group’s
impairment test involves application of judgement and is
based on estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

—  Assessing the Group’s procedures on granting credit
limits and credit periods to customers;

—  Assessing the Group’s relationship and transaction
history with the customers;

- Evaluating the Group’s impairment assessment;
—  Assessing ageing of the debts;
—  Assessing creditworthiness of the customers;

—  Checking subsequent settlements from the customers;
and

—  Assessing the disclosure of the Group’s exposure to
credit risk in the consolidated financial statements.

We consider that the Group’s impairment test for trade
receivables is supported by the available evidence.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information in the Company’s annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B B R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report
our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements is located at the HKICPA'’s
website at:

http://www.hkicpa.org.hk/en/standards-and-regulations/

standards/auditing-assurance/auditre/

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Fong Tak Ching
Audit Engagement Director
Practising Certificate Number PO6353

Hong Kong, 28 June 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

GAREREMEAREE
For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(220229 3431 H i F/&
2022 2021
2022 & 2021
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
k=3 FET FHETT
Revenue Y &= 7 524,951 511,116
Cost of services Bk 75 A A (424,665) (402,478)
Gross profit EF 100,286 108,638
Interest revenue A B U = 8 458 1,006
Other income and expenses, net = N 9 3,280 20,519
Share of loss of an associate e —HEEE QRSB (8,133) (5,130)
Administrative expenses THAX (70,377) (62,287)
Other operating expenses Hib&ER (32,437) (22,377)
Impairment of investment in an R—EERFZ
associate KERE (4,428) (16,500)
Impairment of property, plant and Y% - BB RERERE
equipment (7,049) -
Impairment of goodwill EESEAE (2,132) -
Impairment of trade receivables B 5 W IBRE (2,197)
Listing expenses FiRZ (941) (2,893)
Finance costs B & P A 11 (664) (581)
(Loss)/profit before tax FRBLAT (B518) & F (24,334) 20,395
Income tax expense BIESE A ba 14 (1,615) (4,541)
(Loss)/profit for the year FR(BR),HBH 12 (25,949) 15,854
Other comprehensive (expense)/income, HfhZME (BIx) Uz -
net of tax NKRBiE
Items that may be reclassified to profitor A BEE ¥ 77 48 2 18 25 #7
loss: EH -
Exchange differences on translation of BREGINEBEEZ
foreign operation bE 5 = 5E 2,848 5,183
Reclassification of translation reserve to Rt $5 — B M B A BB
profit or loss upon deregistration of a 1S E B EHN D E
subsidiary EE® - (3)
Other comprehensive (expense)/income FRAHEMEE (X))
for the year U 2= 2,848 5,180
Total comprehensive (expense)/income FRE2ME (X)),
for the year U 2% 48 28 (23,101) 21,034
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

meBEakAEtEZERER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # 2202293531 HIFF/E

2022 2021
2022 & 2021 F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt FHEx FHETT
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to: THEFEEER
(E518) s F
Owners of the Company IN/NETE F SN (25,949) 15,856
Non-controlling interests IR - 2)
(25,949) 15,854
Total comprehensive (expense)/income THELEEFEFAEZE
for the year attributable to: (BAX) W45
Owners of the Company ZIN/NEIET Z =N (23,101) 21,010
Non-controlling interests IR - 24
(23,101) 21,034
(Loss)/earnings per share BR(BR) BF
Basic (HK$) ERGET) 15 (0.025) 0.015
Diluted (HK$) wEOET) 15 (0.025) 0.015
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e MR R

As at 31 March 2022 202243531 H

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
k=3 FET FHETT
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment S E S 18 97,510 48,249
Investment property "EWE 19 30,300 30,300
Intangible assets mEEE 20 215 362
Right-of-use assets EHREEE 21 9,915 13,322
Goodwill BES 23 1,100 3,232
Deposits placed for life insurance HASRBRETFTANES
policies 24 9,155 8,962
Deferred tax assets EEMIREE 25 2,744 1,974
Investment in an associate R—HEBERRINEE 26 6,237 18,798
Prepayments, trade and other FENEIE - 5 REM
receivables G E 27 4,500 39,867
161,676 165,066
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments, trade and other FENEIE - E5 REM
receivables e 27 165,002 149,543
Pledged bank deposits BEHEFIRITER 28 574 574
Cash and cash equivalents HehIAEEEY 29 67,696 105,328
Current tax assets BNEAFH IR & B 2,837 2,133
236,109 257,578
Current liabilities REEE
Trade and other payables g5 kEMENFKIA 30 71,127 80,159
Contract liabilities AHEE 31 6,227 3,189
Bank borrowings — secured RITEE-FEHA 32 9,000 5,354
Lease liabilities HEBE 33 3,094 4,184
Current tax liabilities BNEAf IR B & 2,360 1,609
91,808 94,495
Net current assets REEEFE 144,301 163,083
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e IR R

As at 31 March 2022 R202243 /31 H

2022 2021

2022 F 2021 4

Notes HK$’000 HK$'000

ok FExT FETT

Total assets less current liahilities HEERRBARS 305,977 328,149
Non-current liabilities kFRBEEB

Lease liabilities HEBE 33 7,017 9,138

Deferred tax liabilities EEMIEAE 25 571 40

7,588 9,178

NET ASSETS EEEE 298,389 318,971

Equity s

Share capital A& AR 34 11,290 10,264

Reserves (G 37 287,099 308,707

TOTAL EQUITY EXEE 298,389 318,971

The consolidated financial statements on pages 93 to 190 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28
June 2022 and are signed on its behalf by:

Approved by:

Lee Chin Ching, Cyrix

FTRRE

Director

EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
RERERSER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # 2202243531 A1FF/E

Attributable to owners of the Company

RAREEAEL
Foreign
Share Share-hased currency Non-
Share premium Merger payment Other translation Retained controlling Total
capital account reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests equity
WRf
ZfTH He 2R B#
ki BGEEE  AUEE  GUERE  HtEE  RERGE  REEH At E# ag
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
TiEn TR ThR T ThL TiEn ThR TEn Th TR
At 1 April 2020 R00%F4A18 10,264 179,975 4750 - = (3,749) 106,721 297%1 861 298822
Capital retum to non-controling FHEE-ERELAR
interests upon de-registration of FERERRE
a subsidiary - - - - - - - (885) (885)
Total comprehensive income ENRENRES
for the year - - - - - 5154 15,856 21,010 24 21,034
At 31 March 2021 R22143A318 10,264 179,975 4750 - - 1,406 122577 318971 - 318971
At 1 April 2021 K21 E4A1H 10,264 179,975 4750 - - 1,405 122,511 318,971 - 318,971
Award shares granted under RERDEDTARLH
share award plan RERH - - - 2519 - - - 2519 - 2519
Issuance of award shares EARERA 1,026 - - - (1,026) - - - - -
Total comprehensive (expenses)/ ER2E(HR)WEeE
income for the year - - - - - 2,848 (25,949) (23,101) - (23,101)
At 31 March 2022 RO2E3A31A 11,290 179,975 4,750 2519 (1,026) 4,253 96,628 298,389 - 298,389
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

n _\éiﬁﬁﬁii

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # 2202293531 HIFF/E

2022 2021
2022 2021 %
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FETT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES KETEFERESRE
(Loss)/profit before tax BrELAT (B518) H A (24,334) 20,395
Adjustments for: MTYSIBIEL AR :
Finance costs B & B AR 664 581
Interest revenue A 8 Wz (458) (1,006)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment %1% - & E M&ETE 10,600 4,677
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FHEEERE 4,648 4,674
Premium charged on life insurance policies ASRE R EFTNERE 105 100
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEME  KERRENEBE
equipment 135 100
Amortisation of intangible assets WA EEH 157 1,705
Share-based payment expenses AR Z AT BIRIAFA 2,519 -
Share of loss of an associate Db —EEE R REE 8,133 5,130
Impairment of investment in an associate R—EB SN R ENRE 4,428 16,500
Impairment on property, plant and equipment  #1% « B LR ERE 7,049 -
Impairment on trade receivables B 5 EWFIERE 2,197
Impairment on goodwill EESNEAE 2,132 —
Gain on early termination of lease REKIHAE 2 Ra - (31)
17,975 52,825
Change in prepayments, trade and other AR RIE - B 5 R HAM
receivables JIE s Tk T8 (18,454) (17,107)
Change in trade and other payables H 5 N H AP I8 & (8,768) 12,373
Change in contract liabilities BHBEEE 3,193 (529)
Cash generated from operations KEELEZRE (6,054) 47 562
Interest paid EAHE (74) (110)
Lease interest paid EREEFNE (590) (471)
Income tax paid BEATATEH (1,807) (7,481)
Net cash (used in)/generated from operating LSRR (FrA)
activities BREFH (8,525) 39,500
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETBFSRERE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEWE  BEL&E (25,606) (29,515)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plantand HEYZ - BE M & FEFTEHIE
equipment - (100)
Decrease in pledged bank deposits BEEBRITER B - 1,055
Interest received B U H B 160 702
Deposit paid for acquisition of an associate WE—RBE R R zENES (4,500) -
Deposit paid for acquisition of properties WEME s BENES - (39,867)
Capital return to non-controlling interests upon ¥t 5% 85 — B M B 2 7
de-registration of a subsidiary MIEERERRE - (885)
Net cash used in investing activities RETBFTRAEESFE (29,946) (68,610)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
MERETRER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(220229 3431 H i F/&

2022 2021
2022 2021 %
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES METHFEEERE
Repayment of bank loans BRIETEX (5,354) (9,128)
Bank loans raised FTESmMIEITER 9,000 5,354
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEAE (4,474) (4,647)
Net cash used in financing activities MEEZBHARESFE (828) (8,421)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND BERBESEEBYRL EE
CASH EQUIVALENTS (39,299) (37,531)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes INEETE R BB v & 1,667 3,980
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year F#3R 4 MBS EEY 105,328 138,879
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year FRESRBEEEEY 67,696 105,328
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASHANDCASH B EeRBELSZEY &N
EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances B e MIRITH &% 67,696 105,328
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # 2202293531 HIFF/E

GENERAL INFORMATION

Shi Shi Services Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
in the Cayman Islands with limited liability. Its shares are
listed on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited. The address of its registered office is at Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-
1111, Cayman Islands. The address of its principal place of
business is Unit 903, 9 Floor, Haleson Building, 1 Jubilee
Street, Central, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 22 to
the consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong Dollars (“HK$”), and all values are rounded to
thousand (HK$'000), unless otherwise stated.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new
and revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) that are relevant to its
operations and effective for its accounting year beginning
on 1 April 2021. HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”); Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKAS”); and Interpretations. The adoption of
these new and revised HKFRSs did not result in significant
changes to the Group’s accounting policies and amounts
reported for the current year and prior years.

The Group has not applied new and revised HKFRSs that
have been issued but are not yet effective. The Group has
already commenced an assessment of the impact of these
new and revised HKFRSs but is not yet in a position to
state whether these new and revised HKFRSs would have
a material impact on its results of operations and financial
position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(220229 3431 H i F/&

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA,
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and
the applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the GEM of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, as modified by the
revaluation of investment property which is carried at its fair
value.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain key
assumptions and estimates. It also requires the directors
to exercise its judgements in the process of applying the
accounting policies. The areas involving critical judgements
and areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to
these consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in note
4 to the consolidated financial statements.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.

(@) Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include
the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries made up to 31 March. Subsidiaries are
entities over which the Group has control. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the entity
and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the entity. The Group has power over an
entity when the Group has existing rights that give it
the current ability to direct the relevant activities, i.e.
activities that significantly affect the entity’s returns.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # 2202293531 HIFF/E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(@)

Consolidation (continued)

When assessing control, the Group considers its
potential voting rights as well as potential voting rights
held by other parties, to determine whether it has
control. A potential voting right is considered only if the
holder has the practical ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are de-
consolidated from the date the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that
results in a loss of control represents the difference
between (i) the fair value of the consideration of the
sale plus the fair value of any investment retained in
that subsidiary and (ii) the Company’s share of the net
assets of that subsidiary plus any remaining goodwill
relating to that subsidiary and any related accumulated
foreign currency translation reserve.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies
of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary
to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in
subsidiaries not attributable, directly or indirectly, to
the Company. Non-controlling interests are presented
in the consolidated statement of financial position and
consolidated statement of changes in equity within
equity. Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as an allocation of profit or
loss and total comprehensive income for the year
between the non-controlling interests and owners of the
Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(220229 3431 H i F/&

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(@)

(b)

Consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling interests even
if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance.

Business combination and goodwill

The acquisition method is used to account for the
acquisition of a subsidiary in a business combination.
The cost of acquisition is measured at the acquisition-
date fair value of the assets given, equity instruments
issued, liabilities incurred and contingent consideration.
Acquisition-related costs are recognised as expenses
in the periods in which the costs are incurred and the
services are received. Identifiable assets and liabilities
of the subsidiary in the acquisition are measured at their
acquisition-date fair values.

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the
Company’s share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s
identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill.
Any excess of the Company’s share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of
acquisition is recognised in consolidated profit or loss
as a gain on bargain purchase which is attributed to the
Company.

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that it might be impaired. Goodwill is measured
at cost less accumulated impairment losses. The
method of measuring impairment losses of goodwill
is the same as that of other assets as stated in the
accounting policy below. Impairment losses of goodwill
are recognised in consolidated profit or loss and are
not subsequently reversed. Goodwill is allocated to
cash-generating units that are expected to benefit
from the synergies of the acquisition for the purpose of
impairment testing.

(@)

(b)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # 2202293531 HIFF/E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(b)

()

Business combination and goodwill (continued)

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are
initially measured at the non-controlling shareholders’
proportionate share of the net fair value of the
subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities at the
acquisition date.

Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the
power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of an entity but is not control or joint
control over those policies. The existence and effect
of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable
or convertible, including potential voting rights held by
other entities, are considered when assessing whether
the Group has significant influence. In assessing
whether a potential voting right contributes to significant
influence, the holder’s intention and financial ability to
exercise or convert that right is not considered.

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements by the equity method
and is initially recognised at cost. Identifiable assets
and liabilities of the associate in an acquisition are
measured at their fair values at the acquisition date. The
excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share
of the net fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets
and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. The goodwill is
included in the carrying amount of the investment and
is tested for impairment together with the investment at
the end of each reporting period when there is objective
evidence that the investment is impaired. Any excess of
the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition is
recognised in consolidated profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(220229 3431 H i F/&

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(©)

(d)

Associates (continued)

The Group’s share of an associate’s post-acquisition
profits or losses is recognised in consolidated profit or
loss, and its share of the post-acquisition movements in
reserves is recognised in the consolidated reserves. The
cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted
against the carrying amount of the investment. When
the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or
exceeds its interest in the associate, including any other
unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise
further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or
made payments on behalf of the associate. If the
associate subsequently reports profits, the Group
resumes recognising its share of those profits only after
its share of the profits equals the share of losses not
recognised.

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group
and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s interests in the associates. Unrealised losses
are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of associates have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Foreign currency translation
(i) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each
of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in Hong Kong Dollars, which is the
Company’s functional and presentation currency.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # 2202293531 HIFF/E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(d)

Foreign currency translation (continued)

(i)

(iii)

Transactions and balances in each entity’s
financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated
into the functional currency on initial recognition
using the exchange rates prevailing on the
transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
in foreign currencies are translated at the
exchange rates at the end of each reporting
period. Gains and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities that have a functional currency different
from the Company’s presentation currency are
translated into the Company’s presentation
currency as follows:

—  Assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement
of financial position;

- Income and expenses are translated at
average exchange rates (unless this average
is not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on
the transaction dates, in which case income
and expenses are translated at the exchange
rates on the transaction dates); and

— All resulting exchange differences are
recognised in the foreign currency
translation reserve.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(220229 3431 H i F/&

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(d)

(e)

Foreign currency translation (continued)
(iii) Translation on consolidation (continued)

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of the net investment in
foreign entities and of borrowings are recognised
in the foreign currency translation reserve.
When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange
differences are recognised in consolidated profit
or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at
the closing rate.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are
recoghised in profit or loss during the period in which
they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # 2202293531 HIFF/E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

()

(f)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated at rates sufficient to write off their cost less
their residual values over the estimated useful lives on
a straight-line basis. The estimated useful lives are as
follows:

Land and building Over the lease term

Leasehold improvement 20%
Furniture and fixture 10%
Motor vehicles 30%
Office equipment 25%

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation
method are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the
end of each reporting period.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset,
and is recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings held
to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation. An
investment property is measured initially at its cost
including all direct costs attributable to the property.

After initial recognition, the investment property is
stated at its fair value based on valuation by an external
independent valuer. Gains or losses arising from
changes in fair value of the investment property are
recognised in profit or loss for the period in which they
arise.

The gain or loss on disposal of an investment property is
the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the property, and is recognised in
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(220229 3431 H i F/&

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(9)

Leases
The Group as leasee

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and
corresponding lease liabilities when the leased assets
are available for use by the Group. Right-of-use assets
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses. Depreciation of right-of-use assets is
calculated at rates to write off their cost over the shorter
of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-
line basis. The principal annual rates are as follows:

Land use rights 2%-5%
Motor vehicles 30%
Equipment 20%

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising
the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liabilities, lease payments prepaid, initial direct costs
and the restoration costs. Lease liabilities include the
net present value of the lease payments discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease if that
rate can be determined, or otherwise the Group’s
incremental borrowing rate. Each lease payment is
allocated between the liability and finance cost. The
finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease
term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the lease liability.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets are recognised as expenses in profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease terms.
Short-term leases are leases with an initial lease term of
12 months or less. Low-value assets are assets of value
below US$5,000.

3. EXREFEEGE

(9)

HE
EEBESABA

HERHEEERHAKEEH
RiERQERAEEEIEEREE
BE - EREEERKARRG
FERBERBRYIRK - EREE
EREE AL A F AR HE 1R
Z B NI MEHE A AR 2 B R A
HREEGFEFE TBFEX
wr

{5 A #EE 2%-5%
RE 30%
By 20%

EREEERKATE - A
BRMEEREZVRTESRE
ANBEENR - MRERKAN R
BRAAR - HERGEBRREEN
FTABRE RS F = (3% F R[]
BE GRARAKBEZEERE
ME)BRBR 2 FHE - BHEBEE
MR erEaERmMERA ZH
DB c MEKARHEEREAR
BaE ks - UELHER BRI
FEEREV B E B EAM K o

HEHRHEMEEEEEREME
BN ZREERANREREAE
BalNERERAY RHHEEAS
MEEEHRAI2E A KA T
MHE - EEEEEABEER
5000F T2 EE °

Annual Report 2021/22
2021/22F &



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # 2202293531 HIFF/E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(0) Leases (continued)
The Group as lessor

Operating leases

Leases that do not substantially transfer to the lessees
all the risks and rewards of ownership of assets are
accounted for as operating leases. Rental income from
operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis

over the term of the relevant lease.
(h) Intangible assets

Customer contracts

Customer contracts with finite useful lives that are
acquired through business combination are carried at
cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation is recognised on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of 5
years. The estimate useful life and amortisation method
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with
the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted

for on a prospective basis.

Computer software

Computer software are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses. Amortisation is
calculated on a straight-line basis over their estimated

useful lives of 4 years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(220229 3431 H i F/&

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(i)

0

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
in the statement of financial position when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual
rights to receive cash flows from the assets expire; the
Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the assets; or the Group neither transfers
nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the assets but has not retained control on
the assets. On derecognition of a financial asset, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received is recognised in profit
or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the
obligation specified in the relevant contract is
discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid is recognised
in profit or loss.

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a
trade date basis where the purchase or sale of an asset
is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the
asset within the timeframe established by the market
concerned, and are initially recognised at fair value,
plus directly attributable transaction costs except in the
case of investments at fair value through profit or loss.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of investments at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets of the Group are classified under the
following categories:

- Financial assets at amortised cost;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # 2202293531 HIFF/E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

0)

(k)

Financial assets (continued)
(i)  Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets (including trade and other
receivables) are classified under this category if
they satisfy both of the following conditions:

—  the assets are held within a business model
whose objective is to hold assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows; and

—  the contractual terms of the assets give rise
on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method less loss
allowance for expected credit losses.

Loss allowances for expected credit losses

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected
credit losses on financial assets at amortised cost.
Expected credit losses are the weighted average of
credit losses with the respective risks of a default
occurring as the weights.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
measures the loss allowance for a financial instrument
at an amount equal to the expected credit losses that
result from all possible default events over the expected
life of that financial instrument (“lifetime expected
credit losses”) for trade receivables, or if the credit risk
on that financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition.

Shi Shi Services Limited
B B AR 35 5 PR 2 7

3. EXREFEEGE

0

(k)

TREE (K)
() HBHEXET R ZMEE
e TIMRGRENZRE

E(BREE S MEMEEK
) D BEEER

- BENEBNREA
EENKREGNER
MEMNEHEARA

ol

— BEANETRRNEHR
FHELAERRE K
FLAREE RN B A E
NRZBEERE -

SEEERERABRNZE
B ARTEREEER
BB R R E

AHFEBR2EBRRE

REB IR E HAATIRN S B
BENRREEBEMEAEER
- MHEEERSINEFAE
EEE UASEELENNR
BIERIES -

REREHR > AW E BT AN
EE R B VIR AR ARG
- RIASR BB 5 e WK IR IR
BERZET R ITANTERFHA
B REB A B N FE PR TERE
EpRzeB ((AREERRF
H])  ®mAtEeR T ANESR
Bt o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(220229 3431 H i F/&

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(k)

U]

(m)

Loss allowances for expected credit losses
(continued)

If, at the end of the reporting period, the credit risk on a
financial instrument (other than trade receivables) has
not increased significantly since initial recognition, the
Group measures the loss allowance for that financial
instrument at an amount equal to the portion of lifetime
expected credit losses that represents the expected
credit losses that result from default events on that
financial instrument that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting period.

The amount of expected credit losses or reversal to
adjust the loss allowance at the end of the reporting
period to the required amount is recognised in profit or
loss as an impairment gain or 10ss.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents represent cash at bank and on
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term highly liquid investments
which are readily convertible into known amounts of
cash and subject to an insignificant risk of change
in value. Bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management are also included as a component of cash
and cash equivalents.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are
classified according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument under
HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any contract that
evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group
after deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting
policies adopted for specific financial liabilities and
equity instruments are set out below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # 2202293531 HIFF/E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(n) Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement
of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting

period.

(o) Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to it and that the grant will be

received.

Government grants that become receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support
to the Group with no future related costs are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they become

receivable.

(p) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are stated initially at their fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are

stated at cost.

() Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue

costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(220229 3431 H i F/&

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

U]

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured based on the consideration
specified in a contract with a customer with reference
to the customary business practices and excludes
amounts collected on behalf of third parties. For a
contract where the period between the payment by the
customer and the transfer of the promised product or
service exceeds one year, the consideration is adjusted
for the effect of a significant financing component.

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring control over a
product or service to a customer. Depending on the
terms of a contract and the laws that apply to that
contract, a performance obligation can be satisfied over
time or at a point in time. A performance obligation is
satisfied over time if:

—  the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance;

—  the Group’s performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the asset is
created or enhanced; or

—  the Group’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

If a performance obligation is satisfied over time,
revenue is recognised by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of that performance
obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point
in time when the customer obtains control of the
product or service.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # 2202293531 HIFF/E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(s)

(t)

Other revenue

Revenue from the rental income is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion
basis using the effective interest method.

Employee benefits

()

(i)

(iii)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long
service leave are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave and long service leave as a
result of services rendered by employees up to the
end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution
retirement schemes which are available to all
employees. Contributions to the schemes by
the Group and employees are calculated as a
percentage of employees’ basic salaries. The
retirement benefit scheme cost charged to profit
or loss represents contributions payable by the
Group to the funds.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier
of the dates when the Group can no longer
withdraw the offer of those benefits and when the
Group recognises restructuring costs and involves
the payment of termination benefits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(220229 3431 H i F/&

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(Y Employee benefits (continued)

(iv) Bonus plan

v)

The expected bonus payments are recognised
as a liability when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation as a result of services
rendered by employees and a reliable estimate of
the obligation can be made. Liabilities for bonus
plans are expected to be settled within 12 months
and are measured at the amounts expected to be
paid when they are settled.

Share-based payments

The Group issues equity-settled share-based
payments to certain employees, directors and
consultants.

Equity-settled share-based payments to directors
and employees are measured at the fair value
(excluding the effect of non market-based vesting
conditions) of the equity instruments at the date
of grant. The fair value determined at the grant
date of the equity-settled share-based payments is
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting
period, based on the Group'’s estimate of shares
that will eventually vest and adjusted for the effect
of non market-based vesting conditions.

Equity-settled share-based payments to
consultants are measured at the fair value of the
services rendered or if the fair value of the services
rendered cannot be reliably measured, at the fair
value of the equity instruments granted. The fair
value is measured at the date the Group receives
the services and is recognised as an expense.

If the share options granted are not exercised after
the vesting period, the share option reserve is
transferred to the retained earnings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # 2202293531 HIFF/E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(u)

v)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period
of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
capitalised as part of the cost of those assets, until
such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the
temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from
the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and
used for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset,
the amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation
is determined by applying a capitalisation rate to the
expenditures on that asset. The capitalisation rate is the
weighted average of the borrowing costs applicable to
the borrowings of the Group that are outstanding during
the period, other than borrowings made specifically for
the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised
in profit or loss because it excludes items of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years
and it further excludes items that are never taxable
or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(220229 3431 H i F/&

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(v)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases
used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred
tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences and deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which deductible
temporary differences, unused tax losses or unused tax
credits can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries and associates, except where the Group is
able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # 2202293531 HIFF/E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(v) Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period when the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period. Deferred tax is recognised in
profit or loss, except when it relates to items recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in
which case the deferred tax is also recognised in other

comprehensive income or directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying

amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the carrying amounts of such properties
are presumed to be recovered through sale, unless the
presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted
when the investment property is depreciable and is held
within a business model of the Group whose business
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the investment property over
time, rather than through sale. If the presumption is
rebutted, deferred tax for such investment properties
are measured based on the expected manner as to how

the properties will be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and
the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and

liabilities on a net basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(220229 3431 H i F/&

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(w) Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the
Group.

(a)

(b)

A person or a close member of that person’s family
is related to the Group if that person:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management
personnel of the Company or of a parent of
the Company.

An entity is related to the Group (reporting entity)
if any of the following conditions applies:

(i)

The entity and the Company are members
of the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group. If the
Group is itself such a plan, the sponsoring
employers are also related to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # 2202293531 HIFF/E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(w) Related parties (continued)

3. EXREFEEGE

(w) BEABET ()

(x)

(b) (continued)

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Company or to a
parent of the Company.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the
Group’s most senior executive management for the
purpose of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of the Group’s various lines of business in
different geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of productions processes, the type
or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature of
the regulatory environment. Operating segments which
are not individually material may be aggregated if they
share a majority of these criteria.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(220229 3431 H i F/&

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(v)

Impairment of assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible
assets except goodwill, investment property, deferred
tax assets, investments and receivables to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated
in order to determine the extent of any impairment loss.
Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit to
which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-
generating unit is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset or cash-
generating unit is reduced to its recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit
or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued
amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as
a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined (net of amortisation or depreciation)
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset
or cash-generating unit in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued
amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment
loss is treated as a revaluation increase.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # 2202293531 HIFF/E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(2)

(aa)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a
past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value
of money is material, provisions are stated at the
present value of the expenditures expected to settle the
obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence
of one or more future events are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is
remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of
the reporting period or those that indicate the going
concern assumption is not appropriate are adjusting
events and are reflected in the consolidated financial
statements. Events after the reporting period that are
not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements when material.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(220229 3431 H i F/&

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

(@

(b)

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the
directors have made the following judgements that have
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in
the consolidated financial statements.

Deferred tax for investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the directors have reviewed the Group’s
investment property portfolios and concluded that
the Group’s investment properties are not held under
a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in
the investment properties over time, rather than through
sale. Therefore, in determining the Group’s deferred tax
for investment properties, the directors have adopted
the presumption that investment properties measured
using the fair value model are recovered through sale.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
discussed below.

(i)  Fair value of investment property

The Group appointed an independent professional
valuer to assess the fair value of the investment
property. In determining the fair value, the valuer
has utilised a method of valuation which involves
certain estimates. The directors have exercised
their judgement and are satisfied that the method
of valuation is reflective of the current market
conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # 2202293531 HIFF/E

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

(b)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

(i)

(iii)

Impairment loss for trade and other
receivables

The Directors periodically review its receivables to
assess whether impairment exists. In determining
whether impairment should be provided, the
directors of the Company evaluated individually
each account for impairment after taking into
account the value of each client account’s
underlying collateral and the latest financial
position of those clients in default of settlement.

Impairment loss recognised in respect of
investment in an associate

Investment in an associate is reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. Value-in-use calculations
are used for assessing the recoverable amount of
this investment. These calculations require use of
judgments and estimates.

Management judgment is required for assessing
impairment particularly in assessing: (i) whether
an event has occurred that may indicate that
the related carrying value of interests may not
be recoverable; and (ii) whether the carrying
value of the interests can be supported by the
recoverable amount. Changing the estimations
used by management in assessing impairment
could materially affect the recoverable amount
used in the impairment test and as a result affect
the Group’s consolidated financial position and
consolidated results of operations. At the end
of the reporting period, the carrying value of
investment in an associate was HK$6,237,000
(2021: HK$18,798,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(220229 3431 H i F/&

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

(b)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

(iv) Property, plant and equipment and

v)

depreciation

The Group determines the estimated useful lives,
residual values and related depreciation charges
for the Group’s property, plant and equipment.
This estimate is based on the historical experience
of the actual useful lives and residual values
of property, plant and equipment of similar
nature and functions. The Group will revise
the depreciation charge where useful lives and
residual values are different to those previously
estimated, or it will write-off or write-down
technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that
have been abandoned or sold.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are reviewed
for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
of the assets exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is determined with reference
to the present value of estimated future cash
flows. Where the future cash flows are less than
expected or there are unfavourable events and
change in facts and circumstance which result in
revision of future estimate cash flows, a material
impairment loss may arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # 2202293531 HIFF/E

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

(b)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

(vi)

(vii)

Recoverability of intangible assets

During the year, the Group reconsidered the
recoverability of its intangible assets arising from
the Group’s development, which is included in
its consolidated statement of financial position
at 31 March 2022 at HK$215,000 (2021:
HK$362,000).Detailed sensitivity analysis has
been carried out and the Group is confident that
the carrying amount of the assets will be recovered
in full, even if returns are reduced. This situation
will be closely monitored, and adjustments made
in future periods, if future market activity indicates
that such adjustments are appropriate.

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in several
jurisdictions. Significant estimates are required
in determining the provision for income taxes.
There are many transactions and calculations for
which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain
during the ordinary course of business. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different
from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the income tax and
deferred tax provisions in the period in which such
determination is made.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(220229 3431 H i F/&

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

During the reporting period, the capital structure of the Group
consist of debt which includes interest-bearing loans and
equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising
issued share capital and reserves. The Directors review the
capital structure on a regular basis. As part of this review,
the Directors consider the cost of capital and the associated
risks, and take appropriate actions to adjust the Group’s
capital structure. The Group’s overall strategy remains
unchanged from prior periods.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: foreign currency risk, interest rate risk, credit risk
and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on
the Group’s financial performance.

(@) Foreign currency risk

The Group has certain exposure to foreign currency risk
as the Group’s deposits placed for life insurance policies
are denominated in United States dollar (“US$”).

The Group considers the risk exposure to foreign
currency fluctuation is limited as long as the HK$
remains pegged to the US$. This analysis is performed
on the same basis for 2022.

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency
risk as most of its business transactions, assets and
liabilities are principally denominated in the functional
currencies of the group entities. The Group currently
does not have a foreign currency hedging policy in
respect of foreign currency assets and liabilities. The
Group will monitor its foreign currency exposure closely
and will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # 2202293531 HIFF/E

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b)

(c)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s lease liabilities bear interests at fixed
interest rates and therefore are subject to fair value
interest rate risks.

The Group’s exposure to interest-rate risk arises from
its pledged bank deposits and bank borrowings. These
deposits and borrowings bear interests at variable rates
varied with the then prevailing market condition.

The Group does not consider that it has any significant
exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates
from its bank deposits and borrowings as a reasonably
possible change of 50 basis points in the interest
rates would have no material impact on the Group’s
consolidated profit or loss for the years ended 31 March
2022 and 2021.

Credit risk

The carrying amount of the cash and bank balances,
pledged bank deposits and trade and other receivables
included in the consolidated statement of financial
position represents the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk in relation to the Group’s financial assets.

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit
risk. It has policies in place to ensure that sales are
made to customers with an appropriate credit history.

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers
who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to
director’s approval. Receivable balances are monitored
on an ongoing basis to ensure that the Group’s exposure
to bad debts is not significant.

Details of the credit quality of the trade receivables
were set out in Note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(220229 3431 H i F/&

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

()

Credit risk (continued)

The credit risk on cash and bank balances and pledged
bank deposits is limited because the counterparties are
banks with high credit-ratings assigned by international
credit-rating agencies.

The Group considers whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk of financial assets
on an ongoing basis throughout each reporting period
by comparing the risk of a default occurring as at the
reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of
initial recognition. It considers available reasonable and
supportive forwarding-looking information. Especially
the following information is used:

- internal credit rating;

— actual or expected significant adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant change to the
borrower’s ability to meet its obligations;

— actual or expected significant changes in the
operating results of the borrower;

— significant increases in credit risk on other
financial instruments of the same borrower;

— significant changes in the value of the collateral
or in the quality of guarantees or credit
enhancements; and

- significant changes in the expected performance
and behaviour of the borrower, including changes
in the payment status of borrowers.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # 2202293531 HIFF/E

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

()

Credit risk (continued)

A significant increase in credit risk is presumed if a
debtor is more than 30 days past due in making a
contractual payment. A default on a financial asset
is when the counterparty fails to make contractual
payments within 180 days of when they fall due.

The customers of the Group in property and
management related services are mainly owners’
corporation, owners’ committee and sole owners of
properties concerned. The Directors are of the view
that it is unlikely that payment of accounts receivable
will be defaulted for property management and related
services rendered. In addition, the Group can always
take necessary legal actions to recover any amount
not settled by any of these customers. In respect of
customers on the money lending business, sufficient
security collateral are obtained to ensure full recovery
of loan amount in event of default payments. In respect
of rental services, normally two months rental deposits
were received and therefore the risk of default payment
is low. During the year, the Group has no history of any
default payment or bad debts in respect of it business
income.

Financial assets are written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery, such as a debtor
failing to engage in a repayment plan with the Group.
The Group normally categorises a loan or receivable
for write off when a debtor fails to make contractual
payments greater than 365 days past due. Where
loans or receivables have been written off, the Group,
if practicable and economical, continues to engage in
enforcement activity to attempt to recover the receivable
due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(220229 3431 H i F/&

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

()

(d)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group uses two categories for non-trade
receivables which reflect their credit risk and how
the loan loss provision is determined for each of the
categories. In calculating the expected credit loss
rates, the Group considers historical loss rates for each
category and adjusts for forward looking data.
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Ehl EE BEERE

Performing Low risk of default and strong 12 month expected losses
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Non-performing

B AR

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current
and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term.

The maturity profile of the Company’s financial
liabilities as at the end of reporting period, based on the
contracted undiscounted payments, was as follows:

Significant increase in credit risk

Lifetime expected losses
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More than Total

1 year hut contractual
Less than lessthan  undiscounted Carrying
On demand 1 year 5 years cash flow amounts

BRI AHAKR
REX SME BHRSE REREAE REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
2022 025 TAR TAn TER TER TER
Trade and other payables EHREMERFE - 1,121 - 1,121 1,127
Bank borrowings - secured FRE-EEE 9,000 - - 9,000 9,000
9,000 1,121 - 80,127 80,127
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GAMBREME
For the year ended 31 March 2022 # 2202293531 HIFF/E
6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6. BIKEERE (&)
(d) Liquidity risk (continued) (d #REBELRER (&)
More than Total
Tyearbut  contractual
Less than less than  undiscounted Carrying
On demand 1 year 5 years cash flow amounts
BBIE  AOAER
REX PRIE BPRSE FenElR REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
2021 20215 TET THEL TET THL TER
Trade and other payables BAREMERNTE - 80,159 - 80,159 80,159
Bank borrowings - secured  RITEE-AHHE 5,354 - - 5,354 5,354
5,354 80,159 - 85,513 85,513
(e) Categories of financial instruments e) EMITAEHR
At 31 March
M3A31H
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
Financial assets: TREE:
Financial assets at amortised 1R SRR BR Y
costs (including cash and cash TREE(BREASK
equivalents) REeEZEEW) 236,245 255,380
Financial liabilities: cRAaE:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost 12 SHpX A BRA & @t B & 80,127 85,513

Shi Shi Services Limited
B B AR 35 5 PR 2 7




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(220229 3431 H i F/&

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(f)

Fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets
and financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated
statement of financial position approximate their
respective fair values.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The following disclosures of fair
value measurements use a fair value hierarchy that
categorises into three levels the inputs to valuation
techniques used to measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities
that the Group can access at the
measurement date.

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices

included within level 1 that are

observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or

liability.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and
transfers out of any of the three levels as of the date of
the event or change in circumstances that caused the
transfer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # 2202293531 HIFF/E

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6. BIEMER (&)
()  Fair value (continued) n BREGE
(i) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 31 (i) F2022%F3A31BM AR
March 2022: BEERABE
Fair value
measurements
using: Total
FEATE
AREFE: et
Level 2 2022
-~ Ja 1 2022
HK$'000 HK$°000
Description fE FHET FET
Recurring fair value measurements: EEM QA REE :
Investment property KEYFE
Commercial — Hong Kong EESE G 30,300 30,300
Total recurring fair value KEMEARBEFERTE
measurements 30,300 30,300

Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 31

R2021F3 A31HH AR

March 2021: BEELNEE
Fair value
measurements
using: Total
Nl
NAERTE : et
Level 2 2021
EM 2021 4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
Description ¥ i FAT FET
Recurring fair value measurements: EEMHAREE :
Investment property REYZE
Commercial — Hong Kong [EE S 30,300 30,300
Total recurring fair value KEMERNREFEEE
measurements 30,300 30,300
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(220229 3431 H i F/&

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

() Fair value (continued)

(i)

(i)

(continued)

During the year, there was no asset transferred
from level 3 to other two levels of fair value
hierarchy.

Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group
and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair
value measurements at 31 March:

The Directors are responsible for the fair value
measurements of assets and liabilities required
for financial reporting purposes, including level 3
fair value measurements. The accountant reports
to the Board of Directors for these fair value
measurements.

The Group engages external valuation experts
with the recognised professional qualifications and
recent experience to perform the valuations at the
end of each reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # 2202293531 HIFF/E

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6. B # /@M &= ()
()  Fair value (continued) n BR{EGE
(i) (continued) (i (%)
Level 2 fair value measurements BoRAAEGE
Fair value Fair value
DRE AV
2022 2021
2022 2021 F
Description Valuation technique Inputs HK$’000 HK$'000
R R ER M WABE TER FET
Investment property
Commercial investment ~ Market comparable Price per square
property — Hong Kong approach feet
REYE
BEREME-FTE WHABLERE BYARER 30,300 30,300
The valuation for investment property as at 31 2022 F %2021 F 3 A31
March 2022 and 2021 was performed by Jones HEREMEREE I BB

Lang LaSalle Corporate Appraisal and Advisory
Limited, an independent professional valuer.

The valuation of the Group’s investment properties
was performed using the market comparable
approach. The key input is the sales price per
square feet for similar properties in similar
locations, which is an observable input. The
valuation also included inputs other than quoted
prices included within level 1 that are observable
for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.
Therefore, the Group’s investment properties were
classified within level 2 of fair value hierarchy.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(220229 3431 H i F/&

REVENUE 7. WiH

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of property AEERFATFEREREMEER
management and related services, properties investment and NARERRT - MERERREZER -
money lending business during the year. An analysis of the FARKENEERRES2TAT

Group’s revenue recognised during the year is as follows:

2022 2021
2022 2021 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHETT
Provision of property management and related 2t # % & 18 RIHE RS
services 519,778 508,986
Revenue from contracts with customers XEEAH W= 519,778 508,986
Rental income from investment property REMERS KA 1,377 1,242
Loan interest income from money lending WEZERFEWA 3,796 888
Total revenue gy k- 524,951 511,116
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers: BEPEHRm D -
Provision of property management and related services RHYEESE R ABRERK
2022 2021
2022 2021 4
HK$’000 HK$'000
For the year ended 31 March BZ3A31HLEE FExT FET
Geographical markets HEMIS
Hong Kong &5 482,448 469,452
The PRC H 37,330 39,534
519,778 508,986
Major services FTER®K
Property management services Y EIE R 488,801 471,398
Stand-alone security services B IR RS 30,977 32,614
Property management consultancy Y % & 12 B [ AR 7%
services - 4,974
519,778 508,986
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # 2202293531 HIFF/E

7.

REVENUE (continued)

For the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, all revenue
from provision of property management services, stand-alone
security services and property management consultancy
services are recognised over time.

Property management services fees, stand-alone security
services and property management consultancy services
fees are recognized on a monthly basis when the services
are rendered. The amount for which can be reliably
estimated and it is probable that the income will be received.
The property management services fees and property
management consultancy services fees are due on the end of
each month.

There was no performance obligations that are unsatisfied
pursuant to HKFRS 15.120 during the years ended 31
March 2022 and 31 March 2021.

Wz (%)

HE2022F K2021F3A31 B L4
B RRHYEEERS BUREZR
BRESEERRGSHAMA WY
SWERRER -

MEEEREE  BURTRIELD
¥ ERERRGERNIRERSRIZA
WER o 2 RERL Al SE AT A R AT RE IR
BUA - MESEREE N EETE
BERREERS ARER -

REE2022F3 A31 H & 202143
A31BHILFE  RIBBFEMIEHRELE
AIZ515.120%% @ MBI MIAREBITZE
WEMT -

INTEREST REVENUE F B U =5
2022 2021
2022 £ 2021 4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAETT
Bank interest income RITH B YA 134 702
Interest income from bond receivable  FEUYE A FIl 2 Ug A 26 -

Interest income from deposits placed MASREFZANEZRH

for life insurance policies A B A 298 304
458 1,006

Shi Shi Services Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(220229 3431 H i F/&

OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSES, NET 9. HMKWAKRREX  FE
2022 2021
2022 £ 2021 4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FETT
Gain on disposal of property, HEWE - BEREZEHKE
plant and equipment - 100
Government subsidies (Note 1) BT aL (A1) - 38,279
Other expenses paid to MEFTREBELG2
incorporate owners HEaFEZ - (18,351)
Commission income =N 30 -
Exchange gain M 5 e - 150
Others (Note 2) Hth(Hfat2) 3,250 341
3,280 20,519
Notes: Hiat
(1) The Group recognised government subsidies of approximately (1) HZE2021F3A318ILFE  AEHEAF
HK$38.3 million for the year ended 31 March 2021 from the BB R BUT HE B IR B 5T S R IR
Employment Support Scheme launched by the HKSAR Government. Ji 48 B 49 38,300,000/8 7T ©
(2)  Amount included approximately HK$2,865,000 which represented (2) HeHEPEREETIVREETIENRER

reversal of provision for special allowance to incorporate owners.

&R E14) 2,865,000 % IT ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # 2202293531 HIFF/E

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION

(@

Reportable segments

The Group has three (2021: three) reportable
segments. The Group’s reportable segments are
strategic business units that offer different products and
services. They are managed separately because each
business requires different technology and marketing
strategies. The following summary describes the
operations in each of the Group’s reportable segments:

(i)  Provision of property management and related
services;

(i) Properties investment; and
(iii)  Money lending business.

The accounting policies of the operating segments
are the same as those described in note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements. Segment profits or
losses do not include dividend income and gains or
losses from investments. Segment assets do not include
investments. Segment non-current assets do not
include deferred tax assets and financial instruments.

The Group accounts for intersegment sales and
transfers as if the sales or transfers were to third parties,
i.e. at current market prices.

Shi Shi Services Limited
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(i) MERE K
(i) EEF

R B S R BUR SR A B 75
WRMESFAEMER - 2 8
BRI S A LA R 3%
BHWmsEiE - DR EETE
BRE - DEERBDEETBR
EXETAEEREMTE -

RE B D EREHE MEERIE
MEBHEERERIAE=T
(BMZIRESTHE) tF 2 T AN ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Reportable segments (continued)

Business segments

10. 2 HEH (&)
(@) T2HDIH (M)
() HHZH

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BZ2222F3831BLFE
Provision of

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(220229 3431 H i F/&

property
management Money
and related Properties lending
services  investment business Total
REME
EE \ )
B R % MERE BEXHK Bt
HKS000  HK$000  HKSO00  HK$'000
BT TERT TERT BT
Reportable segment revenue: ] 2R Sz ¢
Revenue from external REINREFPH
customers g 519,778 1,377 3,796 524,951
Reportable segment 2N (ER)/
(loss)/profit i Al (6,876) 1,201 3,412 (2,263)
Depreciation of property, plant  ¥1% - Bz &
and equipment RIETE 10,044 4 - 10,048
Depreciation of right-of-use ~ EREEENE
assets 4,476 - 172 4,648
Amortisation of intangible assets & E# 5 145 - - 145
Income tax expense e 854 178 583 1,615
Interest revenue F B Ms 432 - 26 458
Interest expense FERE 656 - 8 664
Additions to property, plantand FEW% - BiE R
equipment B 65,458 - - 65,458
At 31 March 2022
H202253A31H
Provision
of property
management Money
and related Properties lending
services investment business Total
RENE
HER% MERE BEEHK ‘st
HKSO00  HKS000  HK$00D  HK$'000
TER TERT TET BT
Reportable segment assets ~ AI WA HEE 306,567 31,075 43,010 380,652
Reportable segment liabilities 7] £ #7928 (& 96,274 388 1,071 97,733
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # 2202293531 HIFF/E

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
(@) Reportable segments (continued)

()  Business segments (continued)

10. 2 #EF (&)
(@) TEFH7 (&)
() XHDE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2021

HE2021F3A3181LFE
Provision
of property
management Money
and related Properties lending
servicgs investment business Total
N ES
TR o - \
RS MERE MEZEH @t
HK$000  HK$000  HK$O000  HK$000
TET TET THBT TET
Reportable segment revenue: 7] 235 2PUE ¢
Revenue from external REIAEFH
customers g 508,986 1,242 888 511,116
Reportable segment profit A 28| HEF 49,533 1,106 645 51,284
Depreciation of property, plant  #1% - BifE &
and equipment RIEWE 4,597 8 - 4,605
Depreciation of right-of-use ~ {EFAREE
assets nE 3,932 - 189 4,121
Amortisation of intangible assets &4 E# 85 1,705 - - 1,705
Income tax expense FTEMA Y 4,285 158 98 4,541
Interest revenue il Bz 1,006 - - 1,006
Interest expense MERZ 536 - 11 547
Additions to property, NENE  BE R
plant and equipment B 29,427 - - 29,427
At 31 March 2021
2021 F3 A31H
Provision
of property
management Money
and related Properties lending
services investment business Total
S
TEN o o \
RS MERE MEER Bt
HKS000  HK$000  HKSO000  HK$000
TET TET FAET BT
Reportable segment assets AE/HLEE 303,890 31,061 19,995 354,946
Reportable segment liabilites A2 { A& E 101,918 344 308 102,570
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(220229 3431 H i F/&

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 10. HEHEH ()

(@) Reportable segments (continued) (@) TTE2HmDIL(E)

(ii) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue, (i) TIRHH LU % F Sk s

profit or loss, assets and liabilities: B EBERBENYEE:
2022 2021
2022 & 2021 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
Year ended 31 March BZE3ABLEE FExT FET
Revenue Yz
Reportable segment revenue and 7] £ {5 ZpU S K
consolidated revenue A WS 524,951 511,116
Profit or loss s A 2 g5 18
Reportable segment (loss)/profits 7] 2 ¥R 5 & (E5148) %% 7 (2,263) 51,284
Unallocated other income Ao EREEAMUA 30 38
Share of loss of an associate Db —MEEE R R EE (8,133) (5,130)
Impairment of investment in an R—EBEARZ
associate HERE (4,428) (16,500)
Unallocated corporate expenses A&7 Bi b (9,540) (9,263)
Unallocated finance costs Ko BB E A AR - (34)
Consolidated (loss)/profit before tax BBiFI 4= 4S (B5E) HF (24,334) 20,395
2022 2021
2022 £ 2021 4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
At 31 March M3A31H FET FET
Assets BE
Reportable segment assets AEHROHEE 380,652 354,946
Unallocated cash and cash AR NIBEEEY
equivalents 7,238 36,191
Other unallocated corporate assets H R D BB ¥ E E 9,895 31,507
Consolidated total assets mEEERE 397,785 422 644
Liabilities =R
Reportable segment liabilities AE2RoHamE 97,733 102,570
Unallocated corporate liabilities Ao ERE 1,663 1,103
Consolidated total liabilities meEBEERE 99,396 103,673
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # 2202293531 HIFF/E

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 10. 2 EER (E)
(b) Geographical information (b) HEER
Revenue Non-current assets
g FREBEE
2022 2021 2022 2021

2022 2021 4 2022 2021 %
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THETT FTHERT TAETT

Hong Kong BB 487,621 471,582 78,811 103,600
The PRC H 37,330 39,534 82,865 61,466

524,951 511,116 161,676 165,066

(c) Information about major customers c) FRXEEFMESR

An analysis of the Group’s revenue from major services AREERE FEZRBWREB DT
is set out in note 7 above. No customer accounted for R EXHIRET7 - BZ= 2022 F K
10 percent or more of the total revenue for the years 20213 A31HILFE #HER

ended 31 March 2022 and 2021. FAE U 10% A E o

11. FINANCE COSTS 11. ME KR

2022 2021
2022 & 2021 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FHTT
Interest expenses on bank borrowings ~ $R771& & F| 8 52 74 110
Interest on lease liabilities MEEENE 590 471
664 581

Shi Shi Services Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12. (LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(220229 3431 H i F/&

12. FR(ER) &

The Group’s (loss)/profit for the year is arrived at after REEFAN (E8) a2 F &k,
charging/(crediting): (5t A) T%|IEB 1% EE -
2022 2021
2022 2021 %
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FETT
Staff costs (including directors’ BTIWA(BREESHM)
remuneration):
— Salaries, wages and allowances —%%  TENEBRL 417,847 398,402
— Employee share-based compensation — B& 7 #2 B 5t 2 1 LARR D S+t
benefits of Share Award Scheme # & 8 B < 18 A 2,519 -
— Retirement benefits scheme —IRIKEH TSI
contributions 12,068 11,156
432,434 409,558
Auditors’ remuneration Z B & 750 750
Depreciation of property, plant and ME  BMENEBEITE
equipment 10,600 4,677
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEERE 4,648 4,674
Amortisation of intangible assets EEEEE 157 1,705
Expenses related to short-term lease MHEERBE X 46 107
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # 2202293531 HIFF/E

13. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID

INDIVIDUAL EMOLUMENTS

(@) Directors’ and senior management’s emoluments

(@)

EERESREEANEHMH

Salaries,
allowances

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BZ2022%3A31ALFE

Contributions

13. EER ANV HSH A L E M

and other  to retirement
Fees henefits scheme Total
2R BK
e  He\EA  FEHR @t
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
iz TER TERr TER TER
Executive directors: HTES
Huang Liming (Chairman) BRR(1E) 240 - 12 252
Ho Ying Choi fe] FE B - 4,448 18 4,466
Lee Chin Ching, Cyrix FR2 - 720 18 738
Independent non-executive BT
directors: EE
Tso Siu Lun, Alan Bl () 20 - - 20
Lam Kai Yeung R 120 - - 120
Lo Chi Ho, Richard EER 120 - - 120
Lin Dongming PR B 0, 100 - - 100
600 5,168 48 5,816

Shi Shi Services Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(220229 3431 H i F/&

13. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID

INDIVIDUAL EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(@) Directors’ and senior management’s emoluments

(continued)

13. EER ANV RS H A L 5l

(

(@)

&)

For the year ended 31 March 2021

EERaREEABTM (&)

HZE2021F3A31AL5E
Salaries,
allowances  Contributions
and other  to retirement
Fees benefits scheme Total
He 2
we  REMEF  RKFBIHRK CH
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Mzt TET TET TET THBT
Executive directors: HITES:
Huang Liming (Chairman) B8R (1E) 240 588 - 828
Ho Ying Choi fe] FE Bt - 2,244 18 2,262
Lee Chin Ching, Cyrix FER - 444 18 462
Eric Todd BRI (i) - 180 9 189
Independent non-executive B FEHTT
directors: R
Tso Siu Lun, Alan Efd () 120 - - 120
Lam Kai Yeung RS 120 - - 120
Lo Chi Ho, Richard BER 120 - - 120
600 3,456 45 4,101
Notes: e

(i) Mr. Tso Siu Lun, Alan has resigned as an independent non-
executive director of the Company with effect from 1 June

2021.

(i) Mr. Lin Dongming was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company with effect from 1 June

2021.

(i)~ Mr. Eric Todd has resigned as an executive director of the
Company with effect from 1 October 2020.

() EHERELEREARABEILIENR
TEE H2021F6 A1 BEAER -

(i)  MEREALLEEZ T RARREILIE

o

HITEE 5202166 A1 B A

(i)

ERBELCHEARARTE
£ B2020F 10 A 1 HBAER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # 2202293531 HIFF/E

13. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUAL EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(b)

()

Five highest paid individual emoluments

(&)
(b)

One (2021: Two) of the five highest paid individuals of
the Group was the director whose emolument is set out
in the above. For the year ended 31 March 2022, the
remaining four (2021: three) employees’ emoluments of

the Group were as follows:

13. EER ANV RS H A L 5l

AURESHALTHHN

AEBRNEMNSZSHEALTEE—
H(2021F - MB)EE - HFH
BN EE 1B ER L3 - B = 20224 3
A31BEFE % T4 (2021
F:=ZF)AEBRERENFH W
T~

2022 2021

2022 £ 2021 4F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT FABTT

Basic salaries and allowances HAH 4 MoERL 4,953 3,828

Discretionary bonus [N 2,249 454
Retirement benefit scheme RIREFET B

contributions 36 36

7,238 4318

The emoluments fell within the following bands:

FMNFTHIEE -

Number of individuals

Emolument band:

Nil — HK$1,000,000
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000
HK$2,000,001 — HK$2,500,000
HK$4,000,001 — HK$4,500,000

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group

FMeE -

Z 2 1,000,000 7T

1,000,001 #% 7t —1,500,000 7% 7T
2,000,001 7 7t —2,500,000 7 7T
4,000,001 7% 7t 4,500,000 7T

(c)

to any of the directors or the highest paid individuals as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office. In addition, none of the
directors waived any emoluments during the reporting

period (2021: Nil).

Shi Shi Services Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(220229 3431 H i F/&

14. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 14. FRBHEAX

For the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, Hong Kong
Profit Tax is calculated under two-tier profit tax system under
first HK$2 millions of estimated assessable profits is taxed at
a rate of 8.25% and remaining estimated assessable profits
is taxed at 16.5%. The Group should elect one of the Hong
Kong subsidiaries to apply the two-tier profit tax rate.

The PRC corporate income tax is calculated at a rate of 25%
unless otherwise specified, on the estimated assessable
profits arising from the operation of the PRC subsidiaries.

HE2022F K2021F3A31 B IE4HF
B BENEHBERRFGSHEE
HIEFTE - & 200 8B aT ERN R
12 8.25% M T R BFH - Mer NS
JE SR T 0% A B #2 16.5% HO T R R ©
AEEREREEF—HEEMNBAR
FERM AN EFHBE -

RRBEPEIN  PREEEMEHR
P EM B AR EEMEL TR
AR IR TR R 25% 51 5

2022 2021
2022 £ 2021 4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHTT

Current tax— Hong Kong Profits Tax BEAT IR — BB MG
— Provision for the year —F G 1,681 3,104
— One-off deduction —— KRR (70) (70)
1,611 3,034

Current tax- PRC BN EAFH I8 —

— Provision for the year —FNEE 243 782
Deferred tax (note 25) EIEREIE (£ 25) (239) 725
1,615 4541
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # 2202293531 HIFF/E

14. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 14. FiI88iMA X (&)
The reconciliation between the income tax expense and the FTS %17 S ERBR B AT (B518) I FI Tk
product of (loss)/profit before tax multiplied by the Hong NEBFEHEENFRBLRNOT -

Kong Profits Tax rate is as follows:

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
(Loss)/profit before tax BRELAT (&1E), R F (24,334) 20,395
Tax calculated at Hong Kong Profittax & EFSH M L 8.25% 1 E A
rate of 8.25% (2021: 8.25%) 18 (2021 F : 8.25%) 165 165
Tax calculated at Hong Kong Profit tax 12 & B RS F K 16.5% st EHY
rate of 16.5% (2021: 16.5%) I8 (2021 4F : 16.5%) (4,345) 3,035
Effect of different tax calculation basis ¥/ B A TR ERE R
for the PRC ze (350) (330)
Tax effect of income that is not taxable ~ H 78R U AT 5 52 2
(Note a) (Htita) (3,952) (7,561)
Tax effect of expenses that are not AR R G2
deductible (Note b) (Htztp) 10,167 9,302

One-off deduction — R MR (70) (70)

Income tax expense BIESTiEba 1,615 4,541

Notes: Hiaz -

(@) Income that is non-taxable mainly include non-taxable government (a) DBEFRBHUAEEEIEDEFERMR
subsidies (net of other expenses paid to incorporate owners), interest B (MR REFLREBRIZ N 2 EAiFH
income and compensation income. %)~ MEBWARBERA -

(b)  Expenses that are not tax deductible mainly include directors’ (b) TAMBAZETEBREARFIRRFA
salaries, rent, impairment loss on property, plant and equipment, WEEEERRRBMAZHBARIZES
goodwill and investment in an associate, legal and profession fees e e UE BEARE BEK
for the Company and subsidiaries which no assessable income was R—EBEARRENRERBE =&
generated during the year. REXEER-
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15.

16.

17.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(220229 3431 H i F/&

(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic (loss)/earnings per share

The calculation of basic (loss)/earnings per share
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the
loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company of
approximately HK$25,949,000 (2021: profit of approximately
HK$15,856,000) and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares of 1,048,846,890 (2021: 1,026,351,515) in
issue during the year.

Diluted earnings per share

The effects of all potential ordinary shares are anti-dilutive for
the year ended 31 March 2022.

No diluted earnings per share are presented as the Company
did not have any dilutive potential ordinary share outstanding
during the years ended 31 March 2021.

DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid or proposed for the year ended 31
March 2022, nor has any dividend been proposed since the
end of the reporting period and up to the date of this rerpot.
(2021: Nil).

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group operates a mandatory provident fund scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for all qualifying employees in
Hong Kong. The Group’s contributions to the MPF Scheme
are calculated at 5% of the salaries and wages subject to a
monthly maximum amount of contribution of HK$1,500 per
employee and vest fully with employees when contributed
into the MPF Scheme.

15.

16.

17.

2k (BR) &F
SREX (F]) /B

ANRHA ANEGFRER(BE)
BF TR RN B R AEETAEE
#925,949,0007% 7T (2021 4F : & | 49
15,856,000/ 70) K F A E 17 @
PR AN S 35 8 1,048,846,890 M (2021
£ :1,026,351,515/0%) 51 & -

BREFRF

BZE2022F3A31HIEFE -ABEE
T i P B R B U o

HZE2021FE3A831BIEEE AKX
NE) W B A BEITEINEEEE L B
B MW EZYFREERT -

Hﬁ /%\

HZE2022F3 A3l BILFEMES
SERBRMNTMAKE - RSB
RUREEEAREHBENEZZR
RHEAR] AR B (2021 4F : £) -

RAKE RS

AEERBEEBRIIEATE R EME
FIRFEEENEEREBRILAS
HREEFTE ([BEEE]) - A%
BE BB S NHFIIREF & &
TES% R (BUEIBAZEMHR
EHS1,50087T) - BEFRZA T
BETTEN TR EESMA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # 2202293531 HIFF/E

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18. ¥I% - BERRE

Landand  Leasehold Furniture and Office Motor ~ Plantand Construction
huildings  improvement fiture  equipment vehicle ~ machinery in progress Total
tHE  BENE BFRER BAE BER
BT # £E B AE HBE HEEIR At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
i T i TEn FiEn i TEn T
CosT A
At 1 April 2020 RAON0E4A1E 9513 4158 1880 4337 2,356 116 12329 34,689
Additions nE - 18323 3318 2647 - 19 5,208 29,515
Disposal e - - - - (590) - - (590)
Exchange realignment 3] - - 14 67 4 16 1213 1314
At 31 March 2021 and W21 E3A318%

1 April 2021 1F4A1R 9,513 22,481 5,212 7,051 1,770 151 18,750 64,928
Additions hE 52,664 607 1,649 1,625 600 107 8,221 65,473
Disposal e - (9,885) - - (604) (52) - (10,541)
Exchange realignment R 79 - 28 Ly 2 9 894 1,11
31 March 2022 R0 EIR3NE B9 13203 6889 878 1768 a5 25 121631
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION Z3ti7ERHE

AND IMPAIRMENT
At 1 April 2020 RON0E4A1H 921 4071 1239 3904 2346 25 - 12506
Provided during the year ~ FRE 307 3,663 164 50 10 ke - 4677
Disposal e - - - - (590) - - (590)
Exchange realignment R - - 11 62 4 9 - 86
M3LMach202lend  R2021%3831A %

1 April 2021 1FLA1R 1,228 1,134 1414 4466 1,770 67 - 16,679
Provided during the year ~ FRE 1,561 5,158 2,046 1,294 476 65 - 10,600
Disposal e - (9,883) - - (480) (43) - (10,406)
Impairment loss recognised in B8 TEZAH

profit o loss REFE - - - - - - 7,049 7,049
Exchange realignment R 19 - 30 3 2 6 107 199
31 March 2022 H00E3A31A 2008 3009 340 5795 1768 % N6 4
CARRYING AMOUNT REE
At 31 March 2022 RA0243A318 60,165 10,194 3,399 2,923 - 120 20,709 97,510
At 31 March 2021 R221E3A31A 8285 14,747 379% 2585 - 84 18750 48,249

At 31 March 2022, the land and buildings with net
carrying amount of approximately HK$7,978,000 (2021:
approximately HK$8,285,000) was pledged to secure bank

facilities granted to the Group.

Shi Shi Services Limited
B B AR 35 5 PR 2 7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(220229 3431 H i F/&

19. INVESTMENT PROPERTY 19. REWE

2022 2021

2022 & 2021 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERx FHETT
At 1 April R4A1H 30,300 30,300
Fair value loss on investment property & &M EH QA EEIE - -
At 31 March M3 A31H 30,300 30,300
Investment property was revalued at 31 March 2022 and KEMFRBET ZXEAEMMPEHT
2021 on the open market value basis by reference to PEFGELRBRABRARZERUY
market evidence of recent transactions for similar properties ¥H IR IMSEBRZARAMER
by Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate Appraisal and Advisory 2022 F M 2021 F3 A31 HE, ©

Limited, an independent professional valuer.

At 31 March 2022, the investment property with net carrying R2022F3 A31H R\ FE

amount of HK$30,300,000 (2021: HK$30,300,000) was /30,300,000 T (2021 4F
pledged to secure bank facilities granted to the Group. 30,300,000/% 7t) M E W % B 1B

o ARER T ASENRITRE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # 2202293531 HIFF/E

20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

20. B EE

Customer Computer
contracts softwares Total
BEFEHN EiEE Y &%t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FETT
COST KA
At 1 April 2021 R2021F4 A 1H 2,148 6,927 9,075
Additions NE - 91) (91)
Exchange realignment bE N SR 16 21 37
At 31 March 2021 and MR2021F3HA318 &

1 April 2021 2021F4 A1H 2,164 6,857 9,021
Exchange realignment PE N R - 13 13
At 31 March 2022 R20224F3 A31H 2,164 6,870 9,034
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION 25N
At 1 April 2021 R2021F4 A 1H 1,588 5,344 6,932
Amortisation for the year FENEEH 446 1,259 1,705
Exchange realignment ME 5 98 B 11 11 22
At 31 March 2021 and R2021F3 A31H &

1 April 2021 2021F4 A 1H 2,045 6,614 8,659
Amortisation for the year F 5 117 40 157
Exchange realignment bE R 2 1 3
At 31 March 2022 202243 A31 H 2,164 6,655 8,819
CARRYING AMOUNT: BRMEE :

At 31 March 2022 202243 A31 H - 215 215
At 31 March 2021 R20214F3 A31H 119 243 362

Customer contracts of approximately HK$2,054,000 and
HK$94,000 were acquired through the acquisition of
Yorkshire Property Management Company Limited (“YSL")
on 30 June 2016 and Shi Shi Property (Cayman) Limited
(“Shi Shi Property Cayman”) on 29 March 2019 respectively.

Shi Shi Services Limited
B B AR 35 5 PR 2 7

BB A #1492,054,0007% 7T & 94,000
BT D RIS @R 201646 A30 H
WENTEDEETEREAR QA
(T'YSLY) 22201943 A 29 H Ut B& i
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(220229 3431 H i F/&

20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

The customer contracts are the property management
business’s critical value driver. They represent the values of
rights that arise from contractual arrangement. The customer
contracts is fully amortised during the year ended 31 March
2022.

The computer software mainly included an internal
management system acquired during the year ended 31
March 2017 which functions address book management
for office usage, office communication and office bulletin for
property management business, and accounting software.
The remaining amortisation period of the computer softwares
are 1.25 years.

Impairment test of intangible assets
Customer contract

Goodwill of HK$785,000 and intangible assets (customer
contracts) of approximately HK$2,054,000 were acquired
through the business combination of Yorkshire Property
Management Limited (“YSL”) on 30 June 2016. Goodwill
of approximately HK$2,447,000 and intangible assets of
approximately HK$94,000 was acquired through acquisition
of Shi Shi Property (Cayman) Limited (“Shi Shi Property
Cayman”) on 29 March 2019. These goodwill and intangible
assets were belongs to the cash generating unit (“CGU")
of provision of property management services. Goodwill is
tested annually for impairment. The recoverable amounts of
the CGU are determined on the basis of their value in use
using discounted cash flow method.

The Group’s impairment test on goodwill with reference
to the recoverable amounts of the CGU also covered the
impairment test for intangible assets belongs to the same
CGU. For details of the impairment test are disclosed in note
23 to the consolidated financial statements.

For computer software
The Group’s computer software mainly used for property

management business. No impairment was recorded during
the year.

0. B EE (&)

BEPEARMEEERBNEIREE
BN EAEHNLBEEENENEE-
BEPERREZE 202243 31 AILEF
O BB

ERTMETEBRENEE 201743 A
BIBESEBENARIEERS A
ERAERENEASER  YWXRE
BEEBOPNEBANBRERM
AR &t IR o B H) R R
BN 1.25%F ©

BIPEEZRERH
EF&HK

7850008 TR EFEE (BF
B #) #12,054,0008 T T iE B A
EMEERBREBER AR (TYSL]) B
2016 F6 A30 A 2 ¥ KA HMmEA °
BE %2447 0008 TR EFEELD
94,0007 JT T4 @ H 20194 3 A 29
AUWERRYE (FH=S) AR AR ([
BYERS)MBA ZERERE
FEEBNERMEERRE 2H
EXBEN((ReEELEMN]) - BFY
eYHFHEETREIA -BREeELE
iz AT B & 58 iz FE AR IR &R
EFFTEEFTHEBRZEEET -

AEERSERGES BN 2 /KA
TREZBERENATESBNA
RIMReELSEN 2 BEEERE
A - BEBENHA ZFBERGES M
MR T 23K EE -

BEEBAME

AEENERTTEZRANYEERE
X5 o FRLEIFFRE ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # 2202293531 HIFF/E

21. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 21. FREEE
2022 2021
2022 & 20214
Disclosures of lease-related items: HEHEBREAENEE HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FAET
Right-of-use assets FTRAEEE
— Land and buildings — T RETF 8,900 12,401
— Motor vehicles — A8 986 862
— Office equipment — PRI 29 59
9,915 13,322
The maturity analysis, based on BIEAMBERERE
undiscounted cash flows, of the Group’s ZAEEHEEEZ
lease liabilities is as follows: FIER AT
— Less than 1 year —LR1F 3,526 4,743
— Between 1 and 2 years —1ZE2F 7 3,007 2,848
— Between 2 and 5 years —2Z5FE 7 4,342 7,010
10,875 14,601
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets f# FREEETER X
— Land and buildings —THRETF 4,144 4,349
— Motor vehicles — A8 475 296
— Office equipment YN 29 29
4,648 4674
Lease interests MEFE 590 471
Expenses related to short-term leases HEAAERENAX 46 107
Total cash outflow for leases BEERESING 5,110 5,225
Additions to right-of-use assets REFHREE 1,263 12,524

The Group leases various land and buildings, motor vehicles
and office equipment. Lease agreements are typically made
for fixed periods of 1 to 5 years. Lease terms are negotiated
on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different
terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose
any covenants and the leased assets may not be used as

security for borrowing purposes.

Shi Shi Services Limited
B B AR 35 5 PR 2 7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(220229 3431 H i F/&

22. SUBSIDIARIES 22. ffEB AT
Particulars of the Company’s major subsidiaries are set out RAREENBRAIZFIBTEIIAT
below:
Percentage of
ownership interest
Place of incorporation/ Issued and attributable to
Name registration/operation  paid-up capital the Company Principal activities
HMERL/ BRITR AAREEEEA

£ B/ EEE  HERK BENEDL IEXRH
Kong Shum Union Property Management  British Virgin Islands ~ US$11 100% indirect Investment holding

Group Limited (“KSG")
BRBANEERERERAG(KSG)) EBRRES N 100% [ REZR
Kong Shum Union Property Management  Hong Kong HK$22,000,000 100% indirect Provision of property management

Company Limited (“KSU") services
BABENZERERAA(ERES]) BE 22,000,000 100% % RENZEERE
K-King Cleaning Services Limited (“K-King") Hong Kong HK$100 100% indirect Provision of cleaning services
EYBRRBEERAR (THS]) B 100%7T 100% fi# REERRY
Q&V Security Company Limited (“Q&V") ~ Hong Kong HK$2,100,000 100% indirect Provision of security services
EREHRRAR(ER)) e 2,100,000/ 100% RERZRS
Yorkshire Property Management Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 100% indirect Provision of property management

("YSL") Services
WRENEEERBERARYSL)  FA 1,000,000 %7 100% RUNZERRE
More Rise Investment Limited (“MRIL") Hong Kong HK$2 100% indirect Properties investment
AEREBRAF (TMRIL) & 28T 100% &% NERE
Fortune Trend Investment Limited (“FTIL") ~ Hong Kong HK$2 100% indirect Properties investment
AERERRAR(FTIL) &k 28T 100% i NERE
Lucky Stone Investments Limited (“LSI") ~ British Virgin Islands ~ US$1 100% direct Investment holding
Lucky Stone Investments Limited ([LSI])  EBRZEHE E 100% % REER
Lucky Stone Property Investment Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$100 100% indirect Provision of property agency services
Lucky Stone Property Investment Limited &8 10087t 100% % RENZERERS

Annual Report 2021/22
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # 2202293531 HIFF/E

22. SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 22, Ht/EATE (&)
Percentage of
ownership interest
Place of incorporation/ Issued and attributable to
Name registration/operation  paid-up capital the Company Principal activities
HMRL/ BRITR AAREEREEA
£ B/ EEnE  HERXK BENEDL ITEXH
Lucky Stone Finance Limited Hong Kong HK$100 100% indirect Money lending business
Lucky Stone Finance Limited Bk 10057t 100% % HEES
One Direction Property Management Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% indirect Dormant
Company Limited
RENEEREARRA e 10,0007% 7 100% i BEeZ
Shi Shi Property Limited British Virgin Islands ~ US$50,000 100% direct Investment holding
BENEERAA EBRAHE 50,000% T 100% B RERK
Happy Living Networks Technology Limited  British Virgin Islands ~ US$50,000 100% direct Investment holding
REERERMERA R EBRAES 50,0005 T 100% B % REBR
Shi Shi Network Technology (Hong Kong) ~ Hong Kong HK$1.00 100% indirect Investment holding
Limited
REBRRMERAR BB 100 100% fé REBR
Shi Shi Property (Cayman) Limited Cayman US$50,000 100% direct Investment holding
BENX(R2)ARAF Fe 50,000E 7T 100% E% RERR
Shi Shi Future Property Service Limited British Virgin Islands ~ US$50,000 100% indirect Investment holding
BRARNERBERAT EBRAES 50,000% 7T 100% RAER
Shi Shi Property Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% indirect Investment holding
HENEERAT &k 10,0007t 100% i REAER
HEREENEREERL T PRC HK$30,000,0000  100% indirect Provision of property management and
(D AR consultancy services
i 30,000,000 100%@#% REMEEE R ARE
BERERTERAR® PRC RMB50,000,0002  100% indirect Provision of property management
Services
i AR #50,000,0007T2 100% % RUMEEERE
IREREEEEFRAR PRC RMB50,000,000°  100% indirect Provision of property management
Services
. AR #50,000,0007% 100% RENFEERE

Shi Shi Services Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # 2202243531 A1FF/E

22. SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 22, KD E ()

Percentage of
ownership interest
Place of incorporation/ Issued and attributable to

Name registration/operation  paid-up capital the Company Principal activities

gMEL/ BEITR RAAEEEEA

£ B/ EENY BERAE EHNED FTEEK

EeRBRREBERARDL PRC RMBS5,000,0004 100% indirect Provision of property management

services
i AE5,000,00070¢ 100% % RENEERRHB
FTrEENERBERARL PRC RMB30,000,000°  100% indirect Provision of property management
Services
t AR #30,000,0007T° 100% i RENEEERE
BRENERBERAA PRC RMB1,000,000 100% indirect Provision of property management
services
ﬁtﬂ ARE1,000,0007  100% RENEEERE
\WREENEREER A PRC RMB6,000,000 100% indirect Provision of property management
services
i ARE6,00000070  100% A% RENEERRB
BENERE (BR)BRAFY PRC RMBS5,000,0006 100% indirect Provision of property management
services
t ARE5,000,0007¢ 100% i RENEEERE
RRNERS CEE) BB AR PRC RMBS5,000,0007 100% indirect Provision of property management
services
s ARE5,000,000707 100% RENEEBRE
BENERE (ER) BRAF PRC RMBS5,000,0008 100% indirect Provision of property management
services
i AE5,000,000708 100% % RENEERRHB

Notes: Bt -

(1)  The registered capital of J 18 1% 4 & is HK$30,000,000, of which (1) S AEE 2 52t & 78 430,000,000 7%
approximately HK$3,259,000 has been paid up as at 31 March 7T E 493,259,000 7% 7T 12 2022 F K&
2022and 2021. 20213 A31EEHR ©

(2)  The registered capital of B #4848 H 1l R 2 &) is RMB50,000,000, 2 BEHEBERMBERARZTMER
of which RMB41,000,000 and RMB26,000,000 has been paid up as A AR #50,000,0007T Eff AR
at 31 March 2022 and 2021, respectively. 41,000,000 7t & A K % 26,000,000 7T 7

B 2022 £ 2 2021 €3 A1 HEHE °

(3) The registered capital of t REBHEEEEBR 2 A, is R RKKEREEBRARZFME

RMB50,000,000, of which RMB3,250,000 has been paid up as at 31

March 2022.

A ANE®50,000,0007T - Ep AR

3,250,000 7T/ 202243 A31 HEHE °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # 2202293531 HIFF/E

22. SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

22. B AR (&)

Notes: (continued) Wit - (&

(4)  The registered capital of BB MERE (FEE) BR QA is (4) REWERS (ES)BRARZEME
RMB5,000,000, of which RMB3,000,000 has been paid up as at 31 KA AR 5,000,000 - Hep ARE
March 2022. 3,000,000 JTHA2022F 3 A31 HESHRE

(5)  The registered capital of Jt 7 & B 47 2 Az 7% 45 fR 2 &) has not been (5 REEVERBBRARZFMER
paid up as at 31 March 2022. R2022F3 A31 HB KRR °

(6) The registered capital of BB X IR7% (I8 &) GR 2 F is (6) MRMERE(EAR)BRARZFME
RMB5,000,000, of which RMB500,000 has been paid up as at 31 KA ANRBES50000005T  Hb AR
March 2022. 500,000 TR 2022 FE3 A31 HE ST -

(7)  The registered capital of BB ¥ ¥ R 7% OS18) AR A 7 is (7) BEDERBCEEBERAFZAMRE
RMBS5,000,000, of which RMB500,000 has been paid up as at 31 B AN RS 000,000 - H AR
March 2022. 500,000 TR 2022 F3 A31 HEH R »

(8) The registered capital of BB M ERE CE/M) BR QA is 8 WBRWERBE(CER) BRARZAME
RMB5,000,000, which has not been paid up as at 31 March 2022. KA A R#5,000,0007T » ER 202243

A3l BEAERE -

(9)  The subsidiaries are wholly foreign-owned enterprises incorporated in 9 HWBATEARFBEFMK&INEE
the PRC. BOE .

(10) The subsidiaries are sino-foreign equity joint ventures incorporated in (100 ZMBAEARFEFMKZIAFINE
the PRC. BOE .

23. GOODWILL 23. BE
2022 2021
2022 2021 4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FET

COST 2%

At 1 April and 31 March M4A1BX3HA31H 3,232 3,232

IMPAIRMENTS: HAE :

At beginning of the reporting period R Bf 4] - -

Impairment loss BB E B 2,132 -

At end of the reporting period RS R 2,132 -

CARRYING AMOUNTS REE

At 1 April and 31 March R4A1HK3A31H 1,100 3,232

Shi Shi Services Limited
B B AR 35 5 PR 2 7




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(220229 3431 H i F/&

23. GOODWILL (continued)

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated,
at acquisition, to the cash-generating unit (“CGU”) that are
expected to benefit from that business combination. The
carrying amount of goodwill had been allocated as follows:

23. @& (&)

EBammERZEe RN BRI EE
BT ERNZEBEHNRSEL
BA(RELEM]) - BENKE
BoimT :

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHETT
Provision of property management REMEETERS
services
YSL YSL 785 785
Shi Shi Property (Cayman) Limited RREYE(F2)BRAA 315 2,447
1,100 3,232
Impairment testing of goodwill mERENR
Provision of property management services EBHRYEEERE

Goodwill of HK$785,000 and intangible assets (customer
contracts) of approximately HK$2,054,000 was acquired
through the business combination of Yorkshire Property
Management Limited (“YSL”) on 30 June 2016. Goodwill
of approximately HK$2,447,000 and intangible assets of
approximately HK$94,000 was acquired through acquisition
of Shi Shi Property (Cayman) Limited (“Shi Shi Property
Cayman”) on 29 March 2019. These goodwill and intangible
assets belong to the cash generating unit (“CGU”) of
provision of property management services. Goodwill is
tested annually for impairment. The recoverable amounts of
the CGU are determined on the basis of their value in use
using discounted cash flow method.

The recoverable amounts of the CGU are determined on
the basis of their value in use using discounted cash flow
method. The key assumptions for the discounted cash flow
method are those regarding the discount rates, growth rates
and budgeted gross margin and revenue during the period.
The Group estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that
reflect current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the CGU. The growth rates
are based on long-term average economic growth rate of
the geographical area in which the businesses of the CGU
operate. Budgeted gross margin and revenue are based on
past practices and expectations on market development.

EET785,0008 TR EREE (BFP
A 4Y) #72,054,0007 7T JhiE B 4 78,
EMEEBREBER2A(YSLD R
2016 F6 A30 A 2 ¥ KA HMmEA °
= 42 447 00078 7T M BB E X
94,0007 7T 7535 1@ 1A 20194F 3 A 29
AR RS (F2) AR AR ([
BERS)MBA ZERERE
FEEBNIREMEEERE 2B
EXBEN((ReEELEMN]) - M
FHeHmBEETRENR - ReE
HE ALz AT E SRR T IRF AR IRIR
CREFTEEFEREEZEEET -

ReELBUMRIKRE ST RMR
ARG REZANEEREEETE -/
BB REENEZREIEHARLIR
RBEER BEENERKRAGH -
AEEZRA AR B AT IS H T EE
AEENFERRSELEMFER
RE) LA L R A RAIR R - B R K
DR EEBNRERBEMAERR
MERFHEEERRREE - BE
EMERIRATI BT B R 5
BROFEHREE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # 2202293531 HIFF/E

23. GOODWILL (continued) 23. BHE (&)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)
Provision of property management services (continued)

The Group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the
most recent financial budgets approved by the directors for
the next five years. The recoverable amount of the relevant
assets has been determined based on a value in use
calculation using cash flow projections based on the financial
budgets approved by the management covering a 5 year
period. Key assumptions used by the management in the
value in use calculations of the cash-generating unit include
budgeted gross profit margin. The pre-tax discount rate used
for estimating the value in use for YSL is 19.00% (2021:
17.95%), and 22.30% (2021: 21.77%) for Shi Shi Property
Cayman Limited.

The assumptions have been determined based on past
performance and management’s expectations in respect of
the property management market in the Hong Kong and the
PRC.

The key parameters are revenue, gross profit margin,
administrative and operating expenses, and discount rate.

To ascertain the impact on the recoverable amount of the
CGUs upon deviation from its estimate, a sensitivity analysis
has been performed by taking into account the factor of
fluctuation in the gross profit margin and operating and
administrative expenses, which the directors assume would
be the most important factors to affect the recoverable
amounts of the CGUs.

For YSL, the impact of adverse changes in the above factors
(i.e. 10% decrease in profit margin and 10% increase in
operating and administrative expenses) on the recoverable
amounts of Yorkshire would be decrease by approximately
HK$2,025,000 and HK$3,929,000 and as at 31 March
2022 and 31 March 2021, respectively. In the base case
scenario, the recoverable amount would exceed the carrying
amount of the CGU by approximately HK$1,459,000 and
HK$3,419,000 as at 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2021,
respectively.

Shi Shi Services Limited
B B AR 35 5 PR 2 7

AR EH ()
ERYFEERE ()

AEBRAENESREFR D NIEK
THESHENAKRROEYHER
AR -HEEEMNASDEBEERE
EEHAENAFHMEREREN
ReneBRANEREBEFERE
EET TEERRSELEMER
BEAEMAIZBREBEREE
MZE-YSLERRDE (FE)BRA
Al B R ET 6 A B E &) B AT BL 3R R
7 Bl £ 19.00%(2021 4 : 17.95%) &
22.30%(2021 %F : 21.77%) °

EHEBRRCREBEBERRNEERY
REBRTEMEEETSNHEM

B -

TEZ2ERMNE  EME - TTHEL
L5 A M BRI K o

SEERBEEGFHReELEMA
WEeBEOFE BB REMNE
AR & RITRFA O EEEREL
BRESN  ERERRERZAERES
SRTVERTELEMAAI WO S5
MREBRE -

BYSLME - Bt A= F &8 (B
FEFIB A 10% LA B 48 & R 17 BB 2
EIN10%) AR ERM T KESRER
FEER2022F3 A31 B k2021 F
3 A31 8 % 5k 442,025,000 7% 7T
13,929,000/ 7T ° IR IEE AN KBS
5 N20229F3 A31H &202143
A318  AJlkEeEEsBaRE
2= A B (i BR E 1B 49 1,459,000 7% 7T &
3,419,000/ 7T °



23.

24.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(220229 3431 H i F/&

GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)
Provision of property management services (continued)

For Shi Shi Property Cayman, the impact of adverse changes
in the above factors (i.e. 10% decrease in profit margin and
10% increase in operating and administrative expenses) on
the recoverable amounts of Shi Shi Property Cayman would
be decrease of the recoverable amount by approximately
HK$5,273,000 and HK$5,440,000 as at 31 March
2022 and 31 March 2021, respectively. In the base case
scenario, the carrying amount would exceed the recoverable
amount of the CGU by approximately HK$2,132,000 as
at 31 March 2022 (2021: the recoverable amount would
exceed the carrying amount of the CGU by approximately
HK$8,989,000.) Goodwill impairment of approximately
HK$2,132,000 was recorded in the profit or loss for the year
ended 31 March 2022.

The sensitivity analysis would not cause the carrying amount
of the CGU to exceed its recoverable amount.

The management is not currently aware of any other probable
changes that would necessitate changes in its key estimates.

DEPOSITS PLACED FOR LIFE INSURANCE
POLICIES

23. @& (&)

AR ERH ()
ERYFEERE ()

REBYEREmME LAREN
AFEE) (BIEFR D 10% A K& &
AT 12 N 10% ) i 5 05 ¥ 3 59
EMA KRB EENTE AR RE
A5 202243 A31 H & 202143
A31H% 34 495,273,000 7t &
5,440,000 7T ° BIEEARRHIIGE
MR2022F3 A31H  BREEKBRBR
SEE BN A IRESEEL) 2,132,000 78
TL(2021F : A B e BB BIRE
B EMIRMEEX 8,989,000 L) °
HZE2022F3A31 HILFE » &R
E#92,132,000/8 L E5F A1B3E ©

BREIM KIS EKRREEEEN
MREEEBE MO SHE -

I8 B IR B 3 T A 4 T A
b RS ENAREE T B -

24. RABRBRREFANERS

2022 2021

2022 2021 %

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHExT FHTT

Deposits placed for life insurance policies #t A SRBREF AN RS 9,155 8,962

The Group can terminate the policies at any time and receive
cash refund based on the cash value of the policies at the
date of withdrawal, which is determined by the upfront
payment plus accumulated interest earned and minus the
expense charged at inception, the accumulated insurance
charge and policy expense charge. A surrender charge would
also be required if the withdrawal is made before the 15th
policy year.

RE B A PEA R IEZRE AR
BRRE AZREZRSEERER
IR W TIARBIEN FNFTHREX 2
RETN B R RER A Z
AXER R REMREZHMAX
MEETE ° W5 15 R B FE 2 AR
R BIMBEEZERTEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # 2202293531 HIFF/E

25. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets

25, BEEBEEE &6

AT RAREEANEIZRIERAR

recognised by the Group. BEREE -
Fair value
adjustment
arising from
Accelerated Decelerated Provisions husiness
tax depreciation  tax depreciation (note) combination Total
MEHE HEE BfE EBGHE:
il ik (i) WARERE &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL
At T April 2020 R2020F4A1H (101) 130 2,738 (108) 2,659
(Charge)/credit to profit or loss AER (BEZENK) /
for the year FTABR
- Origination and reversal of - EH Z B KE &
temporary differences e (655) - (138) 68 (725)
At 31 March 2021 and R2021F3A318 K
1 April 2021 202154418 (756) 130 2,600 (40) 1,934
Credit to profit o loss RERABR
for the year
- Origination and reversal of - & Z B AR
temporary differences B 209 - 14 16 239
At 31 March 2022 #2023 831H (547) 130 2,614 (24) 2173

Note: Provisions represent the temporary differences of provision for
certain expenses (including provisions for long service payments,
unrealised annual leaves and bonuses) made in the consolidated
financial statements of the Group which would only be allowed for tax
deduction when these expenses were actually paid.

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances
(after offset) for consolidated statement of financial position

Wi BERAEESAVBHRERNE TR
BE(BERRERGS  RERFHREE
RAICAT ) WERZR - HERERX
NZEFRRAEDNR -

AR A MR R M 5 AIELE R IR
R (EEER) 2T

pUrposes:
2022 2021
2022 & 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FETT
Deferred tax liabilities R IBEE (571) (40)
Deferred tax assets EEHIEEE 2,744 1,974
2,173 1,934

Shi Shi Services Limited
O) BEBRBERAT




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(220229 3431 H i F/&

26. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE

26. R—EBERRANRE

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FETT

Unlisted investment in Hong Kong REABZIELTRE
Share of net assets DIEEEFE 4,516 12,649
Goodwill EES 22,649 22,649
27,165 35,298
Less: impairment loss B REEE (20,928) (16,500)
6,237 18,798

Below is the information of the associate. The associate is
accounted for in the consolidated financial statements using

the equity method.

Principal place of
business/country of

AN RBERB2ER - 2B LR 7]
s BN AR B MR AR AR

% of ownership interests/voting

Name incorporation Principal activities rights held by the Company
TEEENY RAYNGIES 2 pod
=L BRI ACER TEXEB FERERS RAEAESL
2022 2021
2022 20214
Dakin Holding Inc. Hong Kong/BVI Provision of financial services 30%/30% 30%/30%

Dakin Holding Inc.

B/ RBRUMS

in Hong Kong

RABRM S B IR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # 2202293531 HIFF/E

26. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued)  26. A —RJB% A T W8 E ()

2022 2021
2022 & 2021 4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHETT
At 31 March: M3A31H:
Non-current assets ERBEE 22,333 35,184
Current assets MBEE 24,851 33,162
Non-current liabilities FERBEE (8,575) (8,057)
Current liabilities kIR (23,556) (18,125)
Net assets BEFE 15,053 42,164
Group’s share of net assets AEBSEEEFE 4,516 12,649
Goodwill [EES 22,649 22,649
Less: impairment B ORE (20,928) (16,500)
Group’s share of carrying amount of rEESEE=REE
interests 6,237 18,798
Year ended 31 March: BZ3ANHLEEE:
Revenue g 10,420 20,489
Loss for the year FREE (27,110) (17,100)
Total comprehensive loss THEEER (27,110) (17,100)
Dividend received from associate REEEARNERRE - -
Impairment review on investment in an associate R—EBERARNRENBESTZ
The Directors of the Company has engaged Jones Lang RARREECDEFHEEMGERM S5
LaSalle Corporate Appraisal and Advisory Limited, a T AL K5 A BR A B ¥ Dakin
professional valuer, to prepare a business valuation on the Holdings Inc. M B EETEH EHE °
value of Dakin Holdings Inc. Based on the result of the BEBEHENGER 82202293 A31
valuation, impairment of approximately HK$4,428,000 B IFF 5 B 815 5 (B 44,428,000 7%
was recorded for the year ended 31 March 2022 (For the T (EAZE2021F3A31BIEFE « 5t
year ended 31 March 2021: impairment of approximately REEREBE R RINRERRRBELD
HK$16,500,000 on the Group’s investment in an associate 16,500,000/ 7C) °

has been recognized).

Shi Shi Services Limited
B B AR 35 5 PR 2 7



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(220229 3431 H i F/&

27. PREPAYMENTS, TRADE AND OTHER 27. ANFIE - ES R HMEWRRK
RECEIVABLES b1 |
2022 2021
2022 2021 &
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Trade receivables (Note a) B 5 WA (Kita) 104,996 83,414
Less: Impairment on trade receivables & : B 5 & UL ZIE (B (2,230) -
102,766 83,414
Loan receivables (Note b) R E K (Hith) 24,000 18,000
Bond receivable (Note c) EWE % (B atc) 4,000 -
Prepayments, deposits and other FERREIE - e REMm
receivables (Note d) JEW IR (B 7t d) 38,736 87,996
169,502 189,410
Less: Prepayments-non-current (Note ¢) &, : 3EREN B FIB (H7atc) (4,500) (39,867)
Amounts shown as current assets PIVER B E EFE 165,002 149,543
Note a: The Group does not grant credit terms to its customers (2021: Wita AEBEBWEOEZFE FEEHR (2021
Nil).The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding FE) REBER D GERFERISIZEHHE
receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by the senior REENEWRFIE mREEERES
management and directors. T HR e @ B A B4 o
The aging analysis of trade receivables, based on the invoice date, ERERHHRINREEERE ZEK
and net of allowance, is as follows: EHHREDTOT
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHERT FHET
1 to 30 days 1£30H 39,913 36,917
31 to 60 days 31E60H 33,886 19,378
61 to 90 days 61%E90H 9,432 9,545
Over 90 days HBiE90 H 19,535 17,574
102,766 83,414
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # 2202293531 HIFF/E

27. PREPAYMENTS, TRADE AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

Note a: (continued)

Reconciliation of loss allowance for trade receivables:

27. NFRIE - EEZ REMEBUYR
5 (%)

Hita - (4&)

B 5 NGRS R B E R

2022 2021

2022 F 20214

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHExT FHET

At beginning of the reporting period R R & HIH - -
Allowance for the year FNEE 2,197 -
Exchange difference [E 5, =58 33 -
2,230 -

As of 31 March 2022, trade receivables of approximately
HK$102,766,000 (2021: HK$83,414,000) were past due but not
impaired. These relate to a number of independent customers for
whom there is no recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number
of customers that have good settlement records with the Group.
Based on past experience, the Directors are of the opinion that no
provision for impairment is necessary in respect of these balances
as there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the
balances are still considered fully recoverable.

The Group applies the simplified approach under HKFRS 9 to
provide for expected credit losses using the lifetime expected loss
provision for all trade receivables. To measure the expected credit
losses, trade receivables have been grouped based on shared credit
risk characteristics and the days past due. The expected credit
losses also incorporate forward looking information.

HZE2022943831H 5 EWK
18 49 102,766,000 7T (2021 4 :
83,414,000/ 70) B @ ERB I KA -
HESZWETHREOCENBYER
B

B8 BB R R (B M W R IR T B 2 45 B
SEBERENFCHENEFEM - RiE
BEEER EERRANEEERLE
EXREE)  HEWERDER R 2
WeEl - B R R % S A R AT SRR E B
& o

AEERBEEEVHRELENEIRZ
BHIERAE E SR AERA 24
T ERRHIHRASEERR - Bt
ERHBEEER BHREESRE
AZEERRESHIAHBHNE T8
HEEBRTESRELEESR -

Pass due within Over 30 days Over 60 days Over 90 days
30 days past due past due past due Total
BH0AA BEHEBIX AHEEOX AHLEBIOX CH
At 31 March 2022 R202253A31H
Expected loss rate BHERL® 0% 0% 0% 10%
Receivables amount (HK$'000) JENRIE (FA L) 39,913 33,886 9,432 21,765 104,996
Loss allowance (HK$'000) BERE(TAL) - - - 2,230 2230
At 31 March 2021 R2021£3831H
Expected loss rate BHEBELE 0% 0% 0% 0%
Receivables amount (HK$'000) FEYERIE (T ) 36,917 19,378 9,545 17,574 83,414
Loss allowance (HK$'000) BERE(TAL) - - - - -

Included in trade receivables were amounts of approximately
approximately HK$1,947,000 and HK$947,000 due from related
parties as at 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2021 respectively.

Shi Shi Services Limited
B B AR 35 5 PR 2 7

E 5 EWGIBRIED B 2022F 3 A
318202143 A31 B EWEE 2
FXIEHY 1,947 00078 7T K2 94700078 7T °



27. PREPAYMENTS, TRADE AND OTHER

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RECEIVABLES (continued)

Note b: The money lenders license was granted on 15 June 2017 and

Note c:

Note d-:

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # 2202243531 A1FF/E

27. NFRIE - EEZ REMEBUYR
5 (%)

Bisth - UE AR 2017 F 6 A 15 B R H K&

renewed annually. The Group’s latest money lenders license is valid
until 16 June 2022. The Group is in the process of renewing the
money lender license. As at 31 March 2022, the loan receivables
of HK$24,000,000 were granted to a director. (2021: Loans of
HK$18,000,000 were granted to independent third parties).

The loan receivables of HK$24,000,000 as at 31 March 2022
carry interest at 10% per annum and is secured by a first mortgage
and second mortgage on two private residential properties and car
park space in Hong Kong (As at 31 March 2021: Loan receivables
of HK$18,000,000 is secured by a second mortgage on a private
residential property in Hong Kong). The maturity date of the loan
receivables of HK$24,000,000 was 20 April 2022. The Group is has
entered into a renewal agreement with the borrower on 3 May 2022
and the renewed loan balance is HK$21,000,000.

For loan receivables, management has taken into accounts the
credit assessment on the borrowers and the pledged properties and
considered the expected credit loss rate is nil.

The bond represented a one-year 12% coupon bond. It is
unsecured and is redeemable in February 2023.

Details of the prepayments, deposits and other receivables are as

BEBE -FAEEZENREAMRE
MEAZE 20226 A16 A Ik - REEIE
FEEEME AR - 7202243 A31
H - FEWE 5% 24,000,000 % 7T J#% T —
ZE = (2021 FF - B 18,000,000 % 7T
TR TEMUE=TT) °

MN2022%€3A31R EHWER
24,000,000 7T 1% & | & 10% &t B I
NEBRELAFTENEREESE—
Hao M R ERIR (A 2021 F 3 A
31 H : fEYE X 18,000,000 8 7T LA — I8
ERLANEEMES —HLERR) -
FEUCE 7L 24,000,000 7T 2 f@ % A Hl A
2022F 4 208 - AN E E 522022 F
SASHBEERAGTLEE DS MK
1B HIE s £ 521,000,000 5 7T ©

MEWERNE BREEZEBERA
RERYENEEFNE  XRATEE
EEHELERRT -

Wic ZBEFRENELRYN—FHESE

% REEII R 2023F 2 AREED o

Wiztd - FARFIR - RE REAMERFRRF BN

follows: N

2022 2021
2022 2021 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FET
Prepayments BB 10,682 48,894
Deposits Biegoea 8,688 2,292
Other receivables (note i) H b U SRIE (7 1) 19,366 36,310
38,736 87,996
Less: Prepayments-non-current (note /) B IER BN TR FRIE (A i) (4,500) (39,867)
Amounts shown as current assets TERB)E E VB 34,236 48,129

Notes: Bie

(i) Other receivables mainly included amounts paid on behalf of
incorporated owners of buildings for property management
and government subsidies receivables.

(i) Hp R FIREEBERET
ZEITREENYEER
FRIA N R T 4 AL -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # 2202293531 HIFF/E

27. PREPAYMENTS, TRADE AND OTHER 27. ANRE - EZREMERR

RECEIVABLES (continued)

Note d: (continued)
Notes: (continued)

(i) Prepayments of approximately HK$4,500,000 as at 31
March 2022 classified as non-current assets represented
consideration prepaid for acquisition of 33% equity interests
in an associate. The acquisition was completed on 28 April
2022 (Note 43(a)).

Prepayments of approximately HK$39,867,000 as at 31
March 2021 (equivalent to approximately RMB36,000,000)
classified as non-current assets represented 80% deposit for
acquisition of a property in the PRC.

28. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

5 (%)
Aatd : ()
Hist : ()

(i) M202243A31 8 FEfHE
#74,500,000 8 T 08 AIERE
BE EARE—MBLEQA
33% B HERMTE KRB - 2 Uk EE
FIEE R 20224 4 A28 HFEAK
(MEr43(a)) °

2021563 A31 H » BfTHIE
#)39,867,0007% 7T (16 & M4
A #36,000,0007T) 5 &
ERBEE  EARTENE
—BEWERBO%EE -

28. BIKIHBITER

2022 2021

2022 F 2021 4

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHExT FHETT

Pledged bank deposits EHEBIEITER 574 574

The Group’s pledged bank deposits represented deposits
pledged to banks to secure banking facilities granted to the
Group as set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements. The pledged bank deposits are denominated in
HK$ and are made for varying periods of between one day
and one year depending on the immediate cash requirement
of the Group and earn interest at the respective short-term
time deposit rates. The bank balances and pledged deposits
are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history
of default. The annual interest rate of 0.01% to 0.25%
(2021: 0.01% t0 0.25%) as at 31 March 2022.

Shi Shi Services Limited
B B AR 35 5 PR 2 7

AEEZEEBBRITFERIELRSH
BHRERMEIAMBEEB T IRITTZ
T ERAEEERIEITRHERNIK
o BIRIFIRITFE B TATE - H
RE—BZ—F1% BT EEZ
BB HFRME HEBEHTEH
GFERFERTE - RITEBRMEBRFF
REEEOBTEGERZEE  EE2R
47 7 8817 o WA 2022 3 A 31 HEYEF|
R A50.01% % 0.25% (2021 F : 0.01%
Z0.25%) °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(220229 3431 H i F/&

29. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

30.

20. RERBEEEY

2022 2021

2022 £ 2021 4F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FETT

Cash on hand FHERE 331 1,594
Bank balances IRIT4E 8 67,365 103,734
67,696 105,328

The cash and bank balances are denominated in HK$ and
RMB.

As at 31 March 2022, the bank and cash balances of the
Group denominated in RMB amount to HK$13,785,000
(2021: HK$17,329,000). Conversion of RMB into foreign
currencies is subject to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control

Re RIRITHEBRAB TR AREHE -

MN2022E3 A3l H  REBUARK
SHEMIRTT MR 845 13,785,000
77T (2021 4F 17,329,000 7T) ° A
R W B INE 2R BISNE B RIER

Regulation. HYARPR o

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 30. EZ R HEHMEMKE
2022 2021
2022 F 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTEx FHETT
Trade payables 2 5N RIE 2,521 2,542
Building management deposits received & WiEFEIRIZ S 6,192 5,020
Accruals and other payables FEETIRE A N H 4th FE 1~ 5RIB 62,414 72,597
71,127 80,159
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # 2202293531 HIFF/E

30. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

The aging analysis of trade payables, based on the invoice

date, is as follows:

30. B 5 R EAMENKE (&)

B 5 8 SE IR = A B E R T
M

2022 2021

2022 F 20214

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTERT TET

1 to 30 days 1230H 1,298 1,297
31 to 60 days 31&60H 1,223 1,236
61 to 90 days 612=90H - 9
2,521 2,542

Details of the accruals and other payables are as follows:

FERTIRE A R B FE FRFF BT -

2022 2021

2022 F 2021 4

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Accrued staff cost and staff benefits JEEHIR B TR AN 8 T 48 F 32,562 33,569
Accrued expenses JEET IR 4,379 15,804
Other payables (note) H fth f& < 538 (MY 22) 25,473 23,224
62,414 72,597

Note: Included in other payable were amount of approximately HK$54,000
and approximately HK$52,000 and due to related parties as at 31
March 2022 and 31 March 2021 respectively.

Shi Shi Services Limited
B B AR 35 5 PR 2 7

Wiz - BN FRIAR 202243 4310 &
2021 F3 A31 H A BB & FET B EE 75
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(220229 3431 H i F/&

. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 31. AR
Disclosures of revenue-related items: W +ERATE B #1555 ¢
2022 2021
2022 F 2021
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FETT
Contract liabilities aHaE 6,227 3,189

Contract receivables (included in trade JEWAXIE (St AE 5

receivables) U TR IE) 102,766 83,414
Transaction prices allocated to performance obligations RGEBEDPMBERERHKRENZE
unsatisfied at end of the year and expected to be recognised WEE - WIBFTER A THRER A
as revenue in: s

2022 2021
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FHTT
— year ended 31 March 2022 —HZE2022F3 A31BItFE - 3,148
— year ended 31 March 2023 —E E2023F3A31HIEFE 5,314 41
— year ended 31 March 2024 —EZE2024F3A31BILtFE 913 —
6,227 3,189
Significant changes in contract liabilities during the year: BHBERFANEREE :
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FETT
Increased due to operations in the year 45 R [Al Z 75 &8 B UL N 15,274 8,360
Transfer of contract liabilities to revenue  EEA X BEE W (12,410) (9,473)
Exchange realignment b 5, 5 B 174 298
Included in contract liabilities were amounts of approximately BHBEEBRESRIN2022F3 H31H
HK$Nil and approximately HK$87,000 as at 31 March 2022 N2021 %3 A31 B2 RBHUEB TR
and 31 March 2021 respectively, which represented contract #187,0008 7T (K Th B —H Bl 75 2
liabilities with a related party. BHEE) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRRMTE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # 2202293531 HIFF/E

31. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued) 31. eHNaE(E)
A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to BHEBEEASERKREFRE (3
transfer products or services to a customer for which ERERESRE) MAEEE MR
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of BTRPZEMF-

32.

consideration is due) from the customer.

BANK BORROWINGS - SECURED 32. RITEE-—HEH
2022 2021
2022 & 2021 %
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FETT
Bank loans, secured IRITER - BiH 9,000 5,354
The borrowings are repayable as follows: JEEZEEELT :
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHETT
On demand or within one year BREXRFIN—FNA 9,000 5,354
Less: Amount due for settlement within ~ J& : 7 1218 A W E| 81 X 1~ #9
12 months (shown under current HBE G AERBEE)
liabilities) (9,000) (5,354)
Amount due for settlement after 1218 A & B BAZ S My g8
12 months - -
The interest rates per annum at 31 March were as follows: MIA3IBAMERRET -
2022 2021
2022 & 2021 4
Bank loans, secured IRITE - B 3.51% 3.51%
As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, borrowings of the Group R2022F M 20213 A31H » K&
were denominated in HK$. BEEAETTLYIE -

Shi Shi Services Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(220229 3431 H i F/&

32. BANK BORROWINGS - SECURED (continued)

The Group’s banking facilities were secured by:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(g)

Pledge of deposits placed for life insurance (note 24);

Pledge of the Group’s fixed bank deposits (note 28);

Unlimited guarantee by related companies (note 41);

Joint and several unlimited personal guarantees by a
director of the Company and a director of a subsidiary
(note 41);

Various counter indemnities for issuance of
performance bonds;

Pledge of property, plant and equipment (note 18); and

Pledge of investment property (note 19).

As at 31 March 2022, banking facilities granted to the Group
are approximately HK$39.0 million (2021: approximately
HK$54.0 million)

As at 31 March 2022, approximately HK$11.0 million (2021:
HK$6.7 million) of the banking facilities have been utilised by
the Group.

32. RITEE-HER (F)

AEBRVIRTTRYE i N5 B IRMEIIR -

(a)

(8

EHEBASRBREANKZE (K
T24)

EHAEE R FEHRITT R (B
s¥28)

B8 E N A AR R E R (R
41) :

ARB—BREENMBAR %
B HRF N @R ERAREAE
R (M47E41) :

RELBORBSFELZERE
EIREE

HRWE R Kzt (M 18)
IS4

HRREME (HE19) -

M2022F3 A31H ' BFAEERIER
1TREE #93,900& /8 7T (20214 : 4y
54008 & 7T) °

MR20224E3 318 » 41,1008 /& 7T
(20214 : 670 8B L) NIRTTRED
EREEEMA -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # 2202293531 HIFF/E

33. LEASE LIABILITIES

33. HEEE

Minimum lease payments

Present value of
minimum lease payments

REHANTR RERANSRRE
As at As at As at As at
31 March 1 April 31 March 1 April
2022 2021 2022 2021
2022 F 72021 F A 2022 F #2021 F
3H31H 4A41H 3H31H 4A1H
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET FHERT FAET
Within one year —&FR 3,526 4,743 3,094 4,184
In the second to fifth years, HE_FEZFRF
inclusive (PREEME) 7,349 9,858 7,017 9,138
10,875 14,601 10,111 13,322
Less: Future finance charge  J& : KRR E X (765) (1,279)
Present value of lease HERERE
obligations 10,110 13,322
Less: Amount due for 1218 A W EIE
settlement within 12 S ATH) FOR
months (shown under GlErRBaRE)
current liabilities) (3,094) (4,184)
Amount due for settlement 1218 A 1% 2| {1+ #9
after 12 months 8 7,017 9,138

Shi Shi Services Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # 2202243531 A1FF/E

34. SHARE CAPITAL 34. A
Number of
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each shares HK$’000
BREEI B THEAER K5 EE FE&T
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each FREEOCOLB LA E B
At 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021 and R2020F4H1H -
31 March 2022 20213 A31B K
202293 A31H 5,000,000,000 50,000
Issued and fully paid: ERITRHE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each SRREEO0.0LE TR EE
At 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021 and R2020F4 A 1H -
1 April 2021 20213 A31H K
20214 R31H 1,026,351,515 10,264
Issuance of award shares (Note) BITRER D (H3F) 102,635,150 1,026
At 31 March 2022 R20224F3 A31H 1,128,986,665 11,290

Note:

On 11 January 2022, the Board approved the grant of award of a total of
102,635,150 awarded shares under the Share Award Plan. For details refer
to note 35 and the Company’s announcements on 6 August 2021 and 11
January 2022.

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern and to maximise the return to the
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion to risk. The Group
manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light
of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the
underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the payment of dividends, issue new shares, buy-back
shares, raise new debts, redeem existing debts or sell assets to reduce
debts.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the debt-to-adjusted capital ratio.
This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by adjusted capital. Net debt is
calculated as total debts less cash and cash equivalents. Adjusted capital
comprises all components of equity (i.e. share capital, share premium,
retained profits and other reserves).

Wi -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # 2202293531 HIFF/E

35. SHARE AWARD SCHEME 35. R Bt &l

On 6 August 2021, the Directors approved the adoption of a
share award plan (the “Share Award Plan”).

Purposes of the Share Award Plan

The purpose of the Share Award Plan are to recognise and
reward the contribution of Eligible Participants (as defined
below) to the growth and development of the Group, to give
incentives to Eligible Participants in order to retain them for
the continual operation and development of the Group and
to attract suitable personnel for further development of the
Group.

Administration

The Share Award Plan shall be subject to the administration
of the board of directors of the Company and the trustee in
accordance with the terms of the Share Award Plan and the
terms of the trust deed. The trustee shall hold the trust fund
in accordance with the terms of the trust deed.

Eligibility

Under the rules constituting the Share Award Plan, the
following classes of participants (excluding the excluded
participants) (the “Eligible Participants”) are eligible for
participation in the Share Award Plan:

(a) any employee (whether full time or part time, including
any executive director but excluding any non-executive
director, and including any person who has entered
into an employment contract with the Group, provided
that the commencement date of his tenure under the
employment contract shall fall on a date before the
Vesting Date and such employment contract shall
remain valid and subsisting up to and including the
vesting date, and provided that such person shall not
be regarded as Eligible Employee if he dies before
the commencement date of this tenure under the
employment contract) of the Company, any subsidiary
or any any entity in which any member of the Group
holds any equity interest (“Invested Entity”);

(b) any non-executive directors (including independent
non-executive directors) of the Company, any
Subsidiary or any Invested Entity;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(220229 3431 H i F/&

35. SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued)

Eligibility (continued)

(c)

(d)

(f)

(g

(h)

any supplier or vendors of goods or services to any
member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

any customer of any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity;

any person or entity that provides research,
development or other technological support to any
member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

any shareholder of any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity or any holder of any securities issued by
any member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to
any area of business or business development of any
member of the Group or any Invested Entity; and

any other group or classes of participants who have
contributed or may contribute by way of joint venture,
business alliance or other business arrangement to
the development and growth of the Group, and, for the
purposes of the Plan, the Award may be made to any
company wholly-owned by one or more of the above
participants.

Term

Subject to early termination by the Board, the Share Award
Plan shall be valid and effective for a term of ten (10) years
commencing from the adoption date. The total maximum
number of Shares which may be awarded under the Plan
must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the shares in issue as
at the adoption date or the date of approval of any refreshed
limit, if any.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # 2202293531 HIFF/E

35. SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued) 35. R BB (&)

Grant of Award Shares

On 11 January 2022, the board approved the grant of award
of a total of 102,635,150 awarded shares to 10 selected
participants under the Share Award Plan.

Details of Awarded Shares granted by the Company pursuant
to the Share Award Plan during the year ended 31 March
2022 are as follows:

BETRBRH

R2022F 1A 118  EEeiERE
I EB T2 A 0B IRFLBERT
£ 4£102,635,150 L EZENAR 1D 2 228 -

HE2022F3A31RILEE  AAF]
BRI R 0 2B T B3R T BB AR (0 AU &
BT

At 31 March

Granted Vested Forfeited 2022
120225

ERT EEE gRk 3F31A

At 1 April

Grant date Fair value per share (HKS) ~ Vesting date 2021

R2021 5

RFAH SRAAE(BR) GERE 481H

11 January 2022 0112 11 January 2023 -
ANEF1A11H 0112 ARBE1A11H

102,635,150 - - 102,635,150

The fair value of the Awarded Shares was calculated
based on the closing price of the Company’s shares at the
respective grant date.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the fair value of the
Awarded Shares granted was approximately HK$11,495,000
and the Group recognised share-based payments expenses
of approximately HK$2,519,000. No awarded share is vested
by the Selected Participants during the year ended 31 March
2022.

Lapse of Awards and returned shares

In the event that any Selected Participant who is an eligible
employee ceases to be an eligible employee, the Award shall
automatically lapse forthwith and all the Awards Shares and
other distributions attributable thereto shall not vest on the
relevant vesting date but shall become returned shares for
the purposes of the plan.

Shi Shi Services Limited
B B AR 35 5 PR 2 7

BEROORAARBEIREBERRRINE
% T B Ha Ry e W ERE -

HE2022F3A31BILEE 2FF
HEEN IR 19 B9 A S (B 49 A 11,495,000 74
7T BAREBRER RN XM HFRIE
Fi 2 #72,519,000/8 7T - #H &= 2022 F 3
ABlHILFE  BTFL2uaEHERS
REIARD ©

RBRBRBRERS

HIEFBRERREE ZEESLREDS
BRAEREER  HESANKEEX
M F A R A Ko KL e B A D R
TEREEEBRHERE - REat
FMERARERD



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

36. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 36. e H&RE R

OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(220229 3431 H i F/&

Change in liabilities arising from financing activities REMETE2EERH
The following table shows the Group’s changes in liabilities TREINAEEFAREBEETB 2
arising from financing activities during the year: BES
Bank Total
horrowings liabilities from
other than financing
bank overdrafts Lease liabilities activities
RITEE
(BRITEX METE
BRIM) HESE BELAE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
At 1 April 2020 R2020F 4 H1H 9,128 6,491 15,619
Changes in cash flows ReEnEd (9,128) (4,647) (13,775)
Non-cash changes FEEEH
— addition -NE 5,354 12,530 17,884
— termination of lease ~ I E - (1,052) (1,052)
At 31 March 2021 R2021F3 A31H 5,354 13,322 18,676
Changes in cash flows HWeRhEE 3,646 (4,474) (828)
Non-cash changes R H
— addition -NE - 1,263 1,263
At 31 March 2022 202243 A31H 9,000 10,111 19,111
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # 2202293531 HIFF/E

37. RESERVES

(@

(b)

()

Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and movements
therein are presented in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

37. ##E

(GY)

HEH

AEBRFENSENMEZEELR
B8R M 2 U e R A KA
ERmEHRANZT -

Company (b) AT
The amounts of the Company’s reserves and the KANBREZE202293 A31H
movements therein for the year ended 31 March 2022 LtFENREBEREZEHN
are as follows: T
Share  Contributed Other Accumulated
premium surplus reserve losses Total
BROBE BARK HtEE RIER &5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAET TAT TAET TAT
At 1 April 2020 R2020F4 A 1H 179,975 4750 - (25,136) 159,589
Total comprehensive loss ~ FRZ EE 1R
for the year k] - - - (8,328) (8,328)
At 31 March 2021 and M20213A31H
1 April 2021 K2021F4A1H 179,975 4,750 - (33,464) 151,261
Issuance of award shares 17 B (H - - (1,026) - (1,026)
Total comprehensive FRNEARXBE
expense for the year - - - (6,776) (6,776)
At 31 March 2022 R2022F3A31H 179,975 4,750 (1,026) (40,240) 143,459
Nature and purpose of reserves (c) RENAMHERRE

(i)  Share premium account

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands,
the funds in the share premium account of the
Company are distributable to the shareholders of
the Company provided that immediately following
the date on which the dividend is proposed to be
distributed, the Company will be in a position to
pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary
course of business.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(220229 3431 H i F/&

37. RESERVES (continued)

(c)
(i)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)

Merger reserve

The merger reserve represents the aggregated
amounts of issued capital of KSG, KSU, K-King
and Q&V as at 31 March 2013, the date on which
the aggregated issued capital was reallocated to
merger reserve after the Group’s reorganisation for
the purpose of the listing of the Company’s shares
on the GEM of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited.

Share-based payment reserve

The share-based payment reserve represents the
fair value of the unvested Award Shares granted
to Eligible Participants recognised in accordance
with the accounting policy adopted for equity-
settled share-based payments in note 3(v) to the
financial statements.

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus of the Company arose as
a result of the Group reorganisation implemented
in preparation for the listing of the Company’s
shares on the GEM of the Stock Exchange and
represented the excess of the then consolidated
net assets of the subsidiaries acquired, over the
nominal value of the share capital of the Company
issued in exchange therefore.

Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve
comprises all foreign exchange differences arising
from the translation of the financial statements
of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policies set out in
note 3(d) to the consolidated financial statements.

37. f## (&)

(c)
(i)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

RENEERRE (8)

=N b

AU mEIER 201343 A
31 HKSG - BREEAE - HS
MGEREZERITRAZES
B AR RN N E B
BRZMAARARGEM E
mimE @ RZA D ETRA
RENARBECEHKEE
MOBERFHE -

R G X 895 B 1od 1

PABS A7 32 5 O SRR et 1 AR
R B 6 R MY R 3(v) BLAKE
a5 A B AR 7 ST S B0 SRR BR
MRS TR THER R T A
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BAZ e
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P £ 17 B 32 BT GEM i 2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # 2202293531 HIFF/E

38. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(@

(b)

Performance bond and incorporated owners’ fund

Performance bond has been issued by a bank and an
insurance company as the Group maintains certain
incorporated owners’ funds in the form of client
accounts which were held on trust for and on behalf
of the incorporated owners. These client accounts are
not recognised as assets and associated liabilities in
the financial statements of the Group. At the end of
reporting period, the directors of the Company do not
consider it probable that a claim on the performance
bonds will be made against the Group.

As at 31 March 2022, the amount of outstanding
performance bond was approximately HK$16.4 million
(2021: HK$15.7 million).

As at 31 March 2022, the aggregate amount of the
bank balances in the client accounts not dealt with
in the consolidated financial statements of the Group
is approximately HK$50.8 million (2021: HK$46.8
million).

Legal cases

In carrying out the ordinary course of business,
the Group is subject to the risk of being named as
defendant in legal actions, claims and disputes in
connection with its business activities. The nature of the
legal proceedings initiated against the Group generally
include (i) claims for employees’ compensation by
the Group’s employees; (ii) claims for personal injury
caused by the negligence of the Group and owners’
corporations of the properties by passersby, residents
or other users of the respective properties; (iii) claims
for property damage or economic loss caused by the
negligence of the Group and owners’ corporations of the
properties by residents or other users of the respective
properties; and (iv) claims for property damage caused
by the negligence of individual flat owners by other
residents or users of the respective properties. The
Group maintains insurance cover and, in the opinion
of the directors of the Company, based on current
evidence, any such existing claims have no material
financial impact to the Group as at 31 March 2022.
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39.

40.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(220229 3431 H i F/&

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group’s capital commitments at the end of the reporting
period are as follows:

39. EARAIE

REERHRE PR E AR AT

2022 2021
2022 2021 %
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Property, plant and equipment Y - BB M
— Contracted but not provided for - ERNBRIERE 5,438 15,093
LEASE COMMITMENTS 40. AN ALE
Commitments under operating leases REHENETAIE

As lessor

The Group leases out certain of its investment property.
At the end of reporting period, the future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable leases are receivables as
follows:

1ERHBEA

AEELBHEE TREYE - RMRE
HIR - Al BGHAE 418 T B UK 2R
REBONFMT

2022 2021

2022 £ 2021 4F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHETT

Within one year —F R 1,125 650
In the second to fifth years, inclusive F_HFEERLF (BRERMT) 360 210
1,485 860

Operating lease income represent rentals receivables by the
Group for its investment property. Leases are negotiated for
terms of 2 years and rentals are fixed over the lease terms
and do not include contingent rentals.

RERHBAERNEEREREDE
R HE - EHAOMSME - M
HEHARE [EE L TABREHIA
B -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # 2202293531 HIFF/E

41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@) Related party transactions

In addition to those related party transactions and
balances disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated
financial statements, the Group had the following
transactions with its related parties during the year:

M. BEAERS
(@ BBAEXSB
BRERA BB REH B FTHE

BB T R 5 MAERRIN  AERER
FREEBHITETATRS

2022 2021
2022 & 2021 4%
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FETT
(i) Interestincome from loans to the (i) == ({A]fERfE4) B
Director, Mr. Ho Ying Choi Z F BUA 2,262 -
(i) Property management service fee (i) BEE R RIWELZ W%
received from related company EERBKE
- BAMEFR AR - B4 MEFR AR 640 879
(iii) Compensation paid to director (i) DR EEEE 5,816 4,101

At 31 March 2022 and 2021, Mr. Ho Ying Choi, a
director of the Company and Mr. Ho Ying Cheung,
a director of KSU, had provided joint and several
unlimited personal guarantees in favour of banking
facilities granted to certain subsidiaries within the Group
(Note 32).

18 4 #b & A R A &) is incorporated in the PRC and
indirectly wholly-owned by Mr. Huang Liming (“Mr.
Huang”), the chairman of the board of director of
the Company, an executive director and a controlling
shareholder of the Company. During the year ended
31 March 2020, the Company and 18 £ #th & B R A
Al entered into a property management framework
agreement (the “Framework Agreement”). The property
management service fee received from 18 4 i E B
[R 72 B] during the year were under this Framework
Agreement.

(b) Key management personnel remuneration
Members of key management personnel during the

year comprised only of the directors of the company
whose remuneration is set out in note 13.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(220229 3431 H i F/&

42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

42. KRR B IR &R

THE COMPANY
2022 2021
2022 & 2021 %
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FETT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - BWENE&E 1 -
Investments in subsidiaries LEK B AT 13,144 13,144
Loan to a subsidiary ERFT—HEKEB AR 15,000 15,000
28,155 08 144
CURRENT ASSETS HEEE
Prepayments, deposits and other FENFIE ZER
receivables H b fE W R IB 356 349
Amounts due from subsidiaries JFE U B B N B FRIE 142,326 99,325
Cash and cash equivalents RekREeEED 6,503 35,602
149,185 135,276
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Accruals and other payables FEETRE A I A b FE 1~ /I8 1,095 1,095
Amounts due to subsidiaries FET BT B A RIF B 21,496 800
22,591 1,895
NET CURRENT ASSETS MEBEEFE 126,594 133,381
TOTAL ASSETS LESS HWEERRBERS
CURRENT LIABILITIES 154,749 161,525
NET ASSETS EEEE 154,749 161,525
EQUITY e
Share capital &% 72 11,290 10,264
Reserves (ke 143,459 151,261
TOTAL EQUITY EEEE 154,749 161,525
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # 2202293531 HIFF/E

43. EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

44.

(@

(b)

Acquisition of an associate

On 15 March 2022, Lucky Stone Investments Limited,
a subsidiary of the Company, entered into a sale
and purchase agreement with an independent third
party for acquisition of 33% issued shares of Sky Asia
Construction Engineering Limited (“Sky Asia”) at a
consideration of HK$4,500,000 to be satisfied by cash
(the “Acquisition”).

The Acquisition was completed on 28 April 2022.
Following the completion, the Company is holding
33% of the equity interest in Sky Asia and Sky Asia has
become an associate of the Group and the investment
of the Group will be classified as investment in an
associate.

Provision of loan

On 3 May 2022, Lucky Stone Finance Limited, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into
a loan agreement with Mr. Ho Ying Choi (“Mr. Ho"), an
executive Director of the Company, pursuant to which
Lucky Stone Finance Limited has conditionally agreed
to provide the Loan in the principal amount of HK$21
million to Mr. Ho, as borrower, for a period of one year
commencing from the date of drawdown of the loan at
an interest rate of 10% per annum.

The loan agreement was approved by the Company’s
shareholders in the extraordinary general meeting held
on 9 June 2022.

APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

These consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 June
2022.
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
HFMBHE

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of T3 ARNEBRBETREATKRFEE 2 £4E
the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from UREERBEHEZ  HHEEECTES
the published audited financial statements and reclassified as &EEXFERER N L@ S HINAEFH D
appropriate, is set out below. ¥ o

RESULTS xE

For the years ended 31 March
BZ3A3HLEE
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
2022%F 20216 2020 2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TET TET FET

Revenue Wz 524,951 511,116 487,395 425,661 412,271
Cost of services PR 7% A AR (424,665) (402,478) (376,495) (322,013) (317,872)
Gross profit EF 100,286 108,638 110,900 103,648 94,399
Interest revenue MEM S 458 1,006 568 3,400 1,997
Other income and expenses, net  E AU A K 5 3 558 3,280 20,519 (1,100) 26,729 6,387
Share of (loss)/profit of an FE{G— R = A

associate (B18) /&H (8,133) (5,130) (1,320) 5,249 4,999
Administrative expenses THFEX (70,377) (62,287) (54,358) (52,198) (49,983)
Other operating expenses HEmEERY (32,437) (22,377) (19,040) (21,030) (18,144)
Impairment of investment inan A —E# & A 7]

associate RERRE (4,428) (16,500) - - -
Impairment of property, plant and %1% - & Kk & & E

equipment (7,049) - - - -
Impairment of goodwill BERE (2,132) - - - -
Impairment of trade receivables & 5 JEWF A E (2,197) - - - -
Listing expenses EmAx (941) (2,893) (11,367) - -
Finance costs RMEMA (664) (581) (1,018) (565) (1,329)
Profit hefore taxation BRETAT R A (24,334) 20,395 23,265 65,233 38,326
Income tax expense FIEHRY (1,615) (4,541) (9,065) (7,853) (7,363)
Net profit for the year ERENFE (25,949) 15,854 14,200 57,380 30,963
Other comprehensive Hih2EKE

income/(expense), net of tax (B8%)  HIBRBIE
Exchange differences on BEBNEBFEEL

translation of foreign operations [ 5 Z & 2,848 5,183 (4,505) 637 173

Gain/(loss) on reclassification of A3t 85— FT B2 AR
translation reserve to profit to KHRERBENHE

loss upon deregistration of a ZBR@WE/

subsidiary (B8) - (3) - - -
Gain/(loss) on equity investment A EF AEMEE

at fair value through other Wam e RERE 2

comprehensive income Wi/ (B18) - - - 10 -

Other comprehensive income/  FREMEE
(expense) for the year Wz (A%) 2,848 5,180 (4,505) 647 173

Total comprehensive income/ ﬁg%m%—é/ (FA%)

(expense) for the year (23,101) 21,034 9,695 58,027 31,136

Annual Report 2021/22
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
hFMBHE

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

EERAE

As at 31 March

W3AB31H

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

2022 2021 F 2020 F 20194 2018 F

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TER THET TET TER TET

Total assets BEBE 397,785 422 644 393,590 378,716 272,458

Total liabilities BERE (99,396) (103,673) (94,768) (89,589) (76,381)

Net assets EEFE 298,389 318971 298,822 289,127 196,077
Equity attributable to owners ENNEIE 2PN

of the Company Ba 298,389 318971 297,961 288,226 192,754

Non-controlling interests FER S - - 861 901 3,323

298,389 318971 298,822 289,127 196,077

Shi Shi Services Limited
B B AR 35 5 PR 2 7



shishi

Shi Shi Services Limited
BREREERAF

Unit 903, 9 Floor, Haleson Building,

1 Jubilee Street, Central, Hong Kong
BEEPREENE1REAARNENEI03E
Tel EEEBRM : (852) 2155 4112

Fax fEESHIS @ (852) 2155 4114
Email & : ir@shishiservices.com.hk

www.shishiservices.com.hk
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